
 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 

CABINET 
 

will meet on 

 
THURSDAY, 27TH MAY, 2021 

 
At 7.00 pm 

 
GREY ROOM - YORK HOUSE,  WINDSOR 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF CABINET 
 
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council and Chairman of Cabinet, Business, Economic 
Development and Property  
  
Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the Council, Corporate & Resident Services, Culture 
& Heritage, and Windsor 
  
Councillor Carroll, Deputy Chairman of Cabinet, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, 
Health and Mental Health  
  
Councillor Cannon, Public Protection and Parking  
  
Councillor Clark, Transport, Infrastructure, and Digital Connectivity 
  
Councillor Coppinger, Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead  
 
Councillor Hilton, Finance and Ascot  
  
Councillor McWilliams, Housing, Sport & Leisure, and Community Engagement 
  
Councillor Stimson, Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside 

 
Karen Shepherd – Head of Governance - Issued: Wednesday, 19 May 2021 

 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator David Cook 01628 796560 

 
Recording of Meetings – Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the 

building quickly and calmly by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  DO 
not re-enter the building until told to do so by a member of staff.  
  
Recording of Meetings – Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings may be undertaken by any 
person attending the meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video 
recorded and that this recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, 
please speak to the Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting.  The meeting is streamed on YouTube 

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence 

  

- 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To receive any declarations of interest 

  

5 - 6 
 

3.   MINUTES 
 
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 29 April 2021. 

  

7 - 16 
 

4.   APPOINTMENTS 
 
 

- 
 

5.   FORWARD PLAN 
 
To consider the Forward Plan for the period June 2021 to September 2021. 

  

17 - 24 
 

6.   YOUTH COUNCIL WORKING GROUP UPDATE 
 
 

25 - 34 
 

7.   CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS 
 
 

- 
 

 Planning, Environmental Services, and Maidenhead 

 
 

 
 i. Borough Local Plan - Next Steps  

 
35 - 42 

 
 Finance and Ascot 

 
 

 
 ii. 2020/21 Draft Outturn Report - Revenue and Capital  

 
43 - 100 

 
 Planning, Environmental Services, and Maidenhead 

 
 

 
 iii. Maidenhead Vision Charter  

 
101 - 194 
 

8.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
To consider passing the following resolution:- 
 

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion takes place 
on item 9 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1-7 of part I of Schedule 12A of the Act" 

  

- 
 



 

 

 

 
PART II 

 
 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
 

9.   CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS 
 
 

 
 

 Finance and Ascot 

 
 

 
 i. Council Funding For Local Organisations 2021/22  

 
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

195 - 206 

 Deputy Leader of the Council, Corporate & Resident Services, Culture & 
Heritage, and Windsor 

 

 
 

 ii. Provision Of Legal Services  
 
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 
 
Details of representations received on reports listed above for  
discussion in the Private Meeting: None received 

207 - 214 

 
 



 

 

 

 



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 29 APRIL 2021 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Andrew Johnson (Chairman), Stuart Carroll (Vice-Chairman), 
David Cannon, David Coppinger, Samantha Rayner, David Hilton, Gerry Clark, 
Donna Stimson and Ross McWilliams 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Christine Bateson, Councillor Gurch Singh, Councillor 
Helen Taylor, Councillor Mandy Brar, Councillor John Bowden,  Councillor Gurpreet 
Bhangra, Councillor John Baldwin, Councillor C Da Costa, Councillor W Da Costa, 
Councillor Ewan Larcombe, Councillor Amy Tisi, Councillor Karen Davies, Councillor 
Neil Knowles, Councillor Helen Price and Barbara Richardson (RBWM Property 
Compan 
 
Officers: Duncan Sharkey, Emma Duncan, Adele Taylor, Andrew Durrant, Tracey 
Hendren, Greg Nelson, Andrew Vallance, Hilary Hall, Kevin McDaniel, Nikki Craig, 
Mark Beeley, Louisa Dean, Simon Dale and David Cook.  
 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
None received. 

 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received.  

 
MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2021 
were approved. 

 
APPOINTMENTS  
 
None 

 
FORWARD PLAN  
 
Cabinet considered the contents of the Forward Plan for the next four months and noted the 
changes made since last published, including: 
 

 RBWM Enforcement & Prosecution Policy 2021 to April 2021, Cabinet decision no 
longer required as going to Council. 

 Council Funding for local organisations added to May Cabinet. 

 Council cleaning contract added to July Cabinet.  

 
CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS  
 

D) HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY  
 
Cabinet considered the report regarding the proposed changes to the Home to School 
Transport Policy from 1st September 2021. 
 

7

Agenda Item 3



The Deputy Chairman of Cabinet, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Health and Mental 
Health informed Cabinet that in keeping with national policy we wished to encourage pupils to 
engage in active travel to school such as walking or cycling, accompanied as appropriate.  
School travel plans, which are managed by the schools, help to encourage, and develop 
alternative travel options such as active travel and raise awareness about travel issues such 
as air pollution and road safety. 
 
He highlighted section 2.2 of the report that mentioned that the council was required to provide 
free home to school transport where a child meets certain eligibility criteria.  These criteria 
were set out in table 1 and form the basis of the statutory elements of the policy.  
 
Cabinet were also informed that the council encouraged, enabled and assist young people of 
sixth form age and above to undertake education and training and to this end they went above 
what was above the statutory requirements.   
 
Consulted with parents, schools, stakeholders, and other interested parties had been 
undertaken.  The feedback had been considered in the recommended options set out in table 
3. 
 
The Director of Children’s Services informed that table one showed the statutory criteria for 
home to school transport.  The distance criteria is the most common question we get from 
residents, up to the age of eight attending primary school the safe walking distance was 2 
miles and 3 miles after 8 accompanied by an appropriate adult.  Each application is assessed 
on need.  For those families that qualify on low income they will remain eligible for transport 
irrespective of the proposed changes.  The changes are only in discretionary areas.  
  
Cabinet were also informed that home to school transport was funded from the general fund 
and was in addition to the £130 million it gets for education.  Of the £2.8 million spent on 
school transport £2 million is for children with additional needs.  Table 3 showed the options 
that went out for consultation, there was a high level of response as shown in table 8.   
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council, Resident and Leisure Services, HR, IT, Legal, 
Performance Management and Windsor felt that it was an excellent report as it showed  what 
the council was doing to help children get to school.  Even though it can cost £651 per year for 
some routes the council pay £2,500 so there is a considerable subsidy.   For residents on low 
incomes there remained the ability to apply for getting their costs covered.   
 
The Lead Member for Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead reported that 
changes in his ward would affect children going to Cox Green, however this special allowance 
was given as there was only one choice in school.  This has been negated as Holyport 
College has changed its admissions criteria.   
  
The Lead Member for Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside congratulated 
the transparency of the paper and how engagement was undertaken and the insight it gave 
into transport needs.  It was also important to have active school travel where appropriate.   
 
Cllr Tisi said that it would be hard for those families who would be losing subsidies midway 
through a child’s education or when they had just committed to a school place in September.  
The report should have recommended softer options or phased introduction.  The report 
mentioned 16 to 19 year olds with educational or disability needs who may get bursaries to 
cover transport costs or low income families receiving help.  She asked Cabinet if they would 
make sure parents were aware of the help they could receive and signpost them to support.   
 
The Lead Member responded to comments by informing that parents in Holyport would still be 
eligible to help under criteria mention to support transport costs and with regards to the 
bursary system the council would help and signpost residents in getting support.    Only last 
week he had undertaken an exercise in testing how accessible the links were to get 
assistance.   

8



 
The Director for Children’s Services also informed that the bursary scheme was run by the 
government that schools applied for on behalf of students and there was the expectation the 
vast majority of 16 year olds would be eligible.  It would require families to share information 
so criteria could be met.  
  
Cllr Knowles declared that he was a school governor at St Peter’s School and a ward member 
for school affected.  At St Peter’s they were just finishing off a school expansion at the request 
of RBWM, about one third of applicants would be from Eton and Eton Wick and would have 
been looking at taking advantage of the discount.  The timing of the consultation and 
announcement is wrong and should have been done earlier for a better lead in time when 
parents were making their choice of school.  Accessibility to the three tier system needs to be 
considered, especially to middle schools.  There is no way for children to Cycle from Eton 
Wick to Windsor safely on a daily basis.  The principle of fairness is correct but the timing is 
wrong.  
 
Cabinet were informed that with regards to timings it had to be approved in May for 
introduction in September, they were working on a defined timetable and decisions had not 
been forced through.  The consultation had gone above and beyond in connecting with people 
and included discussions at the Schools Forum and meetings with head teachers.  There was 
a difference between the times for applying for school places and the time to apply for 
transport.  With regards to St Peter’s the bus route to Eton Wick was being maintained.   
 
Resolved unanimously that:  Cabinet notes the report and:  
  

i) Approves the recommended changes to the Home to School Transport policy 
as set out in table 3 so that it better reflects statutory guidance and is fairer to all 
residents and schools whilst continuing to support our most vulnerable families. 

 
E) MAIDENHEAD TOWN HALL  

 
Cabinet considered the report regarding the future of the Maidenhead Town Hall.   
 
The Leader of the Council and Chairman of Cabinet, Business, Economic Development and 
Property informed that as the Town Hall in its current condition did not meet its duty under the 
Climate Strategy and was no longer economical viable, a viability study was being proposed 
for a new civic building.  There had been a significant amount of public interest in the paper 
and he clarified that no decision had yet been made, there was no fire sale of council assets 
and the library was not being sold.   The paper related to the future of our civic 
accommodation.  
  
The paper was a continuation of the Asset Management Strategy and a more stringent 
environmental policy especially around sustainability, energy performance and requirements 
from an operational perspective.   Given the impact of the last 12 months it was prudent to 
look at our portfolio and needs so there is a balance between the office environment and 
remote working.  The Town Hall is becoming outdated and did not meet our needs.  
   
The Town Hall was built in 1962 and provides outmoded and inefficient office and civic 
accommodation for the Council. The building is becoming more costly to maintain with 
significant expenditure required to maintain its required health & safety obligations, along with 
ongoing responsive repairs, and the need to put in place some medium to long term planned 
and cyclical maintenance requirements. The energy performance of the building was only just 
in the acceptable level for a public building. 
 
There were also a raft of central government policies regarding the energy performance of 
buildings coming forward with tangible leadership from public buildings and the need for 
retrofitting.  No decision had yet been made but taxpayers would insist when we consider 
making a considerable investment that available options had been explored.  This could be 

9



relocation or investment in the current building.  A detailed appraisal report would be brought 
back for consideration and he hoped that the majority of the building could be retained or 
enhanced for mixed use.  
 
The Lead Member for Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside informed that 
like many residents she liked the building but we needed to look at whole carbon life of the 
building.  There was embodied carbon in the building and implications of continued use, 
demolition, and a new build.  This paper is not a done deal but requesting a detailed appraisal 
of options. 
 
The Lead Member for Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead mentioned the 
importance of the building for residents and its iconic status by appearing in films.  He 
applauded the openness of the paper and that independent advice was being taken on 
options. No decision has been made and this was the start of the process.   
 
The Lead Member for Housing, Communications and Youth Engagement said that a decision 
on the future of the building had not yet been made and its sustainability in the long term had 
to be ascertained.  If the council decides to relocate to a more suitable location then its 
important not to repeat the historical errors of town council planners in the 1960’s / 70’s and 
tear down historical buildings.   Its important to remember its significant to residents.  With the 
regeneration work its important to maintain the new and old together.    
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council, Resident and Leisure Services, HR, IT, Legal, 
Performance Management and Windsor informed that the Town Hall was opened in 1962 by 
the Majesty the Queen and Duke of Edenborough and is now 60 years old so as custodians 
its important that we review the estate.  She thanked the Leader for what he said about the 
library as it was defiantly not going to be sold.  
 
Mr Hill addressed Cabinet and said that in his days of living in Cambridge he would look at the 
historical buildings and wonder if they met energy efficiency certification, should we tack down 
the Windsor Guildhall and replace it with a modern energy efficient building.  Obviously this 
would not be the case but the history of Maidenhead is just as important.  There were 
significant refurbishment in 2014, yet there is no transparently in the finances in this report.  
He asked if there had already been negotiations with third parties to sell or reuse the Town 
Hall.   He asked if the Chairman had understood the importance of the building and its 
historical significance; it was now an important vaccination hub.   There was the Desborough 
Theatre to be considered that was much loved by the community and had there been a £2 
million pledge for regeneration of it been made.     
 
The Chairman thanked Mr Hill for his comments and said that although his comments about 
the Guildhall were tongue in check would he consider a 1960’s building as historical.  There 
was going to be important discussions nationally about to get the right balance between 
meeting environmental obligations and maintaining historical buildings.  With regards to 
transparency he informed that as much as possible the report had been published in Part I 
and as seen later where it was possible Part II information would be open.  There had been no 
discussions about the future of the building pending the results of this report.  
 
Cllr W Da Costa said the assessment criteria was very important, what was the current use of 
the building and what options were available.    It was right to asses the estate for carbon 
resilience and that should include the build and use phase of all the councils estate.   Would 
the options be looking at like for like, what about future use, the cost of refurbishment, the 
carbon impact of building new as well as removing and building on the town hall site.  Any 
negative impact on the Town Hall site should be considered when looking at a new site.   
  
The Chairman informed that as per the Asset Management Plan all assets would be reviewed 
and it was important to consider the economic, social and sustainability criteria.   
 
(Cllr Carrol left the meeting) 

10



 
Cllr Knowles informed that he was currently involved in the retrofitting of a property in London 
and given new technology a lot of space had been made available due to there being no need 
for larger servers and IT accommodation.  With regards to the refurbishment of thee Town Hall 
in 2014 he asked what the costs were and its life expectancy.    The report leads to 
predetermination as it mentions that the current facilities were outdated, not environmental, 
not cost effective and that alternative locations should be looked at.   
 
The Chairman reiterated what had already been said about the Town Hall not being able to 
meet climate strategy standards without significant investment and thus all options should be 
looked at.   
 
Cllr Baldwin informed Cabinet that replacing the town hall with flats would be a carbon 
disaster.  Given the past year with the facility being virtually empty why could there not be a 
tiered return during redevelopment and thus save location cots.   
The Director of RBWM Property Services informed that during any proposed refurbishment of 
the Town Hall it would not be possible to retain staff in the building the £3 million was a high 
level estimate if we had to relocate all staff.  There were considerable challenges with the 
building as pipes and wiring were all imbedded in its structure so upgrading would be 
intensive.   
 
Cllr Hill said that much of what he wanted to cover had already been said but he wanted to 
reiterate that the report read as if a decision to leave the Town Hall had already been made, 
there was no reference to the building being the civic heart of Maidenhead.   
   
Cllr Singh, as ward member, also reiterated the importance of the building and the 
environment and asked for reassurance that the building would not be knocked down for 
redevelopment.    
 
Resolved unanimously: that Cabinet notes the report and:  
  

i) Cabinet recognises that the Town Hall cannot meet the Council’s Climate 
Strategy  

ii) ii) Cabinet recognises that the Town Hall is not economically viable to 
adapt to meet future operational requirements. 

iii) Cabinet recommend option appraisals to consider the location of a new 
civic building in the borough. 

iv) Delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Business, Economic Development & Property to undertake a 
detailed review and business plan. 

 
A) RBWM ENFORCEMENT & PROSECUTION POLICY 2021  

 
Cabinet considered the report regarding the proposed updated RBWM Enforcement and 

Prosecution Policy. 

The Lead Member for Public Protection and Parking informed Cabinet that the policy sets out 

the general principles that the Council intends to follow in relation to enforcement action and 

prosecutions that can be taken by a wide range of Council services.  One of the main 

functions of a local authority is to act as a regulator and an enforcement agency across a wide 

range of legislation covering many different functions. 

The purpose is to demonstrate that the local authority is acting fairly, consistently and 

transparently when carrying out regulatory and enforcement activity, including taking 

prosecutions in the criminal courts. 

11



A definition of “enforcement action” from the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 

is shown in paragraph 2.1 of the policy, with a list of enforcement actions that can be taken 

being shown in 2.4.   

Cllr Tis asked if all officer or contracted officers were subject to the policy, the Lead Member 

confirmed they were.  She went on to mention that page 30 of the document pack says that 

there should be an opportunity to comply with the law before enforcement is enacted, does 

this mean that (deack) enforcement officers would allow the public to say pick up rubbish 

before enforcement is enacted.   The Lead Member said that education is important but if 

there is non compliance then incidences such as littering is not acceptable and will be 

enforced.  The councillors disagreed on the professional interpretation of the policy with 

regards to the equalities impact assessment.    

Cllr Baldwin mentioned that his concerns had already been mention but he would continue to 

monitor the implementation of the policy and make any objections at a later date.  

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet notes the report and:  

i) Agrees that the RBWM Enforcement & Prosecution Policy 2021 be formally 

adopted as RBWM policy and be implemented by relevant Council services. 

 
B) HOUSING STRATEGY 2021-26: BUILDING A BOROUGH OF OPPORTUNITY AND 

INNOVATION  
 
Cabinet considered the report regarding the adoption of the Housing Strategy 2021-2026. 

The Lead Member for Housing, Communications and Youth Engagement informed Cabinet 

that the draft new Housing Strategy had been approved by Cabinet to go out to consultation.   

There had been 150 responses and good input from the Access and Inclusion Forum.  There 

were also stakeholder workshops with members and key partners.  The strategy being 

presented today picked up on key points gained by the consultation and contained detailed 

action plans.   

The Lead Member informed that in RBWM our residents faced particularly acute housing 

costs. The average house price in RBWM is approximately £476,000, which was over 15 

times higher than the average UK salary (£30,420).  The strategy had been developed around 

three key objectives; Deliver New Homes; Promote Health & Wellbeing; Support Vulnerable 

Residents to Obtain and Sustain Appropriate Accommodation.  The need for more affordable 

accommodation had been highlighted over the last 12 months during the pandemic with 

residents not being able to afford to rent or buy properties.   

Cabinet were informed that there would be a change to the recommendation in the report; if 

approved it would be recommending that the strategy goes to Council for adoption. 

The Lead Member for Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside said that this 

was a terrific paper and thanked the Lead Member and officers for their work and this was 

reiterated by Cllr Clark who also thanked the Lead Member for all the work done supporting 

the homeless.   

Mr Hill addressed Cabinet and also commended the Lead Member on the report.  He said that 

the Borough Local Plan references an affordable housing SPD and asked if this was to be 

produced.  He also mentioned that the report said there would be work with the Government 

on John West House but what support was envisaged and what had happened to the £2 

million flexible homelessness support grant. He also asked why the number of disabled 

facilities grants plummeting year on year, had the budget been reduced or was it harder to get 

a grant.   Mr Hill also made reference to the impact of air pollution and having proposed 

developments surrounded by roads.  He questioned the plan to build on the golf club grounds 

that were the town’s green lungs especially as the Lead Member for Planning had said he had 

12



already been informed of some alternative housing sites, Mr Hill asked if these sites would be 

made public.   The BLP says that there should be 434 new affordable homes each year from 

2013, that’s around 3000 that should have been provided.  There was no reference to this in 

the RBWM Property Companies targets and the Magnet site did not have mixed tenure.  The 

Leader had said that RBWM schemes would deliver 30% affordable housing yet the 

Nicholson’s Centre had none.  Policies were cheap unless acted upon.   

In response Cabinet were informed that it was not appropriate to comment on live planning 

applications.  With regards to John West House the council were seeking addition funding to 

improve the facilities and increase capacity.  There had been a Sharp decrease in the 

disability grant due to the impact of the pandemic, also work was costing more so less could 

be done.  The name of the flexible homelessness grant has changed over the years but is still 

being used.  

Cllr W Da Costa welcomed the scope of the report and what it was trying to achieve.  There 

should be reference to the Climate Change Strategy and providing carbon neutral homes.  He 

was informed that page 8 of the strategy talks about climate change, being net zero by 2050 

and linking the report to the Climate Strategy rather then copying it into this report.   

Cllr Singh made reference to the development on St Clouds way and a live petition.  He was 

concerned that the application had received some objection from the Housing Team and that 

how could we expect developers to adhere to targets when RBWM do not on their own 

developments.  He was informed that it was not the job of Cabinet to speak for the Planning 

Authority.   

Resolved unanimously: that Cabinet notes the report and:  

i)Delegates authority to the Head of Service in consultation with the Lead 

Member for Housing, Communications and Youth Engagement, to publish the 

Housing Strategy 2021-2026 and recommends it to Council for adoption. 

 
C) HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE CONTRACT - OPTIONS FOR FUTURE SERVICE 

DELIVERY  
 
Cabinet considered the report regarding the proposed extension of the Volker Highways Ltd 

highways contract. 

The Lead Member for Transport and Infrastructure informed Cabinet that he wished to thank 

officers for producing such a comprehensive report.  The core commissioned services were 

highlighted in section 2.1 of the report.  The contract has an initial term which runs until April 

2022 with an option to extend for two years up until April 2024 on a 1+1 basis. 

The report contained details of performance which had been above average in the key areas 

of public satisfaction, key performance indicators within the contract having been met or 

exceeded and the Royal Borough’s road condition having been maintained or improved over 

the period of the contract. Under the terms of the contract, they are required to bring 

efficiencies to the Royal Borough such as new ways of working, for example more planned 

than reactive work, innovation and new technology to the Royal Borough. 

The Lead Member for Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside mentioned that 

she had worked with officers from the company and they were always helpful.  With regards to 

climate change we should also look at how our contractors were performing and in this 

instance she was pleased to say they looked at making environmental improvements.   

The Lead Member for Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead  informed that as a 

ward member he wanted to say that when helping residents he found the company provided 

an excellent service.  Cllr Rayner also supported the paper and said she had been glad to see 

the performance of the contract and how quicky they responded to need to as filing pot holes.   

13



Cllr C Da Costa asked about the road surfacing that they used about two years ago that was 

not hard wearing or sustainable.  She believed that some of those roads were still waiting to 

be resurfaced.  She asked if the Lead Member would ensure remedial work would be 

undertaken as promised before the contract was extended.  The Lead Member replied that the 

details would be passed to officers to look into.  Cllr Da Costa mentioned that when this was in 

the Leaders portfolio he had said that all repairs for inadequate resurfacing would be done 

free of charge.  

The Chairman said he remembered the discussion at Council that where trial surface dressing 

was used and did not work it had been rectified by Volkner.  He would leave it to the Lead 

Member to look at any ongoing concerns.   

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet agrees to adopt the extension options to the 

contract for a further 2 years on a 1+1 basis, given the performance of VH has been 

above average in the key areas of public satisfaction, key performance indicators 

within the contract having been met or exceeded and the Royal Borough’s road 

condition has been maintained or improved over the period of the contract. 

 
F) AFFORDABLE HOUSING WINDSOR  

 
Cabinet considered the report regarding an approach by Abri Housing Group for the potential 

refurbishment or redevelopment of Sawyers Close, Windsor. 

The Leader of the Council and Chairman of Cabinet, Business, Economic Development and 

Property  informed Cabinet that unfortunately yet again there had been misinformation about a 

Cabinet report.   For transparency and after ward members had been consulted it had been 

decided to release the Part II appendix into the public domain.  This was Abri’s scheme to take 

forward and to secure resident buy in from their tenant base.  Cabinet were not here to 

comment on planning but to decide if we wished to facilitate plans by disposing of land 

identified in the appendix.  If it was decided to undertake regeneration then he supported the 

principle of only having to move residents once.  The Housing Strategy and this report go 

hand in hand and can help provide affordable housing.  The Council would seek full 

nomination over any additional stock so it would be allocated to local residents.   

The Deputy Leader of the Council, Resident and Leisure Services, HR, IT, Legal, 

Performance Management and Windsor supported the paper and said that the estate was 

unique in Windsor due to the high rise flats.  The site is now 60 years old with 192 properties 

with 400 residents, 3 properties were leasehold, 173 properties are let at a social rent level, 

and 16 are let at an affordable rent level.  Abri Housing Group are looking at either a 

substantial refurbishment of these assets, or the potential for a complete redevelopment of the 

estate.  The preferred option will be determined post a full public consultation with existing 

residents, and local key stakeholders.  Residents are concerned about the loss of open space 

and this would have to be overcome.   

The Lead Member for Climate Change, Sustainability, Parks and Countryside welcomed the 

report and that they were going into a full consultation.  She hoped that as part of the process 

they would also be looking at the carbon impact of any potential demolishing and rebuilding.  

Maintaining green land was also important.   

Mr Ed Wilson addressed Cabinet and said that it was good that the Part II information had 

been released to alleviate residents concerns.  Its good to see that something positive is being 

proposed for Deadworth, its good that something is being done but there needs to be better 

communication.  Residents have contacted him about open space and if there were any 

alternatives for providing open space as well as pay areas and the new orchard.  He had also 

received questions about financing any proposal and if the Abri would meet legal costs.  

Would S106 be used to improve the area and had there been any other approaches for the 

use of the land.  Would there be any clawback arrangements if nomination rights were not 

14



met.  He asked for consultation to be undertaken on open space and again mentioned the 

importance of communication with residents.   

The chairman said that this was almost a once in a lifetime opportunity to improve the area 

and the outcomes for residents.  He agreed that after this meeting Abri had a big job to do 

regarding communication and consultation.  S106 would be dealt with during the planning 

application process.  The issue regarding open space did need further discussion and 

consideration.    

Cllr C Da Costa addressed Cabinet and said that better communication with councillors could 

have alleviated some of the concerns raised by the proposal.  She supported the proposals 

but felt the council should not give away any land.  There could be leasing arrangements or 

joint venture with RBWM Property Company.  The Director of RBWM Property Company said 

that any sale of the land would be at market value, which for affordable housing was zero, but 

there would be a section 123 report.  If there is refurbishment they may only need temporary 

use of our land but if there is to be regeneration then they will need ownership to secure 

finances.   

Cllr Price said that she supported the improvement of social housing and Abri had been 

responses to questions.  She was concerned about the paper gifting open space to Abri, 

looking at the EQIA there was no mention of the loss of open space on the protected 

characteristics groups so how can a decision be made tonight.  She felt that the assessment 

was not robust and noted it had not been signed off by the monitoring officer.  She was 

concerned about the map being in Part II as there was no clear rational and mentioned that 

open space was protected by national and local policies, yet the paper did not mention them.  

The open space was under the provision of children and young people and more of this type 

was required not less.  She requested that the council undertakes a in depth consultation 

above what was planned by Abri.  There also needs to be better communication with ward 

councillors.   

The Chairman reiterated that ward councillors were briefed back in February.  This was an 

opportunity to redevelop the estate and the council could help being the adjacent land owner.  

The Council’s Chief Executive said that this was Abri’s project and not the councils so it was 

up to them to brief and undertake consultation.  The Abri consultation and planning 

consultation will look at the overall scheme. The policies mentioned would be tested with any 

planning application.   

Cllr W DA Costa mentioned that the new world we had to look at the environment and close 

the use of green space for development.  It’s a wildlife corridor and carbon sink.  Without 

stringent planning policies we would be reducing green space and its impact on the 

environment, local habitat and social use. There would also be a huge amount of carbon 

released during development.  It would be better to keep the land and look at redeveloping an 

office block.   

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet notes the report and:  

i) Approves the disposal of land identified in appendix A to Abri Housing 

Group, at nil value for the sole use as affordable housing, subject to 

planning being achieved and the scheme progressing. 

ii) Delegates authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the 

Lead Member for Business, Economic Development and Property to enter 

into a contract for the sale of the land, subject to obtaining a s.123 report, 

confirming the value. 

iii) Delegates authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the 

Lead Member for Business, Economic Development and Property to 

consider any objections to the proposed disposal of land following 

15



publication of the Notice required under section 123(2A) of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

iv) Delegates authority to the Managing Director in consultation with the 

Lead Member for Business, Economic Development and Property to 

dispose of the land identified at appendix A – subject to satisfactory 

planning restrictive to affordable housing. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That under Section 100(A)(4) od the Local Government Act 
1972, the public were excluded from the remainder of the meeting whilst discussion 
took place on the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and 3 of part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 
CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS  
 

A) MAIDENHEAD TOWN HALL  
 
The Part II appendix was noted. 

 
B) AFFORDABLE HOUSING WINDSOR  

 
The Part II appendix was moved to Part I. 

 
 
The meeting, which began at 6.15 pm, finished at 9.45 pm 
 

CHAIRMAN………………………………. 
 

DATE……………………………….......... 
 

16



CABINET  

FORWARD PLAN - CHANGES MADE SINCE LAST PUBLISHED: 

ITEM 
SCHEDULED 

CABINET 
DATE

NEW 
CABINET 

DATE

REASON FOR 
CHANGE 

Communities Facilities Review May 2021 June 2021 
Further work 

required.  

Boulters Lock, Maidenhead May 2021 June 2021 
Further work 

required.  

Land Options June 2021 n/a New item 

New Primary School Places 
Maidenhead

June 2021 n/a New item 

New Upper School Places Windsor June 2021 n/a New item 

17

Agenda Item 5



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 
NB: The Cabinet is comprised of the following Members: Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council and Chairman of Cabinet, Business, Economic 
Development and Property, Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the Council, Resident and Leisure Services, HR, IT, Legal, Performance Management 
and Windsor, Councillor Carroll, Deputy Chairman of Cabinet, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services, Health and Mental Health, Councillor Cannon, 
Public Protection and Parking, Councillor Clark, Transport and Infrastructure , Councillor Coppinger, Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead, 
Councillor Hilton, Finance and Ascot, Councillor McWilliams, Housing, Communications and Youth Engagement , Councillor Stimson, Climate Change, 
Sustainability, Parks and Countryside    The Council is comprised of all the elected Members     
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Tel (01628) 796560. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 

 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

Library 
Transformation 
Strategy and 
Reductions 
 

Open -  
 

A library strategy is 
required in order to 
help release the 
power and assets 
within communities 
to meet local need 
The strategy 
outlines how the 
library service will 
adapt to changing 
circumstances, 
opportunities and 
demands, and will 
assist councillors, 
senior officers, 
library 
professionals, 
stakeholders, 

Yes Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Corporate & 
Resident Services, 
Culture & Heritage, 
and Windsor 
(Councillor Samantha 
Rayner) 

 
Adele Taylor 

 

Internal and 
External 

Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

18



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

communities and 
customers to 
understand the role 
that library services 
can play in 
delivering other 
priorities and 
shared objectives. 
The report will 
include reductions 
in the library estate 
in order to make 
essential savings 
and related 
mitigations. 

Appointments to 
Outside Bodies 
 

Open -  
 

To make 
appointments of 
council 
representatives on 
outside and 
associated bodies. 

No Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Emma Duncan 

 

Internal Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

RBWM Youth 
Council 
 

 -  
 

To provide an 
update on the 
Youth Council 
Working Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Adult Social 
Care, Children’s 
Services, Health and 
Mental Health 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

19



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Annual 
Performance 
Report 
 

 -  
 

Report detailing 
performance of the 
Council against the 
corporate 
scorecard for Q3 
and 4. 

Yes Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Corporate & 
Resident Services, 
Culture & Heritage, 
and Windsor 
(Councillor Samantha 
Rayner) 

 
Emma Duncan 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

Land Option 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Entering into 
conditional option 
agreement to sell 
surplus land 

Yes Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Duncan Sharkey 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

Affordable Housing 
Maidenhead 
 

Part exempt - 
3 
 

Review of 
Affordable 
Housing, 
Maidenhead  

Yes Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Duncan Sharkey 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

New primary 
school places in 
Maidenhead 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

This report 
provides the 
outcome of public 
consultation on a 
proposal to provide 
new primary school 
places in 
Maidenhead, and 
recommends next 
steps to be taken 
with regard to the 
proposal. 

Yes Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Adult Social 
Care, Children’s 
Services, Health and 
Mental Health 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

20



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

New upper school 
places in Windsor 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

This report 
provides the 
outcome of public 
consultation on a 
proposal to provide 
new upper school 
places in Windsor, 
and recommends 
next steps to be 
taken with regard 
to the proposal. 

Yes Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Adult Social 
Care, Children’s 
Services, Health and 
Mental Health 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

Boulters Lock, 
Maidenhead 
 

 -  
 

Asset review of 
Boulters Lock 
Maidenhead 

Yes Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Andrew Durrant 

 

 Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

Community 
Facilities Review 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Strategic Asset 
Management and 
Assessment of 
community assets. 

Yes Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Duncan Sharkey 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
24 Jun 
2021 

 

Re-Tender of the 
Council’s Building 
Cleaning Contract 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Award of the 
Contract for the 
cleaning of the 
Council’s 
operational 
buildings. 

No Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Corporate & 
Resident Services, 
Culture & Heritage, 
and Windsor 
(Councillor Samantha 
Rayner) 
 
 

 
Emma Duncan 

 

 Cabinet 
29 Jul 
2021 

 

21



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Finance Update 
 

 -  
 

Latest financial 
update. 

No Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Adele Taylor 

 

 Cabinet 
22 Jul 
2021 

 

Revised Medium 
Term Financial 
Strategy 
 

 -  
 

To recommend the 
new MTFS 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Adele Taylor 

 

 Cabinet 
22 Jul 
2021 

 

Corporate Plan 
 

 -  
 

To note the draft 
Corporate Plan for 
public consultation. 

Yes Leader of the Council 
and Chairman of 
Cabinet, Business, 
Economic 
Development and 
Property (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Emma Duncan 

 

 Cabinet 
22 Jul 
2021 

 

Finance Update 
 

 -  
 

Latest financial 
update. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Adele Taylor 

 

 Cabinet 
30 Sep 
2021 

 

 

22



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 

DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 

 

1 Information relating to any individual. 

2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). 

4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the 
authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes 
 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



RBWM Youth Council

Working Group 
report back to 

Cabinet May 2021

25

A
genda Item

 6



The Working Group was established to agree:

● A plan for governance and overview of the Youth Council 

workings, structure and accountability 

● A process for allowing the Youth Council to be consulted on 

issues relevant to young people within the borough

● A procedure for allowing question and answer sessions 

between Youth Council Members and Cabinet Members and 

other Councillors to help develop policy and enhance the 

Council’s aims and objectives.

26



Working Group Members

Cllr. Stuart Carroll
Cllr. Ross McWilliams

Karen Shepherd 
Sienna-Grace Nettle

Caitie Holden
Imogen Cobbold
Elaine Keating

27



Meetings to date

17th March - terms of reference 
31st March - application form

14th April - rules and regulations
12th May - fine tuning of rules and 

regulations and overview of applications 

28



Rules and Regulations

We have drafted 18 rules and regulations
● Each Youth Council meeting will include a standing item to consider the RBWM

Cabinet Forward Plan and Overview and Scrutiny work programmes to identify

items the Youth Council may wish to provide comment on.

● The Youth Council can invite Cabinet members and other councillors to their

meetings to help develop policy and enhance the Council's aims and objectives.

This can include a question and answer session on pre-agreed topics.

● The Youth Council will be able to raise any problems or concerns via Democratic

Services, and challenge issues regarding service delivery, current strategies, and

the working of the RBWM Council as it affects young people of the borough.

29



Details for joining the Youth Council 
are available on 

https://rbwm.afcinfo.org.uk/pages/yo
ung-people/information-and-
advice/rbwm-youth-voice/youth-

council

30



We have advertised on our 
social media channels, had a press release 

and a feature in the
RBWM residents newsletter. 

31



32



Next Steps….

● Responding to all applications
● Continue promoting the Youth Council
● Meet applicants informally during the 
summer to establish working programme 

and manifesto
● First official meeting in September 

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report Title: Borough Local Plan – Next Steps 

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Lead Member: Councillor Coppinger, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 27 May 2021 

Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services & Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   All 

 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 

1. This report provides an update on the Borough Local Plan (BLP), which is 
currently at its Examination Stage. Following the Stage 2 hearings held in late 
2020, the Inspector has issued a post hearings advice letter.  The Inspector has 
agreed with the council’s proposals to amend some policies; has proposed that 
three allocations previously removed are reinstated and that one current 
allocation is deleted. However, the letter raises no ‘showstopper’ issues.   
 

2.  The Inspector explains that the purpose of the advice is to allow the Council to 
complete the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications (MM) for public 
consultation. To reduce the risk of delay, delegated authority is sought for the 
Head of Planning in consultation with the Lead Member for Planning, 
Environmental Services and Maidenhead to agree the detailed wording of the 
MM schedule under the direction of the Inspector. It is anticipated that the 
consultation on MMs will take place in late summer, with adoption estimated to 
take place towards the end of 2021.   

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Delegates authority to the Head of Planning in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead, 
to publish the Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications to be agreed 
with the Inspector for public consultation.  
 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

Option Comments 

To delegate authority to the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Planning, Environmental 

This would reduce the risk of 
delays to the proposed timetable 
for the next stages, including 

 

35

Agenda Item 7i)



Option Comments 

Services and Maidenhead, to approve 
and publish the Schedule of Proposed 
Main Modifications to be agreed with the 
Inspector for public consultation. 
This is the recommended option 

consultation on Main 
Modifications to the plan and 
adoption, making it more likely 
that the BLP can be adopted 
before the end of 2021.   

To not delegate authority to the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Lead 
Member for Planning, Environmental 
Services and Maidenhead, to publish 
the Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications for public consultation. 
 

Not agreeing to delegate 
authority would mean that a 
report would need to be taken to 
Cabinet after the Schedule of 
Proposed Main Modifications is 
agreed by the Inspector. This 
would increase the risks of delays 
to the proposed timetable, 
including the consultation on 
MMs and adoption and make it 
unlikely that the plan could be 
adopted in 2021. 

  
Background 

2.1 The Borough Local Plan (BLP) is currently at its Examination Stage.  The key 
milestones have been as follows: 

 31 January 2018 – BLP submitted to the Government for independent 
Examination, 

 June 2018 - Stage 1 hearings held 

 November 2018 - Examination entered a ‘pause period’ whilst the Council 
undertook further evidence gathering work to address the Inspector’s 
concerns.  

 23 October 2019 - Full Council approved the Proposed Changes version 
of the Plan for six-weeks’ public consultation. Further details on the early 
stages of the BLP preparation process are provided in the report taken to 
that meeting. 

 November and December 2019 - public consultation on the Proposed 
Changes version of the BLP. 

 June 2020 - Inspector published her Stage 2 Matters, Issues and 
Questions (MIQs) for the Council and other parties to respond to.   

 5 October to 9 December 2020 - Fifteen days of Stage 2 hearings held. 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, these hearings were held remotely via 
Zoom.  These sessions each received up to 700 views on the council’s 
YouTube channel. 

 9 December 2020 - At the end of the final session, Ms Phillips advised the 
Council that changes to the Plan submitted on 31 January 2018 would be 

36

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5512060
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=7569


required to remedy issues of soundness in the form of Main Modifications 
(MMs).  

2.2 On 26th March 2021, the Council published the Inspector’s post-hearings advice 
letter. In summary, the Inspector’s letter makes the following points: 

 The Inspector has agreed with the council’s proposals to amend the detailed 
wording and approach for some of the policies (for example, in relation to 
accessible and adaptable dwellings, and in relation to affordable housing on 
former business sites). 

 The Inspector is content with the further flood risk assessment work 
undertaken. 

 The Inspector has proposed that we reinstate three allocations removed at 
the proposed changes stage. The Osbourne’s Garage site (HA16), and the 
Gas Holder Site (HA35), Sunninghill, have planning permission, but in case 
these permissions are not implemented, the Inspector suggests we keep the 
Local Plan polices for these sites. The Coppermill Road site (HA45) is the 
third site the inspector proposes we reinstate. 

 The Inspector has suggested modifications are needed in relation to several 
other sites including: AL3 (St Mary’s Walk), remove the requirement for 
housing; AL7 (Maidenhead Railway Station), look again at the tall building 
element and impact; AL25 (Spencer’s Farm), look at how the new Green 
Belt boundary will be formed; and AL23 (St Marks Hospital), reduce housing 
capacity. 

 The Inspector supports a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for the 
Ascot area (with some clarifications regarding the scope). She has also 
suggested some changes to the proforma requirements for sites AL16 
(Ascot Centre), AL20 (Heatherwood Hospital) and AL32 (Sandridge House).  
The Inspector has suggested that site AL19 (Englemere Lodge) should be 
deleted from the Local Plan. 

2.3 The Inspector’s letter raises no ‘showstopper’ issues and it is notable for what it 
does not say, as much as what it does. The Council’s BLP counsel has advised 
that the absence of any mention of the largest site allocation, AL13 (Desborough, 
Shoppenhangers and Harvest Hill Roads, South West Maidenhead), which is 
proposed for about 2,600 homes and supporting infrastructure and other large 
allocations such as AL21, Land west of Windsor, provides a strong indication that 
the Inspector has no in-principle soundness concerns.   The Council’s BLP 
counsel has advised that the absence of any mention of this site (and other large 
allocations such as AL21, Land west of Windsor), strongly indicates that the 
Inspector has no in-principle soundness concerns over this allocation.    

2.4 In her letter, the Inspector explains that the purpose of the advice in the post 
hearings advice is to allow the Council to complete the Main Modifications (MM) 
Schedule for consultation. The Inspector has explained that where the changes 
made to the BLP at the Proposed Changes stage do not require amendment, no 
further consultation is necessary. Where they do require amendment, or new 
modifications are required, these must be consulted on. To be clear, because the 
Council has asked the Inspector to recommend modifications of the submission 

37

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5825422
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5825422


version of the BLP to make it sound, and thus capable of adoption, the form and 
content of the Schedule will, ultimately, be a matter for the Inspector to decide. 

2.5 At the end of the letter, the Inspector asks the Council to provide an estimate of 
when the draft Schedule is likely to be available.  Officers have now responded 
with an indicative proposed timetable for the next stages, although it should be 
noted that the Examination is under the control of the Inspector.    

2.6 It is anticipated that the draft Schedule of Proposed MMs would be sent to the 
Inspector in the early Summer for her review. The preparation of the Schedule 
will be an iterative process involving the Council sending the Inspector draft 
versions of the schedule upon which will provide informal advice. Once this has 
been finalised, it would be published for consultation in late summer 2021. It is 
expected that her report would be received from the Inspector in late autumn and 
on the assumption that no further hearing sessions are needed and the Plan is 
found sound, it is anticipated that a report would be taken to Full Council before 
the end of 2021 recommending adoption.  Once adopted, the Plan would have 
full weight for planning decisions.   

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 In order to minimise the risk of any unnecessary delays to this timetable, officers 
recommend that authority to publish the Schedule of Proposed Main 
Modifications (under the direction of the Inspector) for public consultation is 
delegated to the Head of Planning in consultation with the Lead Member for 
Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead. 

3.2 A long delay to the consultation on MMs and subsequent adoption of the Plan 
would have consequences for development management as it would be harder 
to resist speculative planning applications. This would also increase the risk that 
the delivery of key development sites would be delayed, which would have 
financial implications for the Council.  Furthermore, any delay would affect the 
delivery of much needed affordable housing and vital infrastructure in the 
Borough.   

 

Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Cabinet 
supports 
recommend-
ation  

MMs 
published 
in 
Autumn 
or Winter 
2021 

MMs 
published 
for 
consultation 
in late 
Summer 
2021 

MM 
published 
for 
consultation 
in early 
Summer 
2021 

n/a BLP 
anticipated 
to be 
adopted 
before end 
of 2021 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 Work on the Borough Local Plan commenced in around 2013 and it has now 
reached an advanced stage of production, with adoption expected to take place 
later this year.  The cost of producing the BLP to date (to March 2020) has been 

38



about £2.0m (including evidence studies, legal advice and Inspector and 
programme officer costs).   

4.2 The work within this report is funded from existing budgets.   

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended ("the 2004 Act") 
requires local planning authorities to prepare Local Plans. The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended, (“the 2012 
Regulations”) set out the procedures to be followed in the preparation of such 
Plans.  

5.2 The planning system is plan-led, which means that planning applications should 
be made in accordance with the adopted development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  Making a development plan for a local 
authority area is a statutory duty and the Minister of State for Housing has set a 
deadline of December 2023 for all councils to have up to date Local Plans in 
place.  The Council’s Adopted Local Plan (1999) is not considered to be up to 
date for the purposes of development management decisions. The Minister has 
the power to intervene in plan making; this includes power to notify or direct the 
Inspectorate to take certain steps in relation to the examination of a plan (section 
20(6A) of the 2004 Act), or to intervene to direct modification of the plan, or that 
the plan be submitted to the Secretary of State for approval (sections 21 to 21A 
of the 2004 Act).   

5.3 The powers of the Inspector to recommend modifications at the request of the 
Local Planning Authority are set out in Section 20 of the 2004 Act. 

5.4 Pursuant to regulation 4(4) of the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 the function of amending, 
modifying or varying any relevant plan or strategy shall be the responsibility of 
the executive of a local authority to the extent that this is recommended by the 
person carrying out an independent examination of a Development Plan 
Document under section 20 of the 2004 Act.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 As a key corporate project, the BLP is noted on the Corporate Risk Register 
and also has a risk register for the project.  This register is kept up to date and 
the risk profile has changed as the project has progressed. 

6.2 The headline risks are set out in Table 3 below. 

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

Risk Level of 
uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

The consultation on 
Main Modifications 
does not take place 
until Autumn due to 
a delay in gaining 

Very high Actions set out in 
recommendation 

Low 

39



approval from 
Cabinet, resulting in 
adoption of the BLP 
taking place in 2022 
with associated 
impacts as set out in 
paragraph 3.3.  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure 
that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service 
or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the 
workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. A EQIA 
(Equalities Impact Assessment) Screening has been completed and is available 
as a background document. 

 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) has been undertaken 

at every key stage of the BLP preparation.  The adoption of the BLP will have a 
positive impact on the Council’s ability to deliver the Environment and Climate 
Strategy.  It will provide the policy basis for a new Sustainability SPD as well as 
strengthening current policies on both climate change and biodiversity. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No impacts. 
 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 As stated in Section 2 above, the Borough Local Plan has been subject to 
extensive public consultation over several years.  Following approval by the Head 
of Planning in consultation with the Lead Member, and also the Inspector, the 
Schedule of Proposed Main Modifications will be published for public 
consultation. After this, the Inspector will consider responses received and 
finalise her report, along with a final list of Main Modifications to the Plan. This 
will report then be publicised in accordance with the 2012 Regulations.   

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages 
are set out in table 4. 

 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 

Date Details 

Early Summer 
2021 

The Schedule of Main Modifications is agreed by the 
Inspector and then approved under delegated authority 
by the Head of Planning in consultation with Lead 
Member for Planning, Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead. 

Late Summer 
2021 

Main Modifications published for six weeks public 
consultation 

40

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments


Late Autumn 
(estimated) 

Inspector’s Report received 

Late 2021 
(estimated) 

Report to Full Council recommending adoption of BLP 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 None 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

This report is supported by 1 background document 

 Equality Impact Assessment Screening 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Cllr Coppinger Lead Member for Planning, 
Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead. 

26/4/21 15/5/21 

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 26/4/21 27/4/21 

Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151 
Officer 

26/4/21 27/4/21 

Andrew Durrant Director of Place 26/4/21 28/4/21 

Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 26/4/21 27/4/21 

Hilary Hall Director of Adults, Health and 
Housing 

26/4/21 27/4/21 

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 26/4/21  

Elaine Browne Head of Law 26/4/21 29/4/21 

Emma Duncan Deputy Director of Law and 
Strategy / Monitoring Officer 

26/4/21
26/4/21 

 

Nikki Craig Head of HR Corporate Projects 
and IT 

26/4/21 29/4/21 

Louisa Dean Communications 26/4/21  

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 26/4/21 28/4/21 

Chris Joyce Head of Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Economic 
Growth 

26/4/21 27/4/21 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 

Non-key decision  
 

No No  

 

Report Author:  Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

 
 

41

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments


This page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: 2020/21 Draft Outturn Report – Revenue 
and Capital

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Ascot

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27 May 2021
Responsible 
Officer(s):

Andrew Vallance, Head of Finance and 
Deputy S151 Officer 
Adele Taylor, Executive Director of Resources 
and S151 Officer

Wards affected: All

1. REPORT SUMMARY 

1.1 This report sets out the final outturn position of the Council in respect of the 2020/21 
financial year. 

1.2 The report reviews the various elements of the Council’s financial position including 
the revenue budget and its funding, the capital programme, and the Council’s 
financial reserve position. 

1.3 2020/21 has been an exceptional year for all councils. The financial and service 
impacts of Covid-19 have needed to be taken into account.  There has been 
significant additional expenditure, partly offset by additional grant funding from 
central government. The Council has also supported local businesses and the local 
community to the value of in excess of £46,000,000 direct grants and awards on 
behalf of central government.  At the same time, several significant sources of local 
authority income including Council Tax, Non-Domestic Business Rates, fees and 
charges, rents and investment returns have, to a greater or lesser extent, been 
subject to a reduction or suspension. These significant impacts are likely to continue 
into 2021/22 and allowance was made when setting the budget in February 2021.  

1.4 This is the pre-Audit draft Outturn report for 2020/21. Final verification of the 
accounts is due to be completed by 30th September 2021.  The numbers quoted are 
therefore pre-Audit and subject to change in the final Statement of Accounts.  Any 
changes will be reported to Cabinet at the earliest opportunity.  

2. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet: 

i) Notes the report including: 

a. The final Net Revenue Outturn position for the year showing an 
underspend of £1,043,000 including Sales, Fees and Charges 
compensation of £8,016,000 (Appendix A) and the implications 
for the authority’s reserves position (Appendix H). 

b. The delivery against the savings approved within the 2020/21 
base budget (Appendix B) 

43

Agenda Item 7ii)



c. Net Capital Outturn figures showing a net £44,890,000 
underspend (Appendices C – E) and the subsequent impact on 
Borrowing (Appendix F) 

d. The Outturn position on the Schools Budget (Appendix G) 

e. The summary of the Covid-19 funding and expenditure during 
2020/21 (Appendix I). 

f. The level of Aged Debt as at 31 March 2021 (Paragraph 14.11 
Table 25 within the report). 

g. The in-year collection levels for both Council Tax and NNDR 
(Paragraph 14.3 Table 24 within the report). 

h. The levels and return on the cash investments (Paragraph 14.28 
Table 28 within the report). 

ii) Approves the following: 

a. Creation of new Earmarked Reserves totalling £3,485,000 
reflecting the service underspends to be carried forward into 
2021/22, as shown in Appendix A.  This includes the earmarked 
reserve in relation to Covid-19 expenditure that will be utilised in 
2021/22 as approved as part of the budget in February 2021 

b. Movements in existing Earmarked Reserves following the review 
of the S151 Officer.  

c. The Capital variances and slippage. Slippage will be carried 
forward into 2021/22.  

3. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

Table 1: Options arising from this report: 

Option Comments
Cabinet are requested to note the 
Council’s financial position and agree 
the associated technical actions.

This is the recommended option 

4. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 RBWM faces considerable financial risks that can have a potentially significant 
and immediate impact on its finances.  To mitigate and smooth the impact on the 
budget, reserves and a contingency budget are held. However, these are 
currently at, or close to, the minimum levels required to protect the Council from 
these financial risks as well as potential service risks that it may also face.   

4.2 Across the Medium-Term Financial Plan, the assumption is that RBWM will 
identify sustainable savings and therefore remain above the minimum level of 
reserves identified by the S151 Officer.   

44



Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded

Date of 
delivery

General Fund 
Reserves 
Achieved

<£6,370,000 £6,370,000
to 
£6,500,000

£6,500,001 
to 
£16,900,000

> 16,900,000 31 May 2021 

5. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

5.1 The final revenue service outturn position for 2020/21 shows an adverse 
variance of £10,679,000, a favourable movement of £1,580,000 from Period 
10 on reported service variances as shown in Table 3 below. The service 
favourable movement of £1,580,000 mainly arises as a result of increased 
underspends of £237,000 on Governance, £728,000 on Housing benefit and 
£989,000 on Property Services. These favourable variances are partly offset by 
an increased adverse variance of £590,000 on Housing. Further details on all the 
variances are given in the relevant service narrative starting at Section 5.

5.2 The final outturn position for the Council including the impact of Sales, 
Fees and Charges compensation is an underspend of £1,043,000 in 
2020/21; this is a favourable movement of £584,000 since the March Cabinet 
report. This is as a result of £1,580,000 of favourable movement in service 
variances as described in paragraph 5.1 above which is partly offset by net 
adverse non-service movements of £995,000. 

5.3 The Council has received Sales, Fees and Charges compensation during 
2020/21. The total compensation claims made in 2020/21 for the loss of 
income will be £8,016,000; further detail is included in paragraph 5.13.  The 
compensation is for income loss predominantly in Car Parking and Leisure as 
shown in Appendix A. 

5.4 The favourable outturn position of £1,043,000 including Sales, Fees and Charges 
compensation leads to an increase in the general fund reserve, which now stands 
at £7,059,000 after transferring £3,485,000 to the Covid-19 reserve. As is usual 
best practice, the opportunity to review the reserves and provisions has been 
taken to ensure that any favourable variance is properly applied to manage our 
risks for future years to improve our financial sustainability.   

5.5 The Covid-19 outturn costs of £15,661,000 have increased by £426,000 including 
£748,000 towards capital projects since the March Cabinet report; this is mainly 
due to a change in reporting regarding CCG income in Adults Commissioning to 
accurately show true gross costs of care. 

5.6 The service budgets outturn of £97,211,000 is an adverse variance of 
£10,679,000 including Covid-19 costs of £14,913,000 and SFC compensation of 
£7,661,000 resulting in a pre Covid-19 service favourable outturn position 
for 2020/21 of £4,234,000. 

5.7 Non-service budgets of £12,524,000 as shown in the February 2020 Medium 
Term financial plan are projecting a favourable variance of £11,722,000. This 
includes £7,326,000 of Covid-19 MHCLG tranche grant (from a total of 

45



£9,153,170 of which some was applied to costs and loss of income in 2019/20) 
and Sales, Fees and Charges compensation of £8,016,000. 

5.8 As approved in the 2020/21 budget, £1,519,000 is transferred to general fund 
reserves from the Business rates volatility reserve, this is also increased by a 
further £902,000 to offset future years business rates deficits. As a result, the 
volatility reserve has a balance of £1,652,000 to carry forward into 2021/22.as 
shown in Table 24.  

5.9 MHCLG have announced criteria for the payment of collection fund deficit 
compensation for both council tax and business rates in 2021/22. Appendix A 
includes estimates of the compensation for business rates of £2,601,000 and 
council tax of £23,000 which is carried forward in earmarked reserves to offset 
the future years’ deficits. 

5.10 A transfer of £400,000 has been made to the provision for redundancy and 
borrowing costs show an increased favourable variance of £161,000. Further 
details on the capital financing outturn are given in paragraph 13.26. 

5.11 The underspend of £162,000 during 2020/21 on pension deficit recovery arises 
as a result of the Council prepaying its annual pension deficit payment and 
receiving a discounted rate for doing so.  This has been reported throughout the 
year. 

5.12 A contribution has been made to create a property reserve of £600,000 to fund 
future leasing arrangements and compensate for voids if required.  This reflects 
the fact that we have received some additional property income during the year 
where leaseholders have vacated early, and this money should be used to 
smooth out the impact of changes in tenants. A full breakdown of variances 
against each service area is attached at Appendix A and the reconciliation of the 
variance against the Current 2020/21 Budget is set out in the table below: 

Table 3: Summary 2020/21 Revenue Outturn position including Covid-19 
costs. 

This table is the Directorate summary of the 2020/21 Actual revenue 
outturn including Covid-19 costs. The change from the month 10 cabinet 
report is also shown and further details including the Covid-19 costs are 
given in Appendix A.  

Directorate
Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 10
£000 £000 £000 £000

Managing Director 2,905 2,421 (484) (254)

Law & Governance 0 22 22 22
Adult Health and Commissioning  47,609 53,559 5,950 (182)
Resources Directorate 7,612 8,062 450 (664)

Place Directorate 2,418 7,575 5,157 (449)

Children’s Services  23,176 25,022 1,846 (81)

Contingency and Corporate 2,812 550 (2,262) 28

Total Service Expenditure 86,532 97,211 10,679 (1,580)

Nonservice costs 8,171 7,382 (789) (157)

   Covid-19 funding 0 (2,774) (2,774) 634

46



Directorate
Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 10
£000 £000 £000 £000

   Sales, fees and charges      
compensation 

0 (8,016) (8,016) (107)

   Funding (19,478) (19,621) (143) 626

  Special Expenses (1,217) (1,217) 0 0

Transfer to/(from) Reserves 0 1,043 1,043 (584)

Net Council Tax requirement 
MTFP February 2020

74,008 74,008 0 0

Table 4: Significant service variances over £1,000,000  

SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES OF £1,000,000 ACROSS ALL DIRECTORATES  

SERVICE  MONTH 10 
ACTUALS

OUTTURN 
ACTUALS

Change from 
Month 10

£,000 £,000 £000

Children’s Service Achieving for Children contract 3,425 3,390 (35)

Parking Services 6,450 6,312 (138)

Adult Social Care Income (1,111)  (1,378) (267)

Corporate Management and Contingency (2,290) (2,262) 28

Housing and Environmental Health 1,414 2,004 590

Communities including Leisure 3,200 3,103 (97)

Property Service 958 (31) (989)

TOTAL SIGNIFICANT VARIANCES 12,046 11,138 (908)

5.13 A summary of the significant variances is shown in Table 4 above. Further details 
can be found in the report as detailed below. The movement since Month 10 for 
these significant variance’s totals (£908,000) 

 Children’s services adverse outturn actual of £3,390,000, a movement 
of (£35,000) since month 10 and  is a result of changes in accounting 
treatment, a result of lost income, additional staffing and placement costs 
both during and following the Covid-19 lockdown period, and costs 
transferred to the Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve. Further details are on 
page 21-28 of this report.

 Parking Services adverse outturn actual of £6,312,000, a movement of 
(£138,000) since month 10 and is as a result of lost parking income during 
the Covid-19 pandemic. Sales, Fees and Charges compensation for loss of 
income has been received. Further details are on page 13-15 of this report. 

 Adult Social Care – favourable outturn actual of £1,378,000, a 
movement of (£267,000) since month 10 and is due to reimbursement from 
Frimley Clinical Commissioning Group for costs incurred in assisting hospital 
discharge and preventing hospital admission. Further details on page 6-11
of this report.

 Corporate Management and contingency – favourable outturn actual of  
£2,262,000, a movement of £28,000 since month 10 and includes the 
release of £1,300,000 contingency for unachievable savings that are 
reported within the appropriate service areas, release of Adult Services 
demography of £750,000 as well as £75,000 for corporate savings such as 

47



printing, photocopying, conference fees and travel expenses that have arisen 
due to alternative working arrangements of the workforce during the Covid-
19 pandemic, release of Children’s demography of £368,000 and £343,000 
towards the additional Optalis overheads that are not budgeted for in the 
service. The expenditure for these items is included in the services’ projected 
outturn where required.  

 Housing and Environmental Health – adverse outturn actual of 
£2,004,000, a movement of £590,000 since month 10 and is the increase 
in demand as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic in homelessness and 
temporary accommodation costs. Further details are on page 19 of this 
report.

 Communities – adverse outturn actual of £3,103,000, a movement of 
(£97,000) since month 10 and is as a result of lost income during the Covid-
19 pandemic. Sales, Fees and Charges compensation has been received. 
Further details are on page 20 of this report. 

 Property Service – favourable outturn actual of £31,000, a movement of 
(£989,000) since month 10 and is as a result of property sales and income 
from lease terminations. Further details are shown on page 21 of this report. 

5.14 Savings Tracker 

      The monitoring of built in savings for 2020/21 is shown in the savings tracker 
attached in Appendix B. This shows the savings achieved in 2020/21 as 
£4,554, 000 against a savings target of £7,009,000, resulting in unachieved 
savings of £2,455, 000. 

 Details on the achieved savings in 2020/21 is shown in Appendix B. 

5.15 Covid-19 Sales Fees and Charges (SFC) – Compensation Allocation 

This one-off Covid-19 compensation scheme was introduced by the government to 
compensate local authorities for irrecoverable and unavoidable losses from sales, 
fees and charges income generated in the delivery of services, in the financial year 
2020/21.  

The scheme is devised so that local authorities absorb losses up to 5% of their 
planned 2020/21 sales, fees and charges income, with government compensating 
them for 75p in every pound of relevant loss thereafter. 

Under the terms of the claim the Council has received £5,250,000 during the year 
in cash grant and will claim another £2,766,000 for the period December 2020 to 
March 2021, £8,016,000 in total.   The final amount will not be paid until 2021/22 
but will be accrued for in the accounts. We are assuming that we will receive the 
full amount that we apply for. This specific compensation is detailed in Table 5 
below. 

48



Table 5: Sales, Fees and Charges compensation allocation 

Directorate SFC

£000

Managing Director (4)

Adults Social Care (393)
Commissioning Infrastructure (4,779)
Resources Directorate (528)

Place Directorate (1,813)

Children’s Services  (144)

Capital (355)

Total Sales, Fees and Charges compensation receivable (8,016)

6.    Managing Director’s Directorate Revenue Outturn position 2020/21 

6.1 The Directorate achieved an underspend outturn position of £484,000      
before SFC compensation (Month 10 - £254,000) for the year 2020/21 as 
shown in Table 6 below.   

  Table 6: Managing Director Revenue Outturn position 2020/21 

Managing Director 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 
10

£000 £000 £000 £000
Management and Legal 

Managing Director 277 308 31 (3)

Legal, Magistrates 
Court 

628 564 (64) (14)

Governance

Land Charges Income (237) (305) (68) (83)

Elections, Mayoral and             
Democratic 

1,447 1,303 (144) (40)

Information 177 137 (40) (35)

Facilities 613 414 (199) (79)

Total Managing 
Director

2,905 2,421 (484) (254)

6.2 Areas of Risk & Opportunity (Significant) 

6.3 Managing Director and Legal - one-off senior posts recruitment costs of £42,218 
were incurred during the year. This has been mitigated by a one-off £50,000 saving 
in the shared legal services contract costs and other small savings in Managing 
Director of £9,000.  

6.4  Land Charges Income - As a result of the suspension of the housing market 
(Covid-19 pandemic), the demand for land charges services fell during the first 
quarter of the year. A gradual recovery since the market reopened has accelerated 
in the last quarter of the year, thought to be as a result of the stamp duty holiday 
extension. The income deficit of £15,000 reported at month 10 is now a surplus of 

49



£60,000, resulting in a change to the variance against the forecast of £75,000. This 
was based on the best information that we had at the time of making the forecast. 

6.5  Elections, Mayoral and Democratic – anticipated costs across these services 
has reduced by £40,000 since month 10.  Additional activity savings in Civic & 
Mayoral costs were £16,000 and the anticipated Covid-19 cost of “Digital Poll 
Clerk” reported at month 10 of £13,000 can now be recovered as part of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) election costs.  

6.6 Member’s Allowances and Expenses (included above) – not all potential 
Special Responsibility Allowances positions were filled individually during the year, 
and members received only the highest allowance if they held more than one 
position, saving £62,000. Savings on other Members’ Expenses including travel 
costs were £19,000 (month 10 £10,000). 

6.7 Elections – savings this year include the postponement of parish and district by-
elections until 2021/22, releasing budgets set aside for that purpose of £27,000. 

6.8 Information Service – the outturn position for this service has improved by £35,000 
since   month 10.  This movement was attributed to the receipt of new government 
grant funding in March 2021 of £13,000 and salary savings of £12,000. 

6.9 Facilities – vacancy and overtime savings of £52,000 were above that forecast in 
Month 10 (£35,000). The pressure on the Desborough suite income of £28,000 
forecast at month 10 has been mitigated to some extent by property savings of 
£13,000. Other small savings combined to increase the overall facilities underspend 
at year end by £49,000 since the forecast at month 10.  

6.10 Demand for printing services and stationery has fallen dramatically as a result of 
Covid-19 restrictions. Savings on costs were £125,000 at year end (month 10 
£100,000).  

7. Adults Health & Commissioning Directorate Outturn 2020/21 

7.1 The Directorate outturn position is an overspend of £204,000 before SFC 
compensation for the year 2020/21, an adverse movement of £25,000 since 
Month 10 as shown in Table 7 below.   

           Table 7: Director & Support Revenue budget position 

Service Area 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 
10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Director & Support Teams 

Communications & Marketing 439 479 40 (5)

Transformation & Systems 268 253 (15) 0

Director, Procurement & Partnerships 427 538 111 28

Modern Records, Coroners & support   539 620 81 14

Adult Social Care Commissioning & Support 591 578 (13) (12)

Government Grant Income (814) (814) 0 0
Total – Director & Support teams 1,450 1,654 204 25

50



7.2 Director & Support Teams 

   The pressure on the Communications & Marketing budget arises from a reduction 
in income generated by the Guildhall and film and advertising licences, due to the 
Covid-19 restrictions.  Budget pressure in the Coroners service (a joint arrangement 
across Berkshire) of £81,000 is partly offset by a number of minor savings in other 
budgets. 

   For Adult Social Care Commissioning and Support a pressure was being reported 
of £15,000; however, within the final month of the year additional income has been 
received which has reduced this variance to £12,000. The additional income 
pertained to a backdated claim for shared care of £25,000. 

 Shared care is where Adult Social care and the CCG split fund a placement for 
example a customer may have health and care needs and it is agreed that we pay 
50% of the costs each. Normally the council would pay the provider and reclaim the 
money from the CCG, this relates to an historic case and the council submitted a 
backdated claim to the CCG for their element of the care which they paid prior to 
year-end. 

   In line with government guidance, the Council supported providers of Adult Social 
Care to meet the additional costs they were incurring in dealing with the Covid-19 
pandemic. Support payments of circa £1,323,000 have been made during 2020/21 
and been reimbursed by Frimley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). A further 
tranche of funding was passed to RBWM to make further payments to care homes 
relating to Lateral Flow testing. The distribution of these additional funds took place 
in February and March. These costs are in addition to the specific costs covered by 
the Infection Control Grant.  It should be noted that an additional grant for this 
purpose will be available in 2021/22; an amount of £1,150,000 has been received 
for this purpose in April 2021. This funding will again be distributed to providers of 
care so will be cost neutral for the council. 

7.3 Adult Social Care 

   The total Adult Social Care net budget for 2020/21 was £35,619,000. The Outturn 
position for Adult Social care is an underspend of £1,378,000 before SFC 
compensation; this is a favourable movement of £267,000 since the period 10 
Cabinet Report. The reasons for the variation are detailed in tables 8 and 9 below.

Table 8 - Reconciliation of movement from Period 10 to Outturn  

Mental Health services – planned placements not 
materialised £174,000, dates of placements due to start 
were moved back resulting in a saving of-£22,000, other 
£59,000 

Difference £ 

(£255,000) 

Learning Disability services –related to a legal case -
Housing Solutions – increased provision to pay 
outstanding bills for provider od Supported Living for LD 
clients 

£331,000 

Older Adults and PD – additional income from CCG 
and other minor variations  

(£125,000) 

51



Other Adult Services- Optalis Admin and Support and 
management variances  

(£218,000) 

TOTAL (£267,000) 

    Table 9: Adult Social Care 2020/21 Revenue Outturn Position 

Summary 
Type

Care Group / Service 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
outturn 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 
10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Summary Position

Exp RBWM Expenditure budgets 16,030 16,850 820 688
Inc RBWM Income budgets (13,387) (15,061) (1,674) (159)
Optalis Optalis Contract -Total 32,976 32,452 (524) (258)

Adult Social care services 
budgets 

35,619 34,241 (1,378) (267)

Commissioning & Support 591 578 (13) (12)
Total Adult Social Care Net 
Budget

36,210 34.819 (1,391) 255

  The cost of providing homecare and direct payments has exceeded budget by 
£596,000 due to increased demand. The pressure on the domiciliary care budget 
has been offset by additional income from both the Better Care Fund (BCF) and 
Frimley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The income received has been 
provided to facilitate hospital discharge and to prevent hospital admissions. The 
estimated income receivable from the CCG has increased as the Department of 
Health and Social Care (DHSC) announced that reimbursements will continue into 
the next financial year. Allowance for additional income was made when setting the 
budget for 2021/22. The net underspend after taking into account all income on 
domiciliary services is £296,000, a favourable movement of £23,000 since the 
period 10 Cabinet report. Further detail on the income received from the CCG in 
2020/21 is shown in Table 10 below. 

Table 10: Summary of Clinical Commissioning income received in 2020/21

Purpose of income £’000
BCF -Minimum contribution 9,428 
COVID related spend 2,099 
Shared Care reimbursement  109 
COVID – Provider Support 1,332 
FNC and Other 1,444 

TOTAL INCOME 14,412

   The number of residents supported in long term care in nursing and residential 
homes had reduced significantly due to the impact of Covid-19. The numbers have 
started to increase during the latter part of the financial year. Due to the lower 
number of residents, gross expenditure for the year on residential and nursing care 
is below budget by £220,000, a movement of £72,000 since period 10. With lower 
placement numbers there has been a reduction in income from client contributions 
of £387,000, giving a net pressure of £167,000, which is a positive movement of 
£4,000 since period 10. As with domiciliary care, income from the CCG provided to 
facilitate hospital discharge and to prevent hospital admissions continued to the end 

52



of the financial year and will further continue into the first 6 months of 202122. The 
total related CCG income is £2.099m the net underspend in long term residential 
and nursing care is £1,129,000 a movement of £125,000 from Period 10 as shown 
in Table 8 above. 

7.4    Learning Disability 

Table 11: Learning Disabilities services 

Summary 
Type

Care Group / Service 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual Outturn 
Variance 

Change 

from 
Month 

10
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Learning Disability (LD)

Optalis Residential; Nursing; 
Supported Living block 

1,838 2,252 414 600

Optalis Residential & Nursing care 
- spot 

5,506 5,251 (255) (174)

Exp Residential & Supported 
Living - Optalis Provider 

3,419 3,047 (372) 0

Optalis Supported Living - spot 3,698 3,444 (254) (258)
Optalis Day & Other Care - 

Optalis Provider 
2,347 2,528 181 373

Optalis Income from charges (1,463) (1,221) 242 0
Optalis Other Income (598) (540) 58 0
Inc LD Other income (598) 42 77 1

Learning Disability Total 15,508 15,411 (67) 331

Expenditure on Learning Disability (LD) services can vary significantly from budget 
due to the acuity of need of people needing care and support. The financial outturn 
is an underspend of £67,000, a negative movement of £331,000 from the previous 
Period 10 Cabinet report. Please see Table 11 above. 

7.5 Mental Health and other care 

Table 12: Mental Health Services  

Summary 
Type

Care Group / Service 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 

Change 

from 
Month 10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Mental Health (MH)

Optalis Mental Health services 2,442 2,536 94 (57) 

Optalis Mental Health Team 1,144 1,133 (11) 16 

Optalis Mental Health Income (421) (463) (42) 0 

Overall Mental Health Total 3,165 3207 42 (235)

Pressures have continued to increase on all the care budgets for people with mental 
health issues, as anticipated given the current pandemic and restrictions.  Following 
a detailed review of mental health service users, the outturn position for Mental 
Health is a pressure of £42,000, a favourable variation of £235,000 from the 
anticipated position as at Period 10. 

. 

Table 13: Income and Expenditure for RBWM and Optalis 

53



Summary 
Type

Adult Social Care Summary 

Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 

Change 

from 
Month 10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Adult Social Care 

Exp RBWM Expenditure budgets 16,030 16,850 820 688
Income RBWM Income Budgets (13,387) (15,061) (1,674) (159)
Optalis Optalis Contract  32,976 32,452 (524) (261)

TOTAL Adult Social Care  35,619 34,241 (1,378) (267)

7.6 Transformation Savings 

The Adult Social Care transformation plan for 2020/21 identified a number of 
savings. The savings for 2020/21 were a £495,000 saving on Older Adults spot 
purchased nursing care and a further £120,000 to deliver assistive technology 
solutions in people’s home, thereby reducing the need for Home Care visits. Covid-
19 has caused some delays in the delivery of these plans; however, they are 
currently being worked on by the overarching Transformation Board. Plans are now 
in place for delivery of the savings in 2021/22. These will be closely monitored in the 
new financial year. 

7.7 Public Health and Better Care Fund 

The Public Health budget is fully funded by the £4,933,000 ring-fenced Public 
Health Grant. Underspends on this budget must be carried forward in a public health 
reserve. At year end various underspends were identified across the Public Health 
Portfolio and these have now been carried forward into the Public Health reserve 
for use in 2021/22 as shown in Appendix I. £179,400 will be carried forward into 
the new financial year. 

The Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant also sits within Public 
Health. This grant is specifically to deal with issues arising from the pandemic and 
was awarded for use over two financial years i.e. 2020/21 and 2021/22. The amount 
spent in 2020/21 on this grant was £468,000 while the balance being carried forward 
into 2021/22 for COMF is £3,366,000. The COMF grant is detailed in the table 
below.  The grant was only awarded part way through this financial year which is 
why there is expected to be more spend in the new financial year compared to 
2020/21. 

The Better Care Fund is a budget held in partnership with the CCG and is accounted 
for in totality in the Council’s accounts as a pooled arrangement.  Variances to 
planned spend on individual projects are shown in the service area to which that 
project relates. All decisions on spend are taken by the multi-agency Integrated 
Commissioning Board. 

The Better Care Fund is mandated to include the Local Authority’s capital income 
in respect of Disabled Facilities Grant. This income must be spent on items of a 
capital nature within the purposes for which the grant is allocated. Expenditure on 
disabled facilities is below budget forecasts due in part to the Covid-19 restrictions 
and therefore this income will be carried forward within the BCF to the following 
financial year. The total amounts to be carried forward in the pooled fund are 

54



£2,000,000 including the 2021/22 inflationary element and existing reserves. The 
majority of this is ring fenced for specific use in either the CCG or RBWM and 
includes the unspent capital DFG Grant of £475,000. 

Table 14: Public Health Grant and Better Care Fund 

Service Current 
Budget

Actual 
Outturn

Actual Outturn 
Variance

Change from 
Month 10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Public Health – gross spend 4,933 4,754 (179) (79)

COMF Grant 468 468 0

Total expenditure 4,933 5,222 289

Public Health Grant  (4,933) (4,933) 0 0

Better Care fund – 
expenditure 

15,286 14,978 (308) (462)

Better Care fund income (14,055) (13,747) 308 462

8.    ADULTS COMMISSIONING & INFRASTRUCTURE REVENUE OUTTURN 
2020/21 

Commissioning & Infrastructure Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

The Commissioning – Infrastructure budgets include budgets for the provision of 
the car parking service, highways, street cleaning, transport, grounds 
maintenance and waste. 

8.1 Commissioning and Infrastructure outturn position is an overspend of 
£7,124,000 for the year 2020/21 before SFC compensation, a movement since 
month 10 of £60,000.  

 Analysis of the outturn is shown in table 15 below: 

Table 15: Commissioning Infrastructure Outturn 2020/21 

Infrastructure & Other 

Current 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commissioning – Infrastructure: 

Parking Income (10,334) (3,944) 6,390 (62)

Parking Expenditure including 
operations

3,277 3,199 (78) (76)

Highways and other Commissioned 
Infrastructure 

7,011 7,969 958 124

Waste 9,356 9,210 (146) 74

Total 9,310 16,434 7,124 60

8.2 Areas of Risk & Opportunity (Significant) 

55



8.3 Car Parking. Car parking income has been significantly impacted by an 
unprecedented reduction in demand as a result of the Covid-19 emergency.  
Savings of £730,000 built into the budget in 2020/21 were unachievable this year.  

The adverse variance at the end of the financial year for all car parking income was 
£6,390,000. This was a slight improvement against the forecast at month 10 of 
£60,000particularly in Windsor in March.   

The Council has claimed £4,443,000 of SFC losses relating to the reduction in car 
parking income for 2020/21. This is not included in the outturn above. 

Activity savings (reduced cash collection costs, maintenance and running costs of 
car parks) and late refunds from parking partners resulted in overall savings on 
operations of £76,000 at year-end. 

8.4 Highways – provision has been made at year end for disputed contract costs of 
£250,000. This has been mitigated to some extent by other small favourable 
variances across a number of areas. 

9. RESOURCES DIRECTORATE REVENUE OUTTURN 2020/21 

 9.1     Resources Directorate outturn position is an overspend of £450,000 for the year 
2020/21 before SFC compensation; this is a favourable movement of £664,000 
since month 10.

9.2       Undeliverable savings within the directorate amount to £100,000 and relate to parking 
permit income. Delays to savings delivery within Libraries and Residents services 
have been mitigated from activity related savings in year (£100,000). 

Analysis of the outturn is shown in table 16 below: 

Table 16: Resources Revenue budget position 

Resources 
Current 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 10

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Director of Resources 210 192 (18) (14)

R&B Management and 
Administration

1,026 1,087 61 (22)

Operational Support incl. Parking 
and Permits 

(180) (80) 100 (30)

Registrars (320) 74 394 94
Libraries & Residents Services 2,763 2,793 30 (39)

R, B, L&RS Total 3,289 3,874 585 3
Housing Benefits 91 (61) (159) (728)
HR, Corporate Projects and IT 2,575 2,528 (47) (16)
Finance 1,332 1,371 39 (56)
Corporate Management 115 158 43 147
Total Resources 7,612 8,062 450 (664)

9.3 Areas of Risk & Opportunity (Significant) 

56



9.4 Revenues and Benefits Management & Administration –  

Magistrates’ courts have re-opened but hearings are on-line and there are limits to 
the numbers of cases that can be brought. The previous closure of the courts has 
meant that fees charged to help fund the costs of the Council Tax and Business 
Rates recovery service were impacted. The income lost, as a result of this, in  
2020/21 was £352,000 (month 10 forecast £368,000).   

9.5 Registrars – this service has also been impacted by the Covid-19 lockdown as a 
significant source of income from weddings has been prohibited or restricted. 
The knock-on effects will continue into 2021/22 and beyond as postponed and 
rebooked ceremonies from 2020/21 take up slots available in 2021/22 and 
2022/23.    The number of slots is determined by the availability of registrars to 
perform ceremonies as well as the availability of venues. 

9.6 Housing Benefits (HB) – HB subsidy recovery against benefits paid was 
98.22%, ahead of budget (96.65%). Subsidy recovery is dependent on multiple 
conditions and as the users of the service are in constant flux, the recovery rate 
is difficult to predict during the year.  The budget is set in recognition of this 
uncertainty.  An accrual of £363,000 for rent allowances costs was not required 
in year.  Both factors resulted in a favourable actual variance of £164,000, a 
movement of £740,000 since the forecast at month 10.  It should be noted this is 
against a rent allowances budget of £25,769,201 and therefore represents 2.83 
%age variance. 

9.7 Movement to provision for bad and doubtful debt –the Council has reviewed the 
provision for bad and doubtful debt, and this has been increased by £542,000 
(month 10 forecast £477,000).   The council has reviewed the methodology of 
providing for bad debt to take into account not just the age of debt but also the 
type of recovery route for the debt.  The provision now represents 62% of debt 
(£4,010,545) at 31st March 2021. This represents the high level of risk inherent in 
this debt.  

9.8      There is a budget for housing benefit overpayment recovery of £755,850.  The move 
to universal credit has seen reducing numbers of housing benefit claimants. 
Although some client groups remain able to claim housing benefits, the target 
£755,850 built into the budget for recovering overpayments is also impacted by the 
reduction in volumes of claimants. The pressure against this budget was £324,794 
at year end, a small improvement on the forecast at month 10 of £378,000.  

9.9 Corporate Management – external audit costs were in excess of budget by 
£114,000 at year end (month 10 £35,000).  These costs are estimated pending the 
final 2019/20 audit report. 

 10.       CONTINGENCY AND CORPORATE REVENUE OUTTURN 2020/21 

   10.1   The contingency budget is made up of a number of risk-based elements that 
represent potential, but uncertain, liabilities known at the time the budget is set in 
February of each year. When these risks become more certain in terms of costs and 
liabilities, budgets will be moved either as in-year or permanent virements to the 
relevant service area. Now that we are at outturn this indicates those risks that did 
not materialise during the year 2020/21. 

57



 Corporate budgets represent those costs not relating to specific services and are 
therefore held centrally so as not to skew service costs unnecessarily. 

Analysis of the contingency and corporate budget movements follows in Table 17
below. 

Table 17: Contingency and Corporate budget position 

Contingency & Corporate Current 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn

Actual Outturn 
Variance

Change from 
Month 10

£000 £000 £000 £000
Corporate Contingency:

Demographic growth Adults 750 0 (750) 0
Adults Contractual 331 0 (331) 0
Demographic growth 
Children’s 

431 0 (431) 0

Savings Delivery 1,300 0 (1,300) 0
Contract costs 0 0 0 0

Total Contingency 2,812 0 (2,812) 0
Corporate Budgets 0 550 550 28

Total Contingency and 
Corporate Budgets:

2,812 550 (2,262) 28

10.2 Other Corporate Budgets – some additional corporate costs relating to the 
Covid-19 emergency were identified and recoded to corporate budgets at the end 
of the year.  This resulted in a small increase of costs against the forecast in 
month 10. Corporate costs relate to transformational project costs, previously 
funded from allowable capital receipts. These were moved to be funded from 
revenue in year releasing capital funding for future projects.

11. PLACE DIRECTORATE REVENUE OUTTURN 2020/21 

Place Directorate overspent by £7,575,000 for the year 2020/21; this is a 
favourable movement of £449,000 since month 10 before SFC compensation.
Analysis of the overspend follows in Table 18 below: 

Table 18: Place Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

Place Current 

Budget 

Actual 

Outturn

Actual Outturn 

Variance

Change from 

Month 10

 £000  £000 £000  £000

Executive Director Place 245 191 (54) (8)

Housing and Environmental Health: 

Housing 1,423 3,506 2,083 580

Environmental Health 913 831 (82) 10

Total Housing and Environmental 

Health 

2,335 4,339 2,004 590

Planning 1,110 1,276 166 121

Communities: 

Licencing/Enforcement Team (444) (298) 146 (28)

Leisure Centres Concession 

Contract 

(2,799) 535 3,334 280

Communities Other 3,222 2,845 (377) (349)

Total Communities (21) 3,082 3,103 (97)

58



Place Current 

Budget 

Actual 

Outturn

Actual Outturn 

Variance

Change from 

Month 10

 £000  £000 £000  £000

Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Transport: 

Visitor Management 88 265 177 29

Other Infrastructure, Sustainability 

& Transport  

1,350 1,142 (208) (95)

Total Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Transport 

1,438 1,407 (31) (66)

Property: 

Industrial and Commercial Estates (3,211)  (3,318) (107) (842)

Other Property including 

Development and Regeneration 

522 598 76 (147)

Total Property (2,689) (2,720) (31) (989)

Total Place 2,418 7,575 5,157 (449)

11.1 Areas of Risk & Opportunity (Significant) 

Homelessness – the pressure on this service has been significant this year as a 
result of the Covid-19 emergency. The additional government directive to house all 
homeless in March 2021 (“Everyone in”) and ensuring social distancing within 
temporary accommodation provision (moving clients out of John West House) has 
added to the complexity of providing not only accommodation but support services 
to multiple sites.  There has also been a general increase in demand for housing 
services. This increased demand cost the Council an additional £1,199,000 this year 
(month 10 £1,257,000).  

Additional legacy costs of £65,000 and housing benefit repayments of £134,000 
were additional costs at year end not included in the month 10 forecast. 

High staff turnover within the Accommodation Team and wider Housing Service, 
resulted in financial information not being readily available or up to date for 
forecasting overall during the year. Additional staff and new processes were in place 
by the end of the year, and detailed investigation identified additional costs within 
unpaid purchase orders, of £365,000.  

The outturn variance for housing is shown in detail in Table 19 below:

Table 19: Housing Revenue Outturn Summary 2020/21 

Housing Revenue Outturn 

Actual Outturn 

Variance

£000

Housing 2,083

Breakdown of outturn overspend: 

Covid-19 related:

Additional Temporary Accommodation and support costs 1,199

Covid-19 Next Steps grant funding (145)

Non-Covid-19 related:

Temporary Accommodation net costs above budget 620

Increase in Bad debt provision 95

Provision for Legacy costs 145

59



Housing Revenue Outturn 

Actual Outturn 

Variance

£000

HB Overpayments 134

Homelessness grant funding lower than budget 37

Other Housing services (2)

Total of Breakdown 2,083 

11.2 Planning – planning fees had remained on target for much of the year.  During 
the last quarter demand reduced significantly and at the year-end there was an 
adverse variance of £133,000 for planning income.   This budget has been 
extremely volatile during the financial year. 

11.3 Leisure centres concession contract – The impact of the Covid-19 lockdown 
and closure of leisure centres made the Parkwood contract financially 
unsustainable. The contract with Parkwood to provide leisure services on behalf 
of RBWM was therefore terminated on 31 July 2020.  Leisure Focus, the new 
provider, took over the provision of leisure services on 1 August 2020. The 
pressure in 2020/21 as a result of this change is £2,838,000. Further details can 
be found in the Part 2 Cabinet report on Leisure Services – Cabinet 25 June 
2020. 

SFC compensation of £1,665,000 was claimed during the year in relation to this lost 
leisure income. This income is not included in the outturn above. 

Additional leisure costs incurred relating to continued support for the leisure 
contractor due to the Covid-19 lockdown and for the management of 4 Marlow Road 
totalled £202,000. 

Communities - Parks and countryside were forecasting at month 10 a pressure on 
cemeteries income of £50,000. Late receipts from undertakers in the last two 
months of the year turned this pressure into a £125,000 surplus – a movement of 
£175,000. 

COMF grant funding of £72,000 has covered staffing costs for officers involved in 
the track and trace project resulting in a saving to the Council.  

11.4 Visitor Management – the Visitor Management Service has been impacted by 
Covid-19 restrictions during 2020/21.The visitor information centre has remained 
closed since Lockdown 1.0 and as a result no income was achieved over the 
summer months. The subsequent national lockdowns have also impacted online 
ticket sales and commissions. The usual annual marketing activity has not 
happened during this financial year and income through advertising sales has not 
been achieved. Over £55,500 income was achieved against a target of £80,000 in 
Visit Windsor membership fees from businesses in a position to pay part or all of 
what they committed for the year. 

Lost income as a result of Covid-19 is lower than the last forecast by £8,000 and 
activity cost savings related to sales have come in higher than expected, reducing 
the overspend in 2020/21 to £177,000 from £206,000.  

11.5 Industrial and commercial estates (I&CE) – Covid-19 has had and is expected 
to continue to have a significant impact on the Council’s rental income from its 
commercial portfolio. Closed businesses, and those that have furloughed staff, 

60



have limited ability to generate cash to pay their commercial rent.  Payment plans 
and other arrangements were negotiated with tenants aimed at securing long 
term recovery of rental income and minimising voids.  

This work by the service resulted in a lower than expected increase in the bad debt 
provision for I&CE at year end. The provision was increased by £303,032 (month10 
forecast £442,000).  

Early lease release fees received in the last Quarter amounted to £162,000 
unbudgeted income. Compensation for loss of rent at Sienna court of £500,000 was 
also agreed before the end of the year.  

The forecast overspend of £735,000 at month 10 in this service, has now become 
a surplus of £107,000.  

11.6 Other Property – one-off additional management fees of £300,000 were built into 
the budget for 2020/21. The planning application to which this relates, was not 
submitted by the developer before the end of 2020/21 resulting in a £300,000 
adverse variance.  

This has been mitigated in part by £166,000 unbudgeted covenant income 
receivable in the last quarter of the year and additional early lease release fees 
received of £193,000.

12. CHILDREN’S SERVICES REVENUE OUTTURN 2020/21 

12.1 Children’s Services Directorate overspent by £1,846,000 for the year 2020/21 
before SFC compensation, this is a favourable movement of £81,000 since 
month 10.  The overall budget for Children’s Services including the Dedicated 
Schools Grant is £88,163,000 with a net variance of £3,421,000 of which £1,575,000 
is offset to the Dedicated School deficit representing £765,000 in year-deficits and 
£810,000 of outstanding grant funding receipts. Resulting in a net overspend on 
Children’s Services of £1,846,000. The financial position for 2020/21 is set out in 
Table 20.  

12.2 The updated reported variance has reduced favourably by a net £81,000 compared 
to the previous position reported to Cabinet on 25 March 2021. There have been a 
number of material movements as reflected below: 

 Reduced contributions for historical school related Premature Retirement 
Costs (£42,000) 

 Receipt of backdated HMRC employer related tax rebate (£40,000) 
 Reduced cost of provision for Home to School Transport during Winter term 

relating to impact of Covid-19 (£36,000) 
 Receipt of additional one-off grants (£35,000) 
 Increased cost of Placements including two further high cost placements agreed 

in the final quarter of 2020/21 £54,000  
 Increased Legal Services recharge reflecting more cases and increasing 

complexity in some of those cases in the final quarter of 2020/21 £41,000 

Table 20: Children’s Services budget position 2020/21 

61



Service 
Current 
Budget 

£000
Outturn 

£000
Variance 

£000

Change 
from 

Month 10
£,000

Children's Services non-Dedicated Schools Grant 

* Social Care and Early Help 16,698 18,677 1,979 145

* Business Services 3,042 2,982 (60) (45)

* Education 895 991 96 (23)

* Operational Strategic Management 295 568 273 (21)

* Public Health 1,725 1,725 0 0

* Special Educational Needs and Children with 
Disabilities 3,144 2,929 (215) (106)
Children's Services – Retained (2,623) (2,850) (227) (31)

Total Children's Services Non-Dedicated Schools 
Grant

23,176 25,022 1,846 (81)

Dedicated Schools Grant 

* AfC Contract - Dedicated Schools Grant 11,983 13,297 1,314 10

Dedicated Schools Grant – Retained 53,004 53,263 259 731

Dedicated Schools Grant Income (transfer to DSG 
deficit) 

(64,987) (66,560) (1,573) (741)

Total Dedicated Schools Grant 0 0 0 0

Summary Position 

* Achieving for Children Contract 37,781 41,171 3,390 (35)
Children's Services – Retained (2,622) (2,853) (231) 685
Dedicated Schools Grant – Retained 53,004 53,263 259 (731)

Total Children's Services budget 88,163 91,582 3,419 (81)

* denotes budget lines that form part of the Achieving for Children contract 

12.3 The services included within the Children’s Services Directorate are set out below in 
Appendix G.  

12.4 The outturn variance of £1,846,000 consists of the following material variances as set 
in Table 21.

Table 21: Children’s Services material variances 

Children’s Services material 
variances Business 

as Usual
Covid-

19
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 
10

Note

£000 £000 £000 £,000

Total Social Care and Early Help 1,312 667 1,979 145

Total Achieving for Children Other 321 (227) 94 (195)

 Total Achieving for Children 1,633 440 2,073 (50) 1

Children's Services – Retained (258) 28 (230) (35)  2

Total Children's Services Non-
Dedicated Schools Grant

258 (28) 230 (35)

AfC Contract - Dedicated Schools Grant 1,315 0 1,315 10

Dedicated Schools Grant - Retained 260 0 260 (731)

Total Dedicated Schools Grant 1,575 0 1,575 741 4

62



Children’s Services material 
variances Business 

as Usual
Covid-

19
Outturn 

Variance

Change 
from 

Month 
10

Note

£000 £000 £000 £,000

Total Dedicated Schools Grant transfer 
to Reserve

(1,575) 0 (1,575) (741)  5

Total Net Dedicated Schools Grant  0 0 0 0

Total Outturn Variance 1,375 468 1,846 (81)

12.5 Total Achieving for Children non-Dedicated Schools Grant (Note 1) 

The overspend of £2,073,000 comprises of service overspends of £1,633,000 
including £338,000 of incremental costs within the Achieving for Children Contract 
matched by an increased receipt of grants within Children’s Services retained:

 Covid-19 Winter Grant Fund £236,000 
 Covid-19 Wellbeing for Education Grant £26,000 
 School Improvement £76,000 

Additional pressures include: 
o Children in Care Placement change in accounting treatment resulting in 

drawdown not to be processed between RBWM and Achieving for Children 
resulting in an adverse impact on Achieving for Children reported outturn 
variance of £368,000 

 Children in Care Placements £149,000  
 Employee and operational related costs including the increased contribution to 

the Local Government Pension Fund and other staffing costs £694,000 
 Legal services contract overspend due to increased complex cases of £170,000 
 Reduced spend on Home to School Transport as a result of re-commissioned 

contracts (£136,000) 
 Others net £50,000 

These variances total £1,633,000. In addition, the financial impact on the service of 
Covid-19 has been estimated relating to the increased demand on the service and the 
impact on our current business delivery model, table 22 sets out the Covid-19 related 
pressures of £440,000; total variance £2,073,000. 

Table 22: Achieving for Children financial impact of Covid-19  
Classification £000 Explanation
Staffing 338 Increased demand on service requiring additional staffing 

and Personal Protective Equipment 
Placements 93 Increased demand on service and impact on placements 

requiring additional levels of care 

Savings 208 Delays in ability to implement placement and premises 
related efficiencies and savings 

Income 207 Loss of income in from lettings, fees and charges for the 
Youth Service, Children's Centres and Outdoor Education 
Activities; Restriction on the ability to charge for 
unauthorised school absenteeism 

Operational (406) 

Reduced Home to School Transport costs during lockdown 
and whilst the "new normal" is embedded; increased 
underspend following further lockdown restrictions and 
impact on schools 

 Total 440 

63



12.6 Children's Services – Retained non-Dedicated Schools Grant (Note 2 & 3) 

The underspend of £230,000 comprises of service net underspends of 
£258,000 mainly relating to the receipt of the following additional grants which 
are matched by incremental costs within the Achieving for Children Contract:
 Covid-19 Winter Grant Fund (£236,000) 
 Covid-19 Wellbeing for Education Grant (£26,000)  
 Intensive Family Support Grant of (£169,000) 
 School Improvement (£76,000) 

The additional grants are partly offset by the following pressures: 
 Reduced grant as a direct result of the re-aging of a number of 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking young people resulting in a 75% 
reduction in Home Office funding, £162,000 

 Adverse impact on the revenue budget of a change in accounting treatment 
of some items previously reported as capital expenditure, £54,000 

 Historical complex case review settlement £50,000 
 Reduced contributions for historical school related Premature Retirement 

Costs (£42,000) 
 Others net £25,000 

These variances total £258,000. In addition, Table 23 sets out the Covid-19 
related pressures of £28,000. 

Table 23: Children’s Retained financial impact of Covid-19  

Classification £000 Explanation
Operational 28 Extension of the contract of a previously identified 

communication tool to ensure robust communications 
with schools  

Total 28 

12.7 Total Dedicated Schools Grant (Note 4) 

The Dedicated Schools Grant overspend of £1,575, 000 consists of three elements. 

An overspend of £1,315,000 relating to the Achieving for Children Services due to 
increased costs relating to the provision of Independent Special schools and other 
associated direct support packages. 

The second element is an underspend of £550,000 relating to RBWM Retained 
Services including Top Up Funding of £400,000 to place children in local mainstream 
and special schools; offset by the Schools Growth Fund underspend due to lower 
levels of pupil growth than funded (£459,000); Early Years Block Private, Voluntary 
& Independent Nurseries clawback settlement 2019/20 (£360,000) due to lower 
levels of take-up. Release of other central operational budget underspends 
(£131,000) including historical rental rebate £77,000.  

The third element relates to deferred Education Skills Funding Agency funding of 
£810,000 in respect of the Early Years Block as set out in note 5. RBWM Retained 
Services expenditure in 2020/21 was based on the recalculated level of grant which 

64



will now be backdated and received in 2021/22; resulting in a funding lag between 
the costs incurred and grant received.  

These Dedicated Schools Grant variances total £1,575,000. 

 Total Dedicated Schools Transfer to Reserve (Note 5) 

To fund the in-year overspend there will be a deficit balance transfer of £765,000 to 
the Dedicated Schools Grant reserve, resulting in a cumulative net carry forward as 
at 31st March 2021 of £1,795,000 (1.5%). This cumulative deficit includes earmarked 
reserves of £134,000; therefore, the non-earmarked deficit is £1,929,000 (1.6%). 

In addition to the £765,000 an adjustment has been transacted in the Dedicated 
Schools Grant reserve for £810,000 relating to the lagged funding element of the 
Early Years Block 2020/21. The total reserve transfer being £1,575,000.  

This adjustment reflects the estimated grant due from the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency (ESFA) relating to the 2020/21 Early Years Block recalculation.  

It had been understood that the backdated payment would be received in 2020/21, 
however, in March 2021 the ESFA advised the allocation would form part of the 
annual recalculation process in July 2021 with funds allocated in 2021/22.  

All local authorities that have a cumulative Dedicated Schools Grant deficit are 
required to submit a recovery plan outlining how they will bring their deficit back into 
balance within a reasonable time frame.  Achieving for Children have been in 
discussions with the DfE and a detailed deficit recovery plan will be presented to 
Schools Forum seeking their agreement.  

13. OTHER REVENUE BUDGET ISSUES 

13.1 Collection Fund

13.2 The majority of Council spending relies on collecting Council Tax and Business 
Rates. The Council’s budgeted share of these two precepts is £88,000,000 in 
2020/21. Collection rates are therefore closely monitored. 

13.3 A total of £89,870,000 million of Council Tax has been collected, equating to a 
collection rate of 93.43% against a target collection rate of 94.8%. Business Rate 
collection was £46,020,000 million equating to a collection rate of 89.55% against a 
target collection rate of 92.00% as shown in Table 24 below. 

13.4 As a result of Covid-19, Government introduced two new forms of Business Rate 
Relief I.e. Nursery Relief and Expanded Retail Relief. £664,000 has been awarded 
to qualifying Nurseries and £38,690,000 to businesses qualifying for the Expanded 
Retail Relief, reducing the Business Rates bill of these premises to £0 for 2020/21. 

13.5 In addition, several Grant schemes were also announced by Government. 
£26,800,000 has been awarded in cash grants for businesses qualifying for the 
Small Business, Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grant Fund and £1,900,000 has 
been awarded under the Discretionary Grant Scheme. A further £7,800,000 has 
been awarded to businesses as a result of the national lockdowns and Tiered 
restrictions since November but claims continue to be received and assessed.  

65



13.6 The 2020/21 Business rates income has a favourable variance of £550,000 
including release of £2,421,000 of business rates provision as stated in the 
February 2020 budget. As a result, the business rates volatility reserve has been 
increased by £902,000. the Council tax income is a nil variance. 

13.7 MHCLG have yet to release the full calculations for the Covid-19 Collection fund 
loss of income compensation scheme, however based on information provided by 
CIPFA the estimated compensation amounts included within our outturn position 
are £2,601,000 for Business rates and £23,000 for Council tax as shown in Table 
24 below. If the actuals from central government vary to the estimates included in 
the outturn the impact will be funded from reserves. 

13.8 MHCLG also implemented a scheme for spreading collection fund deficit over three 
years. This results in a positive impact on the 2021/22 business rates collection 
fund of £2,534,000. 

13.9 The Council’s share of the 2020/21 Collection fund deficit for Business Rates is 
£27,019,110. This is partly offset by section 31 grant that the Council received 
during 2020/21 of £18,807,930.  

13.10 The Council’s share of the 2020/21 Collection fund deficit for Council Tax is 
£397,119. This is offset by section 31 grant of £477,000 received by the Council for 
use against future year’s deficits. Further information on the collection fund is shown 
in Table 24 below.

Table 24: Business Rates and Council Tax Outturn 2020/21 

BUSINESS 

RATES COUNCIL TAX CTS

£ £ £

REVENUE COLLECTION FIGURES 2020/21

Actual Collection 47,988,775.00 93,262,698.00 652,159.00

Collection % 95.19% 96.98% 78.75%

Collection Target % 98.30% 98.50% 83.80%

2020/21 Balance outstanding 2,426,267.00 2,905,823.00 175,963.00

BAD DEBT PROVISION 2020/21

Outstanding debts b/f from 2019/20 933,536.00 1,432,179.00

Bad Debt increase/(decrease) 621,914.00 121,097.00

Write offs (483,736.00) (237,344.00)

Outstanding debts c/f from 2020/21 1,555,450.00 1,553,276.00

GENERAL FUND IMPACTS 2020/21

2020/21 Budget (15,315,000.00) 0.00

Collection fund deficit budget 2,421,000.00 113,000.00

Provision for business rates release (2,421,000.00) 0.00

Covid-19 estimated compensation to be carried 

forward to 2021/22 2,601,135.00 23,000.00

Actual 2020/21 including Covid-19 compensation) (15,865,000.00) 90,000.00

VARIANCE TO BUDGET AS PER APPENDIX A (550,000.00) 0.00

PROVISIONS CARRIED FORWARD TO 2021/22

Volatility reserve (1,652,000.00) 0.00

COVID-19 COLLECTION FUND FUTURE IMPACTS RBWM Share RBWM Share

Collection Fund 2020/21 deficits for 2021/22 27,019,110.00 397,119.00

Section 31 grants carried forward to 2021/22 (18,807,930.00) (477,000.00)

Covid-19 Compensation projection for 2021/22 (2,601,135.00) (23,000.00)

Volatility reserve b/f (1,652,000.00) 0.00

Covid-19 spreading of deficits (2,534,000.00) 0.00

TOTAL FUTURE COLLECTION FUND IMPACTS 1,424,045.00 (102,881.00)

COLLECTION FUND OUTTURN AND COLLECTION RATES 2020/21

66



13.11 Outstanding Sundry Debts 

13.12 The current level of outstanding sundry debts is £7,536,000 as at 31 March 2021, 
this is an increased level of debt of £42,000 since period 10. The age of the debts 
is shown in Table 25 below.  

13.13 The table also shows the debt currently outstanding, up to 6 months old is higher 
than would normally be expected due to Covid-19 and the restraints on our debt 
collection procedures.  

13.14 An increase in the corporate bad debt provision of £288,000 has been included in 
the corporate revenue outturn forecast, this is for corporate debts including 
highways, leisure and commercial property and is shown in Table 25 below: - 

 Table 25: Outstanding Sundry Debts 

13.15 Outstanding Housing Benefit Debtors 

13.16 Outstanding Housing benefit debtors as at 31 March 2021 is shown below. This 
debt has reduced to £3,987, 000 compared to £4,313,283 in the same period of 
2019-20. 

2020/21 OUTSTANDING DEBTS AND BAD DEBT PROVISION REQUIREMENT AS AT 31ST MARCH 2021

SERVICE

 Debt 

Outstanding

Bad Debt 

Provision

2020/21 Debt 

Outstanding 

as at 31st of 

March 2021  <1 month

>1 mth 

and < 6 

months

> 6 

months 

< 1 year

1 to 2 

years > 2 years

Bad Debt 

Provision for 

2020/21

Bad Debt 

provision 

movement 

from 

2019/20 to 

2020/21

2020/21 

Remissions

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000

Education, Youth and Foster 33 21 81 17 0 1 0 63 63 42 634

Schools 0 0 1,075 1,069 3 2 0 1 0 0 0

Housing Loans 313 215 327 1 0 0 11 315 242 27 0

Temporary Accommodation - 

bed & bfast 358 80 449 57 242 36 85 29 148  68 1

Adult Social care 3,371 1,046 3,830 1,004 1,163 429 659 575 1,464 418 381

Adult deferred payments 684 0 601 0 75 105 155 267 191 0 0

Corporate including Highways 

and Leisure 2,236 194 841 435 221 59 80 45 223 29

Commercial Property** 0 0 332 0 119 141 72 0 332  332 1,067

TOTAL DEBT 6,995 1,556 7,536 2,583 1,823 774 1,062 1,295 2,663 916 2,083

 % of outstanding debt 34% 24% 10% 14% 17%

** Commercial  Property has only been identified seperately since 1st April 20

2019/20 2020/21

67



Chart 1: Outstanding housing benefit debtors as at the 31 March 2021 

13.17 Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery 

13.18 Housing benefit overpayment recovery rates are shown in below. The income 
target was reduced in the 2020/21 budget build to make it a realistic target based 
on the 2019/20 projected outturn. The recovery rate for 2020/21 is shown in 
Chart 14 below: - 

Chart 2: Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery 

68



13.19 Revenue Budget Movements 

13.20 There are no further movements to the revenue budget since the March 2021 
cabinet report as shown in Table 26 below. 

Table 26: Revenue budget movement to 31 March for 2020-21
Revenue Monitoring Statement 2020-21

Funded by the 
General Fund 

(1)

Funded by 
Provision 

(2)

Included in the 
original budget

(3) Total Approval
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Original Budget 86,506

Severance 0 26 0 26 Feb 2020 
Council

Changes Approved  0 26 0 26

Approved service 
budget March 2021 
Cabinet

86,532

If additional budget is approved but no funding is specified, the transaction would, by 
default, be funded from the General Fund Reserve. Transactions in column 1 are funded 
by the General Fund. 

13.21 Funding  

Additional Covid-19 funding has been received since 11 March 2020. The grants 
are included in the service Covid-19 projections in Appendix A. The funding 
announcements and details as known to date are detailed in Appendix I.

13.22 The Council has now received a total of £94,283,000 of Covid-19 2020/21 grant 
funding for different purposes across the Council; to date we have spent or 
committed £91,141,000. Income from the sales, fees and charges 
compensation scheme of £2,716,000 is currently unfunded, however the 
expectation is that we will receive funding for all of the fees and charges 
compensation scheme. The payments of £5,250,000 for the first and second 
sales, fees and charges compensation claims were received in November 2020 
and March 2021 in full. 

13.23 Revenue Reserve 

13.24 At 31 March 2020, the Council had general fund reserves of £8,231,000.  The 
outturn position of a £1,043,000 underspend, which includes £15,661,000 of 
Covid-19 costs, results in a general fund reserve of £7,059,000; £689,000 
above the minimum level approved by Council for 2020/21,and £359,000 above 
the new minimum level approved by Council for 2021/22 .  It does need to be 
recognised this is on the basis of receiving all of the SFC income. Usable and 
unusable reserves as well as provisions are shown in Appendix H.

13.25 The NNDR31 reserve of £18,807,930 shown in Appendix H is the Councils 
share of the £40,232,901 S31 grant received and accrued for the Covid-19 
expanded business rates retail relief scheme and as shown in Table 24. This 
reserve will be released at the beginning of 2021/22 to cover RBWM’s share of 

69



the loss of business rates income in the collection fund as a result of the 
payment of these reliefs. 

13.26 As is usual best practice, we have reviewed our reserves and provisions to 
ensure that any positive variance is properly applied to manage our risks for 
future years to improve our financial sustainability.    

Table 27: General Fund reserve projection 

General Fund Reserve at 31.03.2021 £000
Opening Balance 01.04.2020 8,234

One-Off contribution from reserves (2,218)
6,016

Year-end underspend 1,043
Current Projected Balance at 31.03.2021 7,059

13.27 Borrowing Outturn position 2020/21 

13.28 Throughout the year the Council’s borrowing levels have been updated based 
on cash-flow and spending on the capital programme as shown in Appendix 
C. Currently the Council is borrowing temporarily pending anticipated capital 
receipts in future years and short-term interest rates remain low. The details of 
the borrowing for 2020/21 are shown in Table 28 below.  

13.29 The year-end net borrowing position was lower than the previous forecast due 
to additional Covid-19 grant income being received in March. 

13.30 The graph in Appendix F shows the actual amounts borrowed and the gross 
borrowing levels for 2020/21. In the table below the Council’s investment 
balances are offset against the gross amount borrowed to give the net 
borrowing position.   

Table 28: Total Net Borrowing Outturn 2020/21 

14. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

14.1 The gross capital expenditure for the current financial year 2020/21 is shown in 
Table 29. This summarises the outturn position by directorate including reported 
slippage to 2021/22 and any known variances from budget. The Council has 
spent £27,169,000 on capital projects in the current financial year. Additional 
slippage of £9,726,000 has been identified in March across all services, the 

Borrowing Type
Actual Start

Start of Year

Actual 
Reported at 

March 
Cabinet

Actual 
Outturn 

Year End 
Forecast 

Previously 
Reported

£000 £000 £000 £000
Long Term  57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049
Short Term – Local 
Authority 

134,000 66,000 114,000 107,039

Short Term – LEP 33,521 59,884 20,732 30,961
Investments (51,726) (27,458) (20,702) (20,000)

Net Borrowing 172,844 155,475 171,079 175,049

70



largest slippage item this month is £1,926,000 for the Affordable Key Worker 
Housing scheme, due to deferred planning approval to May 2021. Detail on the 
funding of the capital programme is shown in Table 30. 

Table 29: Capital Programme outturn 2020/21 

Gross 
Budget 
2020/21 

Gross  
slippage 

to 
2021/22

Variance 
Gross 

Outturn 
2020/21 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Managing Director 439 (361) 0 78

Place Directorate 36,453 (24,182) 424 12,695
Adults, Health & Commissioning 24,864 (14,552) 151 10,463
Children’s Services 7,073 (3,430) (617) 3,026

Resources 3,230 (2,112) (211) 907

Total 72,059 (44,637) (253) 27,169

14.2 Further detail on the 2020/21 budget is shown in Appendix D. Budget 
movements to arrive at the revised budget are detailed in Appendix E. 

14.3 The movement in projections from March Cabinet and slippage reported to April 
Council by directorate are outlined as follows.  

14.4 Place 

14.5 Property services report an additional £3,500,000 of slippage this month; mainly 
relating to the delay to Affordable Housing schemes due to deferred planning 
approval. 

14.6 An additional £98,000 was spent on disabled facilities grant within the Housing 
service. This is fully funded by the Better Care Fund grant.  

14.7 Adults, Health & Commissioning 

14.8 A further £847,000 of slippage is reported on Commissioning Infrastructure 
schemes. These are a result of Covid-19 delays to Highway works. 

14.9 Local enterprise projects report further slippage of £1,832,000. These schemes 
will now be part corporately funded from 2021/22 due to the ‘swap’ funding 
agreement for 2020/21, further information is given in paragraph 14.19 below. 
The projects are due to complete by March 2022. 

14.10 Children’s Services 

14.11 Schools report further slippage of £1,589,000, largely grant funded with minimal 
impact on borrowing in 2021/22. These schemes will complete during the next 
financial year.  

14.12 Schools schemes that have now completed have achieved a net saving of 
£313,000 which has reduced the impact on borrowing.  

14.13 Resources 

71



14.14 Final scheme slippage of £135,000 is reported this month, with the majority 
relating to IT schemes.  

14.15 Final savings of £210,000 from ICT projects have been achieved.  

14.16 A list of variances and slippage is detailed in Appendix E. 

14.17 Capital Expenditure Financing 

14.18 The £27,169,000 capital expenditure will be funded by the income streams as 
set out in Table 26.

14.19 Local Enterprise projects report further slippage of £1,832,000. The Thames 
Valley LEP have provided full central government funding for all schemes 
including those yet to complete. Project ‘swap funding’ has been provided for the 
three LEP schemes that are currently in progress the condition of early receipt of 
the grant has enabled utilisation of the fund for Braywick Leisure Centre in 
2020/21. LEP schemes in progress will now be corporately funded from 2021/22 
due to the ‘swap', funding agreement. The projects are due to complete by March 
2022 and will comply with the project scope agreed with the Thames Valley Local 
Enterprise Partnership.

Table 30: Capital Programme financing 2020/21 

Capital Programme funding £'000 

Government Grants (17,303)
Developers' Contributions (s106 & 
CIL) (1,356)
Other Contributions (including use of 
Capital fund) (355)

Corporate funding  
(8,155)

Total (27,169)

Table 31: Capital programme status 2020/21  

Outturn 
2021

Number of schemes in programme 236
Yet to start 3%
In progress 59%
Completed 20%
Ongoing programmes e.g. Disabled 

Facilities Grant
18%

15. Transformation Plan funded from flexible reserves 

15.1 The second year of the transformation plan for 2020/21 has a one-off budget of 
£1,000,000, funded from flexible capital receipts; this was approved by Council 
within the budget in February 2020. There is slippage from the 2019/20 
transformation plan of £347,091 and £1,000,000 for 2020/21 resulting in 
£1,347,091 of available budget for transformation in 2021/22. This slippage is 

72



as a result of CIPFA consultancy costs being charged back to revenue as they 
were not for the transformation programme and severance being charged to the 
service to enable the capital receipts to be slipped into 2021/22 as the 
legislation allows.  

15.2 To 31 March 2021, the Council has received £1,347,000 of capital receipts that 
can be allocated to the transformation plan. Further details are shown below in 
Table 32.

Table 32: Transformation Plan actuals and commitments to 31 March 2021. 

TRANSFORMATION CAPITAL SUMMARY 2020/21

PROJECT 
COSTS

STAFF 
SEVERANCE 

COSTS TOTALS
£,000 £,000 £,000

Budget brought forward 56 291 347
Budget 2020-21 500 500 1,000
TOTAL BUDGET 2020-21 556 791 1,347
Actual spend to 31 March 2021 0 0 0
Commitments 0 0 0
TOTAL SPEND and COMMITMENT 
2020-21

0 0 0

SLIPPAGE TO 2021/22 556 791 1,347

TRANSFORMATION FUNDING £,000
Capital receipts received as at 31 
March 2021

1,347

16. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

16.1 In producing and reviewing this report the Council is meeting its legal obligations 
to monitor its financial position.  

17. RISK MANAGEMENT  

17.1 The projected variance will require mitigation to reduce it during the financial year. 

18. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

18.1 Equalities – none 

18.2 Climate change/sustainability – none 

18.3 Data Protection/GDPR – none 

19. CONSULTATION 

19.1 None. 

73



20. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

20.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately.  

21. APPENDICES  

21.1 This report is supported by eight appendices: 

 Appendix A Revenue Monitoring Statement 
 Appendix B Savings Tracker 2020-21 
 Appendix C Capital budget summary 
 Appendix D Capital monitoring report 
 Appendix E Capital budget movements 
 Appendix F Borrowing forecast 
 Appendix G Children’s variance analysis 
 Appendix H Reserve and provisions 
 Appendix I Covid-19 funding summary 

22. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

22.1 This report is supported by one background document: 

 Budget Report to Council February 2020. 

23. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

Name of consultee Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Cllr Hilton Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Ascot 

13/05/21 16/05/21 

Duncan Sharkey Chief Executive 13/05/21  
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
13/05/21 14/05/21 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 13/05/21  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of Children’s 

Services 
13/05/21 17/05/21 

Hilary Hall Executive Director of Adults, 
Health and Commissioning 

13/05/21 14/05/21 

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 13/05/21 14/05/21 
Elaine Browne Head of Law
Emma Duncan Deputy Director of Law and 

Strategy / Monitoring Officer 
13/05/21  

Nikki Craig Head of HR Corporate Projects 
and IT 

13/05/21 17/05/21 

Louisa Dean Communications 13/05/21
Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 13/05/21  

REPORT HISTORY  

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item?

74



For information  No No 

Report Author: Ruth Watkins, Chief Accountant

75



REVENUE OUTTURN STATEMENT 2020/21 Appendix A

Original 

Budget SUMMARY

Revised 

Budget

Actual 

Outturn 

including 

Covid but 

excluding 

SFC 

Actual 

Variance 

including 

Covid but 

excluding 

SFC

Previously 

reported to 

March cabinet 

including Covid-

19

COVID 19 

Outturn 

costs

Change from 

March 21 cabinet 

- excluding SFC 

funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Managing Director

364 Management & Legal 905 872 (33) (16) (7) (17)

2,675 Governance 2,000 1,549 (451) (214) (133) (237)

3,039 Total Managing Director's Directorate 2,905 2,421 (484) (230) (140) (254)

0 Law & Governance 0 22 22 0 0 22

Children's Services

(79) Director of Children's Services (79) 88 167 0 0 167

36,934 Achieving for Children Contract 37,781 41,171 3,390 3,425 440 (35)

52,640 Children's Services - Retained 50,461 50,323 (138) (667) 28 529

(66,310) Dedicated Schools Grant - Income (64,987) (66,560) (1,573) (832) 0 (741)

23,185 Total Children's Services Directorate 23,176 25,022 1,846 1,927 468 (81)

Adults, Health and Commissioning

1,353 Director, Support Teams & Provider support 1,450 1,654 204 179 126 25

7,228 Highways and other Commissioned Infrastructure 7,011 7,969 958 834 595 124

9,365 Waste 9,356 9,210 (146) (220) 59 74

(7,043) Parking Services (7,057) (745) 6,312 6,450 6,332 (138)

35,398 Adult Social Care 35,619 34,241 (1,378) (1,111) 488 (267)

13,288 Better Care Fund - Spend 15,286 14,978 (308) (462) 0 154

4,657 Public Health - Spend 4,933 5,222 289 0 0 289

(16,713) Grant & BCF Income (18,989) (18,970) 19 462 0 (443)

47,533 Total Adults, Health & Commissioning Directorate 47,609 53,559 5,950 6,132 7,600 (182)

Resources

210 Executive Director of Resources 210 192 (18) (4) 0 (14)

2,271 Library & Resident Services 2,263 2,787 524 497 442 27

1,076 Revenues & Benefits 1,026 1,087 61 85 265 (24)

90 Housing Benefit 91 (61) (152) 576 381 (728)

2,574 Human Resources, Corporate Projects & IT 2,575 2,528 (47) (31) 12 (16)

2,805 Corporate Management 115 158 43 (104) 0 147

1,352 Finance 1,332 1,371 39 95 46 (56)

10,378 Total Resources Directorate 7,612 8,062 450 1,114 1,146 (664)

Place

245 Executive Director of Place 245 191 (54) (46) 0 (8)

2,362 Housing & Environmental Health 2,335 4,339 2,004 1,414 1,206 590

1,110 Planning Service 1,110 1,276 166 45 0 121

(5) Communities including Leisure (21) 3,082 3,103 3,200 3,724 (97)

1,335 Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 1,438 1,407 (31) 35 176 (66)

(2,676) Property Service (2,689) (2,720) (31) 958 683 (989)

2,371 Total Place Directorate 2,418 7,575 5,157 5,606 5,789 (449)

0 Contingency and Corporate Budgets 2,812 550 (2,262) (2,290) 50 28

86,506 TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE 86,532 97,211 10,679 12,259 14,913 (1,580)

76



REVENUE OUTTURN STATEMENT 2020/21 Appendix A

Original 

Budget SUMMARY

Revised 

Budget

Actual 

Outturn 

including 

Covid but 

excluding 

SFC 

Actual 

Variance 

including 

Covid but 

excluding 

SFC

Previously 

reported to 

March cabinet 

including Covid-

19

COVID 19 

Outturn 

costs

Change from 

March 21 cabinet 

- excluding SFC 

funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non Service Costs

6,010 Capital Financing inc Interest Receipts and bank charges 6,010 5,088 (922) (770) 0 (152)

162 Environment Agency levy 162 157 (5) 0 0 (5)

4,217 Pensions deficit recovery 4,217 4,055 (162) (162) 0 0

(2,218) Contribution to / (from) Reserves (2,218) (2,218) 0 0 0 0

0 Contribution to / (from) Capital Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 Contribution to Capital 0 300 300 300 0 0

Funding 0 0 0

(15,315) Business rate support (15,315) (15,315) 0 0 0 0

64 Parish Equalisation grant 64 62 (2) 0 0 (2)

(315) Education Service Grant (315) (315) 0 0 0 0

(1,687) Other unringfenced Grant (1,687) (1,687) 0 0 0 0

(2,102) New Homes Bonus (2,102) (2,102) 0 0 0 0

(210) Income from trading companies (210) (210) 0 0 0 0

113 Council tax collection fund deficit 113 (387) (500) 0 0 (500)

0

Transfer of Council tax 21/22 collection fund compensation to 

reserves 0 23 23 0 0 23

0

Transfer of S31 Grant to council tax collection fund deficit 

provision 0 477 477 477

(1,767) Provision for Business rates release (2,421) (2,421) 0 (654) 0 654

1,767 Business rates collection fund deficit 2,421 (730) (3,151) 654 0 (3,805)

0

Transfer of business rates 21/22 collection fund compensation 

to reserves 0 2,601 2,601 0 0 2,601

0 Contribution to NNDR volatility reserve for potential future deficit 0 902 902 0 0 902

0

Contribution from NNDR volatility reserve to Services as per 

February 2020 budget report 0 (1,519) (1,519) (1,519) 0 0

(1,217) Special Expenses (1,217) (1,217) 0 0 0 0

0 Transfer from provision for redundancy (26) 400 426 750 0 (324)

0 Contribution to property reserve 0 600 600 0 0 600

Covid-19

0 Contribution to/(from) Covid-19 reserve as Feb 21 budget report 0 3,485 3,485 3,485 0 0

0

Covid-19 costs unfunded by Covid-19 grant - funded from 

general reserves 0 319 319 (315) 0 633

0 Funding of capital from the Covid-19 funding 0 748 748 748 748 0

0 COVID 19 Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation 0 (8,016) (8,016) (7,909) 0 (107)

0 COVID 19 MHCLG funding 0 (7,326) (7,326) (7,326) 0 0

90,635 TOTAL NON-SERVICE NET COSTS (12,524) (24,246) (11,722) (12,718) 748 995

74,008 NET COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 74,008 72,965 (1,043) (460) 15,661 (584)

0 Transfer to / (from) balances 0 1,043 1,043 460 584

TOTAL INCLUDING TRANSFERS TO/(FROM) 

BALANCES 74,008 74,008 0 0 0

General Fund

Opening Balance 8,234

Contribution to / (from) Reserves (2,218)

Budget Transfers (from) Balances 0

6,016

Transfers (from) Balances, Variance 1,043

Budget General Fund Outturn 7,059

77



Appendix B

RBWM SAVINGS 20/21
General Information Financials

Month

Savings 

Ref / 

FYE

Directorate Service MTFP Savings Title
How will savings 

be achieved?
Lead Officer

 2020/21 

Savings 

Target

£000 

% of target 

full year 

forecast

Overall 

Perfomance 

RAG Explanation of Current Savings Forecast and Remedial Action planned to address underperformance and 

Mitigation Strategies

(must be completed for all savings that have an amber or red overall performance RAG)

Actual Saving 

2020/21

£000

Savings 

Forecast 

£000

Yes / No 

Covid 

impact

2020/21 2021/22

Saving not 

achievable at 

all

1 B4 Optalis Contract  Review of posts in Optalis Staffing Lynne Lidster                31 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           31                   31 No No No No

2 B4 Commissioning & Support Review of posts in commissioning function Staffing Dan Brookman                20 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           20                   20 No No No No

3 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Transform youth and early years services to be targeted at the most 

vulnerable

Staffing Kevin McDaniel              450 66% GREEN Loss of income in Youth Service, Children's Centres and Outdoor Education Activities due to COVID19 £184,000. RBWM 

Property Company have identified delays in achieving property related savings in light of COVID19 £85,000.  Following 

Cabinet April 2020 there was a subsequent decision to "call in" the proposed transformation of the community hubs. This 

will lead to a delay in implementation, now planned as 01-05-21.

                        299                 299 Yes No No No

4 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Optimise the provision of carers services Contracts Lynne Lidster                75 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           75                   75 No No No No

5 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Optimise the delivery of the supported employment service by integration 

with council-owned services 

Contracts Lynne Lidster              166 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                         166                 166 No No No No

6 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Deliver befriending service in a new and different way Contracts Lynne Lidster                35 0% GREEN Decision to extend the befriending service for three months in the light of Covid-19 and requirement for more befriending 

services for residents to deal with the current crisis.

                  -   Yes No Yes No

7 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Deliver adult social care transformation programme Contracts Hilary Hall              495 100% GREEN This saving was originally going to be achieved due to transforming services within Adult Social Care. The Pandemic has 

made this difficult  in this challenging year. In late 2020 the saving was redefined to be made from Older Adult Nursing 

placements, at the end of the year those savings have been achieved 

                          -                     -   Yes No Partial No

8 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Optimise the delivery of the Recovery College Contracts Anna Richards                35 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           35                   35 No No No No

9 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Implement technology enabled care across adult services Contracts Dan Brookman              120 100% GREEN The technology was identified and purchased and is currently awaiting allocation to the appropriate service users. The 

process was delayed due to the panademic, however,  overall this saving was achieved on 20/21

                        120                 120 No No No No

10 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Optimise costs of placements for children in the care of the local authority Other Kevin McDaniel              700 101% GREEN                         710                 710 Yes Yes Yes No

11 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Optimise the delivery of health checks Other Anna Richards                10 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           10                   10 No No No No

12 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Allocation of Public Health reserve to meet current needs Other Anna Richards                46 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           46                   46 No No No No

13 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Introduce an online financial assessment for adults to calculate financial 

contributions for care and support

Other Hilary Hall                -   RED Initial scoping work has taken place in 20-21 with an intention to implement in 21-22. Progress has been made to date, 

supplier have been spoken to and a decision will be made shortly to procure.

                          -                     -   Yes No Partial No

14 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Remove additional local authority support for school improvement in 

Academy schools

Other Kevin McDaniel                20 100% GREEN Savings delivered.                           20                   20 No Yes Yes No

15 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Recruitment drive to improve Social Worker workforce stability and 

outcomes

Staffing Kevin McDaniel              100 100% GREEN Savings delivered.                         100                 100 Yes Yes Yes No

16 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Legal savings in Achieving for Children Staffing Kevin McDaniel                25 0% RED Due to issues with contractual charging rates it was agreed not to move to the proposed new supplier, therefore, saving are 

not going to be delivered in 2020/21.  Current provider contract extended from 01-04-20 with ongoing discussions relating 

to increased contract efficiencies with the expectation that savings will be delivered for 2021/22.

                          -                     -   No No No Yes

17 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Operational efficiency within the Achieving for Children finance team Staffing Kevin McDaniel                25 100% GREEN Savings delivered.                           25                   25 No No No No

18 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Delete a vacant post in the Achieving for Children Management team Staffing Kevin McDaniel              110 100% GREEN Savings delivered.                         110                 110 No No No No

19 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

Re-focus Community Wardens on problem solving, acheiving staff savings Staffing David Scott              180 100% GREEN Restructure being implement wef 6 April, full saving will ot be in place until 1st june so 10 month saving should be 

achieved. 

                        180                 180 No No No No

20 B6 Library & Resident Services Focus customer service in Windsor at Windsor Library

Increase the use of 24/7 digital options on the council website

Align Library opening hours to service demand

Align call centre opening hours to service demand

Staffing Angela Huisman              220 0% RED The changes to make the following savings have already been implemented: York House  £75K, Digital Channel Shift £20k, 

Contact Centre reduction in opening hours  £25K.  £100K is due to be made by reducing opening hours at libraries. The 

Public Consultation has been delayed by Covid-19 and will now be concluded in April 21. The savings unachieved will be 

mitigated fully in year from staff vacancies.  To achieve them in 21/22, openig hours will need to be formally reduced. 

                          -                     -   Yes Yes Yes No

21 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

Removal of PCSO funding Staffing David Scott                74 100% GREEN Notice given. Expect saving to be achieved in full.                           74                   74 No No No No

22 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

WAM Get Involved support Grants David Scott                33 100% GREEN SLA ends in june so saying should be delivered.                           33                   33 No No No No

23 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

STRIVE Grants David Scott                 8 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                            8                     8 No No No No

24 B4 Communications Deliver system efficiencies through the new customer relationship 

management system

Contracts Louisa dean                25 100% GREEN CRM and CMS project have started with a project plan. Target date for completion is August 2020                            25                   25 No No No No

25 B3 Communities, Enforcement and 

Partnerships

Review grant payments in line with developing voluntary sector funding 

strategy

Grants Karen Shepherd              100 100% GREEN Grants offered now based on reduced budget                         100                 100 No No No No

26 B5 Communities, Enforcement and 

Partnerships

Citizens Advice Bureau grant Grants David Scott                16 100% GREEN Will be achieved                           16                   16 No No No No

27 B5 Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Transport

Reduce the current grant provision for The Old Court, Windsor from 

September 2020.

Grants Suzie Parr             8.50 100% GREEN Savings from September 20                            9                     9 No No No No

28 B5 Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Transport

Reduce the current grant provision for Norden Farm from September 2020 Grants Suzie Parr                17 100% GREEN Savings from September 20                           17                   17 No No No No

29 B6 Revenues & Benefits Cease the provision of the GROW service with residents being be 

signposted to alternative forms of assistance.  

Staffing Louise Freeth                63 102% GREEN Staff redundant wef 31.03.20.                           64                   64 No No No No

30 B3 Law & Governance Cease support for the One Stop Shop in Datchet Grants Karen Shepherd                 1 100% GREEN Relate to things we simply won’t do next year.                            1                     1 Even Profiel confirmed by KSNo No No No

31 B6 IT Rationalise the council's current mobile phone usage to reduce operating 

costs

Contracts Nikki Craig                10 100% GREEN Whilst maybe not from reduction in mobile phone line rental, this will be achieved through telephony savings.                           10                   10 No No No No

If savings impacted as a result of 

COVOD when will the full-year savings 

be achieved 

Savings per Budget 20/21

Page 1 of 3

78



Appendix B

General Information Financials

Month

Savings 

Ref / 

FYE

Directorate Service MTFP Savings Title
How will savings 

be achieved?
Lead Officer

 2020/21 

Savings 

Target

£000 

% of target 

full year 

forecast

Overall 

Perfomance 

RAG Explanation of Current Savings Forecast and Remedial Action planned to address underperformance and 

Mitigation Strategies

(must be completed for all savings that have an amber or red overall performance RAG)

Actual Saving 

2020/21

£000

Savings 

Forecast 

£000

Yes / No 

Covid 

impact

2020/21 2021/22

Saving not 

achievable at 

all

If savings impacted as a result of 

COVOD when will the full-year savings 

be achieved 

Savings per Budget 20/21

32 B3 Law & Governance Remove budget for individual members to attend conferences/training Other Karen Shepherd                 3 100% GREEN Relate to things we simply won’t do next year.                            3                     3 Even Profiel confirmed by KSNo No No No

33 B3 Law & Governance Removal of all refreshments from council meetings, member briefings and 

member training sessions

Other Karen Shepherd                10 100% GREEN Relate to things we simply won’t do next year.                           10                   10 Even Profiel confirmed by KSNo No No No

34 B6 Revenues & Benefits No longer print and distribute Council Tax leaflet with bills Other Louise Freeth                 5 100% GREEN Costs end of year                            5                     5 No No No No

35 B4 Communications Optimise use of digital distributing Around the Royal Borough Other Louisa dean                23 100% GREEN ATRB is being reduced to two issues this year. Due to COVID-19, one has also been removed from the schedule. A newsletter 

will be delivered to all homes in the next few weeks but this will be less than ATRB costs. However, there is no advertising 

income being generated

                          23                   23 No No No No

36 BTL CTAX Income Empty Properties Relief - reduction Income Louise Freeth                70 100% GREEN Collection fund item                           70                   70 No No No No

37 BTL CTAX Income Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme Discount levels Income Louise Freeth              330 100% GREEN Collection fund item                         330                 330 No No No No

38 B6 Finance Vacancy Factor/Recruitment Freeze Staffing Adele Taylor              100 100% GREEN Allocation to be confirmed by Finance, should be achievable                         100                 100 No No No No

39 B6 Library & Resident Services Charging for Resident’s Parking Permits, £50 each and £70 for second 

permit, £100 for third and subsequent permits. Also apply and increase 

charges for all visitor vouchers

Income Angela Huisman              250 0% RED Delay in implementation, expected savings now reduced for this year                           -                     -   Yes No Yes No

40 B5 Property Service Additional Management Fee from Countryside Income Russell O'Keefe              300 0% RED The planning application upon which this depends has not yet been submitted, this saving will not be deliverable in 20/21                           -                     -   No No No No

41 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

Post Deletions Staffing David Scott              200 100% GREEN All actioned in the 20/21 budget build                         200                 200 No No No No

42 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Increase green waste annual subscription charge to £65 per annum in line 

with neighbouring authority charges.

Income Ben Smith              250 100% GREEN Savings are dependant upon being able to deliver the full service during the Covid-19 response and recovery and resident 

behaviours not being adversely affected from modelled projections

                        250                 250 No No No No

43 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Remove free Saturday garden waste collection Income Ben Smith                25 100% GREEN Contract reduced to remove free Satruday collection                           25                   25 No No No No

44 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Remove Advantage Card discounts for parking. Income Ben Smith              650 0% RED Linked to parking model, the achievement of these savings is linked to the outcome of the sales, fees and charges 

compensation scheme.

                          -                     -   Yes No Yes No

45 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Advertising on car park tickets/car parks Other Ben Smith                30 0% RED This work will now be low priority and negotiations with potential customers will be delayed until 2021/22.                           -                     -   Yes No Yes No

46 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Parking season ticket income Other Ben Smith                50 0% RED Linked to parking model, the achievement of these savings is linked to the outcome of the sales, fees and charges 

compensation scheme.

                          -                     -   Yes No Yes No

47 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Review and optimise the number of subsidised bus routes Other Ben Smith              100 0% RED Bus Services savings target (2020/21) was previously reported as only achieving £50k of the £100k. The full saving will be 

unachievable based on Covid-19 government guidance on bus services 

 -                   -   Yes No No No

48 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Traffic signal costs - capital spend Other Ben Smith                65 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           65                   65 No No No No

49 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Efficiency saving from traffic counter machines Other Ben Smith                15 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           15                   15 No No No No

49 B4 Commissioning-Support Concessionary Fares Other Lynne Lidster              100 0% RED Changes to the concessionary fares scheme will not be implemented until later in 2020/21 due to the Covid-19 imact; 

government direction to support transport operators and awaiting recovery to assess further

                          -                     -   Yes Parital Yes No

50 B6 HR Corporate Staffing Nikki Craig                30 100% GREEN                           31                   31 No No No No

Total Savings Per Budget 20/21 5,824    59% 3,431            3,431      

51 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Volker highways Vikki Roberts              100 100% GREEN                         100                 100 No No No No

52 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend BCF mitigation 20/21 Lynne Lidster              166 100% GREEN This forms part of the CCG minimum contribution to Adult Social Care for 20/21                         166                 166 No No No No

53 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend LD supported living mitigation Hilary Hall                50 100% GREEN FYE of 2019/20 initiative - completed                           50                   50 No No No No

54 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Windsor coach park rental Ben Smith                11 91% AMBER                           10                   10 No No No No

55 B4 Adult Social Care - Spend Drugs and Alcohol contract Anna Richards                64 100% GREEN Completed - saving achieved.                           64                   64 No No No No

56 B4 Commissioning-Infrastructure Waste contract  full year effect Naomi Markham              200 100% GREEN                         200                 200 No No No No

57 B2 AFC Contract - LA Funded Removal of 19/20 pay reward growth for AfC Hilary Hall              120 100% GREEN Completed                         120                 120 No No No No

59 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

Principal enforcement manager Christopher 

Nash

               11 100% GREEN                           11                   11 No No No No

60 B5 Planning Planning application fee income Adrien Waite              100 100% GREEN Demand led income, little service can do to generate this demand, income levels kept under regular review.                          100                 100 No No No No

61 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

CPES Lower out of hours prof fees Christopher 

Nash

                2 100% GREEN                            2                     2 No No No No

62 B5 Community, Protection & 

Enforcement Services

3 year SLA for sports able David Scott                12 100% GREEN                           12                   12 No No No No

63 B5 Property Service New property income Gary Ellis              225 100% GREEN                         225                 225 No No No No

Full Year Effects of savings per Budget 19/20

Page 2 of 3

79



Appendix B

General Information Financials

Month

Savings 

Ref / 

FYE

Directorate Service MTFP Savings Title
How will savings 

be achieved?
Lead Officer

 2020/21 

Savings 

Target

£000 

% of target 

full year 

forecast

Overall 

Perfomance 

RAG Explanation of Current Savings Forecast and Remedial Action planned to address underperformance and 

Mitigation Strategies

(must be completed for all savings that have an amber or red overall performance RAG)

Actual Saving 

2020/21

£000

Savings 

Forecast 

£000

Yes / No 

Covid 

impact

2020/21 2021/22

Saving not 

achievable at 

all

If savings impacted as a result of 

COVOD when will the full-year savings 

be achieved 

Savings per Budget 20/21

64 B5 Property Service Recharges for Energy & Efficiency Russell O'Keefe                 4 75% AMBER                            3                     3 No No No No

65 B5 Infrastructure, Sustainability & 

Transport

Tourism additional saving Julia White                60 0% RED VisitWindsor Partnership Fees  - cannot be invoiced currently as partners closed and lockdown has had a significant impact 

on the leisure and tourism industry

                          -                     -   Yes

66 B6 Revenues & Benefits Capitalisation of PKN and EG Louise Freeth                30 100% GREEN                           30                   30 No No No No

67 B6 Library & Resident Services Continuing with RDS where possible Angela Huisman                15 100% GREEN Income target - get £12-£15 per year from schools, billing due in Autumn                           15                   15 Yes

68 B6 Library & Resident Services CLASS Angela Huisman                15 100% GREEN Income acjieved  - required to pay for staff so associated pressure on costs declared. Funding not permanent.                           15                   15 No No No No

Total FYE Per Budget 20/21 1,185    95% 1,123            1,123      

Total Savings Per Budget 20/21 7,009    65% 4,554            4,554      

-1785
Deficit 20/21 2,455

Page 3 of 3

80



APPENDIX C

A B A+B

Capital Ptogramme Portfolio Summary Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Managing Director

Law & Governance 200 0 200 200 0 200 239 0 239 439 0 439

Total Managing Director 200 0 200 200 0 200 239 0 239 439 0 439

Place Directorate

Property 19,418 (153) 19,265 7,219 (205) 7,014 16,466 (32) 16,434 23,685 (237) 23,448

Housing 650 (650) 0 150 (150) 0 356 (356) 0 506 (506) 0

Communities & Enforcement & Partnerships 3,767 (39) 3,728 5,101 (661) 4,440 5,390 (1,359) 4,031 10,491 (2,020) 8,471

Planning 410 0 410 377 (87) 290 1,309 (393) 916 1,686 (480) 1,206

Green Spaces & Parks 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 (28) 24 52 (28) 24

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport 4 0 4 0 0 0 33 (20) 13 33 (20) 13

Total Place Directorate 24,249 (842) 23,407 12,847 (1,103) 11,744 23,606 (2,188) 21,418 36,453 (3,291) 33,162

Adults, Health & Commissioning

Head of Commissioning - Infrastructure 7,484 (3,281) 4,203 9,995 (6,349) 3,646 2,033 (227) 1,806 12,028 (6,576) 5,452

Head of Commissioning - People 150 0 150 0 0 0 200 (200) 0 200 (200) 0

Local Enterprise Partner Schemes 18,491 (16,636) 1,855 7,234 (7,234) 0 5,402 (5,062) 340 12,636 (12,296) 340

Total Adults, Health & Commissioning 26,125 (19,917) 6,208 17,229 (13,583) 3,646 7,635 (5,489) 2,146 24,864 (19,072) 5,792

Childrens Services

Non Schools 0 0 0 (24) 17 (7) 643 (100) 543 619 (83) 536

Schools - Non Devolved 2,987 (1,087) 1,900 269 (1,705) (1,436) 5,503 (630) 4,873 5,772 (2,335) 3,437

Schools - Devolved Capital 196 (196) 0 206 221 427 476 (903) (427) 682 (682) 0

Total Childrens Services 3,183 (1,283) 1,900 451 (1,467) (1,016) 6,622 (1,633) 4,989 7,073 (3,100) 3,973

Resources

Finance 1,475 0 1,475 1,187 0 1,187 138 0 138 1,325 0 1,325

Technology & Change Delivery 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0 1,000 232 0 232 1,232 0 1,232

Revenues & Benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 44 0 44 44 0 44

Library & Resident Services 559 (64) 495 364 (16) 348 265 0 265 629 (16) 613

Total Resources 3,034 (64) 2,970 2,551 (16) 2,535 679 0 679 3,230 (16) 3,214

Total Committed Schemes 56,791 (22,106) 34,685 33,278 (16,169) 17,109 38,781 (9,310) 29,471 72,059 (25,479) 46,580

(£'000) (£'000)

Portfolio Total 56,791 72,059

External Funding

Government Grants (21,400) (13,018,006) (20,749)

Developers' Contributions (96) (1,880,027) (3,320)

Other Contributions (610) (2,379,787) (1,410)

Total External Funding Sources (22,106) (25,479)

Total Corporate Funding 34,685 46,580

2020/21 Original Budget 

New Schemes -                                         

2020/21 Approved Estimate

Unspent budget from Schemes Approved in Prior 

Years Revised Budget 2020/21

81



APPENDIX D

Capital Programme 2020/21 - Final Outturn

Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Revised Budget 72,059 (25,479) 46,580

Variances (278) (7,913) (8,191)

Slippage to 2021/22 (44,614) 14,371 (30,243)
Final Outturn 2020/21 27,167 (19,021) 8,146

Variances from revised budget Expenditure Income Net Commentary

£'000 £'000 £'000

Property Services

CI70 Siena Court - Purchase (23)                 -   (23) Scheme complete
 

Housing  

CT52 Disabled Facilities Grant 98 (98)            -   Final costs funded by grant
 

Planning  

CI32 Borough Local Plan-Examinations / Submissions 1                 -   1 Final costs

CI43 Ascot High Street Public Realm & Highway Imps (1) 1            -   Final costs
 

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport            -    

CC39 Old Court Improvements 3 (3)            -   Revised Estimate

CLB6 MALS Digital Offer 3 (3)            -   Revised Estimate

Green Spaces & Parks  

CF08 Ray Mill Island Access Works 3                 -   3 Revised Estimate

CZ75 P&OS-Allens Field Improvements Ph 2 4 (4)            -   Revised Estimate

Communities & Enforcement & Partnerships  

CZ18 Braywick Leisure Centre 250 (7,506) (7,256)

Additional confirmed scheme financing from LEP scheme swap funding in advance & COVID-19 

SFC funding

CZ42 Leisure Centres-Annual Programme & Equipment 7                 -   7 Revised Business Case

CP94 P&OS-Dedworth Manor All Weather Pitch 4                 -   4 Unforeseen Costs

CV28 Braywick/Oldfield Bridge Scheme (1) 1            -    

CV39 Ockwells Park-Phase 3 Improvements (32)                 -   (32) Revised Business Case

CV40 Battlemead Common– Phase 1 Infrastructure Enabling 1                 -   1  

CV41 Clewer Memorial Pavilion, Windsor-Modifications 81                 -   81 Contract Variations

CV43 Braywick Park-Sports Pitch Improvements 5                 -   5 Unforeseen Costs

CC60 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation Measures for Windsor (1)                 -   (1)  

CD46 Alley Gating (1)                 -   (1) Revised Estimate

Head of Commissioning - Infrastructure  

CC67 Replacement Payment Equipment for Car Parks                  -   13 13 Direct revenue funding budget unavailable

CD83 Signal Crossing - Queen Victoria Statue, Windsor 30 30

CD17 Replacement Street Lighting 2                 -   2 Revised business case for works attracting additional spend.

CD22 Safer Routes to School 3                 -   3 Revised business case for works attracting additional spend.

CD54 River Thames Scheme Infrastructure Project (165)                 -   (165) Alternatives being explored.

CD84 Street Lighting-LED Upgrade 12                 -   12 Revised business case for works attracting additional spend.

CF03 Braywick Road Crossing 10                 -   10 Completed.

CF04 Pelican Crossing at Eton Wick 22                 -   22 Revised business case for works attracting additional spend.

CN80 CRM Upgrade / Jadu Contract (34)                 -   (34) Plan Alpha CRM build - revised plan

Local Enterprise Partnership Schemes  

CD42 Maidenhead Station Interchange & Car Park 300 (300)            -   Revised Business Case

CD91 Windsor Town Centre Package - LEP 1 (1)            -    

Non Schools

CKVZ Rebuild of Windsor Youth Workshop Garage (49)                 -   (49)  

Schools - Non Devolved

CSGX Dedworth Middle School Expansion (4)                 -   (4) Scheme savings

CSHU Windsor Girls Expansion (14)                 -   (14) Scheme savings

CSHV Lowbrook Expansion (10)                 -   (10) Scheme savings

CSHW Secondary Expansions Risk Contingency (256)                 -   (256) Scheme savings

CSJB Roofing Replacement at Various Schools (29) (1) (30) Scheme savings

CSJF Structural Works at Various Schools (8) 8            -   Scheme savings

CSJX St Peters Middle 1                 -   1 Scheme savings

CSKC Boyne Hill School Boiler Conversion & Upgrade                  -                   -              -   

CSKD Sch Water Pipework Rplment-Oakfield & The Lawns (17) 17            -   Scheme savings

CSKE Wraysbury Boiler Replacement and Upgrade (44) 44            -   Scheme savings

CSKF Maidenhead Nursery Boiler Replacement & Upgrade (5) 5            -   Scheme savings

CSKH Schools-Fire Safety Compliance / H&S Works (150) 150            -   Scheme savings

CSKJ Homer School Hall Floor Replacement (28) 28            -   Scheme savings

CSKN Alexander First Driveway Repairs (1) 1            -   Scheme savings

CSKP Kitchen CO2 Compliance Works (5) 5            -   Scheme savings

Technology & Change Delivery  

CA11 Desktop PC Replacement Project (135)                 -   (135) Scheme saving

CA12 Modern Workplace Project-Phase 2 (75) (300) (375) Scheme underspend. Part funded by capital fund. 

 

Library & Resident Services  

CYKH York House - Customer Services (1)                 -   (1) Possibility of spend less than anticipated budget.
(278) (7,913) (8,191)

82



APPENDIX D

Slippage to 2021/22 Expenditure Income Net Commentary

£'000 £'000 £'000

Slippage reported to April 2021 Council (34,911)         10,693 (24,218)

Final additional slippage to report is as follows

Adult Social Care

CN80 CRM Upgrade / Jadu Contract (50)                 -   (50) Final Slippage

CT62 Adult Services Case Management System (100) 100            -   

Final slippage -  expected to have spent £100k of this on an online solution for financial 

assessments this year but due to COVID the team have had to prioritise other activities, expect 

expenditure to start by Q1/Q2 2021/22

Commissioning - Infrastructure

CC25 M4 Smart Motorway (21)                 -   (21) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC27 Permanent Traffic Counter Sites (2) 2            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC48 Chobham Road, Sunningdale Parking Road Safety Impr (13)                 -   (13) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC51 Datchet Barrel Arch Drainage Repairs (4)                 -   (4) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC54 Electric Vehicle Charging Points-Pilot                  -   5 5 Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC59 Highways Tree Surgery Works from Inspections (92)                 -   (92) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC70 Street Cleansing Maidenhead Town Centre (14) 6 (8) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC73 Wessex Way Highway Drainage - Feasibility (10)                 -   (10) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC85 Major Footway Construction/Maintenance (105)                 -   (105)

Ongoing annual scheme, some delays due to COVID impact on suppliers e.g. obtaining 

materials

CC86 VMS Support and Maintenance (22) 22            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC89 Elizabeth Bridge 113                 -   113 Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC90 Boulters Lock Car Park Extension (45)                 -   (45) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC92 Maintenance to Anti-Terrorist Rising Bollards (2)                 -   (2) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CC95 Cookham Bridge Refurbishment & Structural Repair (31)                 -   (31) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD01 LTP Feasibility Studies/Investigation/Devlop (41) 41            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD10 Traffic Management (41) 41            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD12 Roads Resurfacing-Transport Asset & Safety (102) 190 88

Ongoing annual scheme, some delays due to COVID impact on suppliers e.g. obtaining 

materials.

CD13 Bridge Assessments (60)                 -   (60) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD14 Bridge Parapet Improvement Works (1)                 -   (1) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD23 Local Safety Schemes (15)                 -   (15) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD27 Cycling Capital Programme 1 (12) (11) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD37 Car Park Improvements 13                 -   13 Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD43 Flood Prevention (31)                 -   (31) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD45 Public Conveniences-Refurbishment (10)                 -   (10) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD72 Preliminary Flood Risk-Assessments (3) 3            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD73 Replacement Highway Drain-Waltham Rd,White Walthm 1 25 26 Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD75 Bus Stop Accessibility (1) 1            -   Small adjustment to year end slippage

CD76 Bus Stop Waiting Areas (4) 4            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD80 Grenfell Road-Off-Street Parking (14)                 -   (14) Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

CD82 Intelligent Traffic System-Maintenance & Renewal 10 (10)            -   Income slippage  adjustment to previously over reported amount

CD87 Pothole Action Fund-DfT Grant (265) 265            -   

Some delay with works due to COVID, works ordered, will be completed and invoiced in early 

2021/22

CF02 Emergency Active Travel Measures (36) 36            -   Project delays due to COVID,expenditure to occur in 2021/22

Communities            -   

CC47 CCTV Replacement (126)                 -   (126)

Scheduled programme of works for camera replacements spanning financial years & retentions 

withheld

CC60 Hostile Vehicle Mitigation Measures for Windsor (16) 15 (1) Match funding 2020-21 slippage

CC63 Major Incident Resource Kit (7)                 -   (7) Windsor’s major incident plan is under review by LRF team and due for completion by  2021

CD85 Enforcement Services-Mobile Phone Replacement (6)                 -   (6) Revised working and business processes

CE08 Air Quality Monitoring (47) (7) (54) Provision for Air Quality Monitoring Stations which are required for balance of a ten year period.

CI14 Maidenhead Waterways Construction phase 1 (33) 32 (1) Weir Project slippage

CI22 Tree Planting & Maintenance (158)                 -   (158) Slippage committed for the tree planting contracts 2021-2022

CI54 Maidenhead Waterways-Weir Project (70)                 -   (70) Ongoing programme of works

CV40 Battlemead Common– Phase 1 Infrastructure Enabling (3)                 -   (3) Delays to implementation of master plan

CX64 Windsor Coach Park Lift Upgrade                  -   10 10 Match funding 2020-21 slippage

CX66 Oak Processionary Moth Treatment (10)                 -   (10) Scheme delivery scheduled 2021

CZ18 Braywick Leisure Centre (46)                 -   (46) Slippage for retentions

CV39 Ockwells Park-Phase 3 Improvements 0                  9 9 Revised Business Case

Democratic Representation

CM60 Grants - Outside Organisations 19                 -   19 Grants allocated by Panel not yet claimed by applicants / organisations

Finance 

CA15 Capitalised Debt Charges 22                 -   22 reverse slippage for final calculation 2020/21

Green Spaces and Parks

CC44 Allotments Windsor & Maidenhead (1) 1            -   Funding re finalising works and awaiting final bills in early 2021/22.

Housing

CT29 Low Cost Housing (S106 Funding) (161) 161            -   Match funding 2020-21 slippage

CT51 Key Worker DIYSO (195) 195            -   Match funding 2020-21 slippage

Infrastructure, Sustainability & Transport

CI66 Infrastructure Delivery Prog-CIL & Grant Funding (411) 47 (364) Project to continue into 2021/22

CLC5 Heritage Education Space Old Windsor (20) 20            -   Match funding 2020-21 slippage

CLF4 WRBM Audio Upgrade (13)                 -   (13) Ongoing programme

CY29 Christmas Lgts-Mhd High St & Queen St to Broadway (18)                 -   (18)

Links directly to the new lights purchased in year & support for maintenance in future years. 3 

year prog

Library & Resident Services

CC53 Contact Centre - Ventilation & Back-up Generator (15)                 -   (15) Delaying to get additional external funding to support climate change.

CC65 Refurbishment M'head, Windsor, Ascot , Eton Libs (3)                 -   (3) Delays due to Covid19.

CC99 Eton Library – Open Access and Shop Front Repair (37)                 -   (37) Dilapidations and lease commitments. Slippage due to delays following Covid.

CL87 Old Windsor Library-Extension (18)                 -   (18) Dilapidations and lease commitments. Awaiting outcome of consultation.

CLE2 Dedworth Lib - Payment Kiosk, Replace Public PCs (1)                 -   (1) Library transformation strategy with digital works. Awaiting results of consultation.

CLE6 Upgrade Public PCs (48)                 -   (48) Library transformation strategy with digital works. Awaiting results of consultation.

CLF5 Registrars Office - Redecoration (12)                 -   (12) Adjustment to slippage due to project delays from COIVID

CLG3 General Library Improvements (18)                 -   (18) Delays due to closure from Covid.

CLG5 Maidenhead Library-Public Toilet Refurbishment (16) 16            -   Adjustment to slippage due to project delays from COVID

Local Enterprise Partnership Schemes

CC62 Maidenhead Missing Links (LEP Match Funded) (606) 606            -   

Major multi-agency infrustructure project, delays with gaining agreements and COVID related 

delays.

CD42 Maidenhead Station Interchange & Car Park (170) (130) (300)

Train station works almost completed, small amount of works to be completed in April/ May 

2020

CD90 Maidenhead LP Housing Site Enabling Works - LEP (868) 528 (340)

Major multi-agency infrustructure project, delays with gaining agreements and COVID related 

delays.

CD91 Windsor Town Centre Package - LEP (188) 188            -   

Major multi-agency infrustructure project, delays with gaining agreements and COVID related 

delays.

83



APPENDIX D

Non Schools

CKVZ Rebuild of Windsor Youth Workshop Garage 49                 -   49 Reverse slippage for scheme progress in 2020/21

Planning

CI32 Borough Local Plan-Examinations / Submissions (19)                 -   (19) Ongoing project spanning financial year

CI43 Ascot High Street Public Realm & Highway Imps (7) 15 8 Match funding  2020-21 slippage

CI47 Neighbourhood Plan-Consultation/Exams/Referendums (16)                 -   (16) Ongoing project spanning financial year

CI56 Design Quality – Planning Service (60) 145 85 Match funding re 2020-21 slippage

CI57 Joint Minerals and Waste Plan (16)                 -   (16) Ongoing project spanning financial year

CI59 Traveller Local Plan (30)                 -   (30) Ongoing project spanning financial year

CI64 Planning Policy-Evidence Base Updates Ongoing Prog (1)                 -   (1) Ongoing project spanning financial year

CI67 Wider Area Growth Study (68) 152 84 Match funding 2020-21 slippage

CI69 Supplementary Planning Documents-SPDs (28)                 -   (28) Ongoing project spanning financial year

Property

CC40 Borough Parking Provision (153)                 -   (153) Scheme will be delivered 2021-22 in line with a scheduled programme of works

CC78 Vicus Way Car Park (195)                 -   (195) Slippage for ongoing scheme extending over financial years

CC80 Temp Parking Provision-Maidenhead Regeneration (159)                 -   (159) Slippage for ongoing scheme extending over financial years

CI29 Broadway Car Park & Central House Scheme (263)                 -   (263) Slippage for ongoing scheme extending over financial years

CI49 Maidenhead Golf Course (100)                 -   (100) Ongoing scheme in line with scheduled programme of works

CI60 Regeneration Improvement Projects (85)                 -   (85) Ongoing scheme in line with scheduled programme of works

CI73 York Road, Maidenhead-Affordable Housing (100)                 -   (100) Payment for York Rd Development-rights of way access phase 2 still under negotiation

CX40 Operational Estate Improvements (25)                 -   (25) Ongoing programme to meet H&S compliance across portfolio

CX41 Commercial Investment Property Portfolio-Repairs (17)                 -   (17) Ongoing programme to meet H&S compliance across portfolio

CX43 Affordable Housing-St Edmunds (121)                 -   (121) Delays as planning not determined - planning app scheduled for review April 21 

CX46 Affordable Key Worker Hsing-Riverside Mokattam RM (1,926)                 -   (1,926) Delays re deferred planning approval-revised application to be submitted May 21

CX50 Guildhall-Render Repair & Redecoration 6                 -   6 Reverse slippage re scaffolding

CX60 Nicholson Shopping Centre Development (315)                 -   (315) Ongoing scheme in line with scheduled programme of works

CX61 Fire Compartmentalisation Works-Maintained Schools (34) (53) (87) Slippage for works to complete in 2021/22

CX67 18-20 Ray Mill Rd East-Family Centre Relocation 1                 -   1 Reflects current work programme & planning fees & condition report

Schools-Devolved Capital

CJ77 Budget Only NDS Devolved Capital (413) 413            -   Final scheme slippage to 2021/22

Schools-Non Devolved

CSDQ Urgent Safety Works Various Schools (37) 37            -   Unspent grant retained to fund any urgent safety works in 2021/22.

CSEX Feasibility/Survey Costs (25) 25            -   Unspent grant retained to support feasibility works to be carried out in 2021/22.

CSGS Larchfield Primary Safeguarding & Entrance Works (110) 110            -   Scheme awaiting planning permission before implementation in Summer 2021.

CSGV Cox Green School Expansion Year 1 of 3 (31) 18 (13) Remaining budget slipped to address final 'snagging' costs related to the scheme.

CSHG Bisham General Refurbishment (19)                 -   (19) School expect to invoice for the final amount relating to this scheme in Spring 2021.

CSHW Secondary Expansions Risk Contingency (200)                 -   (200)

Contingency funding relating to CSHW, CSGR and CSJX secondary school expansion 

schemes.  To be closed once those projects are complete.

CSJR Works to explore expansions for all Schools (64) (50) (114)

Budget slipped to cover feasibility works relating to school expansion schemes currently out to 

public consultation.

CSJX St Peters Middle (384)                 -   (384) Scheme still underway, with final entrance/access works due to be carried out in Summer 2021.

CSKA Alexander School Kitchen Refurbishment (97) 97 0 Scheme not able to progress now until Summer 2021.

CSKH Schools-Fire Safety Compliance / H&S Works 150 0 150 Reverse slippage for scheme progress in 2020/21

CSKK Wessex Primary Nursery Building Roof Replacement (11) 11 0 Scheme completed, awaiting final invoices; remaining budget slipped.

CSKL Holy Trinity Cookham Soffit, Gutter & Roof Repair (9) 9 0 Scheme completed, awaiting final invoices; remaining budget slipped.

CSKM Wessex Primary Window & Door Replacement (200) 200 0 Scheme not able to progress now until Summer 2021; budget slipped.

CSKO WSLawrence Soffits, Gutter & Flat Roof Replacement (53) 53 0

Two part project, with first element complete.  Second element expected to proceed shortly, so 

grant slipped.

CSKR Kitchen Extract Cleaning and Hatchworks (25) 25 0 Project delayed in getting quotations for the work, so grant slipped to 2021/22.

CSKS Dedworth Campus Resource Base (28) 28 0

DfE approval of scheme only granted in March, so grant slipped, with work expected to be 

carried out over Summer 2021.

CSKT Furze Platt Federation Resource Base (33) 33 0

Planning permission granted in March, so grant slipped, with work expected to be carried out 

over Summer 2021.

Technology & Change Delivery

CA12 Modern Workplace Project-Phase 2 (40)                 -   (40) Some project delays due to COVID means project will be completed in 2021/22

CA13 Key Infrastructure Upgrades & Hardware (67)                 -   (67) Some project delays due to COVID means project will be completed in 2021/22

CN00 Key Systems Infrastructure & Hardware Upgrades (8)                 -   (8) Some delays due to COVID and awaiting final billing

Library & Resident Services

CLE1 Cox Green Lib - Building Repairs Etc (10)                 -   (10) Works delayed due to closure from Covid.

CLE4 Cookham Library - Entrance Canopy & Repairs (1)                 -   (1) Works delayed due to closure from Covid.

CLE5 Maidenhead Lib - Redesign Reception & Repairs (3)                 -   (3) Library transformation strategy with digital works. Awaiting results of consultation.

CLE9 Windsor Lib - Replacement Public PC and Laptops (6)                 -   (6) Library transformation strategy with digital works. Awaiting results of consultation.
(44,614) 14,371 (30,243)

84



Appendix E

Capital Programme Movements 2020/21 Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Original Budget 2020/21 56,791              (22,106) 34,685       
Budget Changes to 31 March 2021 -             

Additional Slippage in from 2019/20 25,585              (3,354) 22,231       

DFG capital budget alignment to BCF 20-21 plan (33) 33 -             

Wider Area Growth Study - Cabinet July 2020 87 (87) -             

Emergency Active Travel Fund- Cabinet July 2020 140 (140) -             

Design and construction changes to Braywick Leisure Centre- Cabinet July 2020 381 (381) -             

SEND Special Provision- Cabinet July 2020 500 (500) -             

Budget savings - Cabinet July 2020 (2,528) 110 (2,418)

 DFG reallocation of funding to revenue due to underspend (450) 450 -             

Larchfield School budget addition - September 2020 Cabinet 110 (110) -             

Allocation of CIL income for infrastructure projects 0 (1,933) (1,933)

s106 identified funding - schools expansion works 0 (126) (126)

Budget adjustments & reprofiling of LEP schemes. (5,602) 5,602 -             

Reprofiling of Broadway car park for expenditure that will now be incurred from 2022/23 (6,261) 0 (6,261)

Family Centre Relocation 150 0 150             

DfT grant funding for Pothole & Challenge fund 1,537 (1,537) -             

DfT funding for Elizabeth Bridge 1,605 (1,605) -             

S106 funding DFC Furze Platt Junior - Accessible Ramp 10 (10) -             

Affordable Housing-106 Westborough Rd Refurb 55 (55) -             

Budget adjustment Traffic signal review - part Borough funded budget -                    138 138             

S106adjustment to Works to explore expamsons to all schools - Borough funded budget -                    126 126             

DFC budget alignment -                    10 10               
Capitalised debt charge to services - shortfall covered by reverse slippage 2021 (19) 0 (19)

Roundings 1 (4) (3)

Revised Budget 2020/21 72,059            (25,479) 46,580      

85



Appendix F Gross Borrowing Graph 

 

Mar-20
Actual.

Apr-20
Actual

May-20
Actual

Jun-20
Actual

Jul-20
Actual

Aug-20
Actual

Sep-20
Actual

Oct-20
Actual

Nov-20
Actual

Dec-20
Actual

Jan-21
Actual

Feb-21
Actual

Mar-21
Actual

Short-term Borrowing (inc LEP) £'000 167,521 152,521 140,405 139,408 124,408 137,033 137,175 140,405 133,393 131,884 125,884 155,884 134,732

Long-term Borrowing £'000 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049

Total Gross Borrowing £'000 224,571 209,571 197,454 196,458 181,458 194,082 194,224 197,454 190,442 188,933 182,933 212,933 191,782

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

M
ill

io
n

s 
   

   
   

   

2020-21 Gross Borrowing

86



Children's Services

Service
Original 

Budget

Current 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn 

Variance

Previously 

Reported 

Variance

Change in 

Reported 

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Children's Services non Dedicated Schools Grant

Social Care and Early Help

Employee & Operational Related Expenditure 5,878 5,878 970 824 146

Legal Services 510 510 170 129 41

Inhouse Fostering 1,467 1,467 166 186 (20)

Residential, therapeutic & Direct Payments 4,199 4,199 (18) (137) 119

Independent Fostering Agencies 1,696 1,696 (362) (333) (29)

Leaving Care-Care Costs 988 988 957 875 82

Adoption Allowances 147 147 (67) (57) (10)

Children-in-Need Care Costs 630 630 (4) 36 (40)

Children's Centre & Youth Services 1,183 1,183 167 311 (144)

Total Social Care and Early Help 16,698 16,698 1,979 1,834 145

Other 

Business Services 3,042 3,042 (60) (15) (45)

Education 895 895 96 119 (23)

Operational Strategic Management 295 295 273 294 (21)

Public Health 1,725 1,725 0 0 0

Special Educational Needs and Children with Disabilities 3,144 3,144 (215) (109) (106)

COVID-19 tranche funding 0 0 (144) 0 (144)

Children's Services - Retained (2,609) (2,622) (230) (195) (35)

Total Other 6,493 6,479 (279) 94 (373)

Total Children's Services non Dedicated Schools 

Grant 23,191 23,176 1,700 1,927 (228)

Dedicated Schools Grant

AfC Contract - Dedicated Schools Grant 11,135 11,982 1,315 1,303 12

Dedicated Schools Grant - Retained 55,175 53,004 260 (471) 731

Dedicated Schools Grant Income (66,310) (64,987) (1,575) (832) (743)

Total Dedicated Schools Grant 0 0 0 0 0

Total Children's Services and Dedicated Schools 

Grant 23,191 23,176 1,700 1,927 (228)

Summary Position

Achieving for Children Contract 36,934 37,780 3,244 3,425 (181)

Children's Services - Retained (2,609) (2,622) (230) (195) (35)

Dedicated Schools Grant - Retained 55,175 53,004 260 (471) 731

Total Children's Services net budget 89,501 88,163 3,275 2,759 516

* denotes budget lines that form part of the Achieving for Children contract

Social Care and Early Help

Appendix G

Since the budget 2020/21 was set a number of Children in Care Placements have been re-categorised which is reflected in the 

above projected variance, resulting in movements between budget lines. The overall impact is net nil on the budget. There is a 

review underway to confirm placement classification which has resulted in changes in forecasts within placements.

87



Appendix H

Costc Description

20/21

B/F

 £'000

20/21

Movements in

£'000

20/21

 Movements 

out

£'000

20/21

Balance as at 

05/05/21 to 

C/F

£'000

USABLE RESERVES

School Balances

AK14 Schools Revenue Balances (1,462) (741) (2,203)

AK26 General DSG Reserve 1,159 765 1,924

AK9H Earmarked DSG Reserve (134) (134)

(437) (413)

88



Appendix H

Costc Description

20/21

B/F

 £'000

20/21

Movements in

£'000

20/21

 Movements 

out

£'000

20/21

Balance as at 

05/05/21 to 

C/F

£'000

Other Reserves

AK06 Capital Reserve (300) (300)

AK08 Insurance control account (908) 912 4

AK13 Insurance Fund (Reserve) (960) (391) 446 (905)

AK37 Earmarked Capital Grant (2,191) (2,036) (4,227)

AK38 Community Infrastructure Levy (4,841) (7,656) 500 (11,997)

AK40 NNDR Contingency Reserve (2,269) (3) 1,519 (753)

AK48 Better Care Fund Reserve (1,383) 103 (1,280)

AK50 Public Health Reserve (332) (179) (511)

AK54 Optalis Development Reserve (81) (300) (381)

AK55 Brexit Funding (299) (299)

AK63 Cap Rcpts Unapplied Gen Fund (551) (1,278) (1,829)

AL01 Graves In Perpetuity Mtce Fund (8) (8)

AL03 Arthur Jacob Nature Rsve Fund (123) (123)

AL04 Old Court Maintenance Fund (34) (13) 30 (17)

AL09 NNDR S31 Reserve (18,808) (18,808)

AL11 Covid-19 General Reserve (3,804) (3,804)

AL12 NNDR S31- Other Preceptors (15,495) (15,495)

AL13 Safeguarding Reserve (194) (194)

AL14 Collection Fund Compensation Reserve (2,624) (2,624)

AK20 Net Revenue General Fund DRAFT OUTTURN (8,234) (1,043) 2,218 (7,059)

TOTAL USABLE RESERVES (21,743) (55,032) 5,728 (71,023)

89



Appendix H

Costc Description

20/21

B/F

 £'000

20/21

Movements in

£'000

20/21

 Movements 

out

£'000

20/21

Balance as at 

05/05/21 to 

C/F

£'000

UNUSABLE RESERVES

AG33 Capital Adjustment Account (193,414) (2,210) 14,351 (181,273)

AG34 Revaluation Reserve (224,972) (224,972)

AK39 Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 2,034 2,034

AK25 Pensions Reserve 245,841 94,039 339,880

AF22 Collection Fund-NNDR 7,592 (74,251) 93,678 27,019

AF51 Collection Fund - Council Tax 54 (96,794) 97,108 368

AG36 Accumulated Absences Account 1,934 (76) 1,858

TOTAL UNUSABLE RESERVES (160,931) (173,331) 299,176 (35,086)

TOTAL RESERVES (182,674) (228,363) 304,904 (106,109)

90



Appendix H

Costc Description

20/21

B/F

 £'000

20/21

Movements in

£'000

20/21

 Movements 

out

£'000

20/21

Balance as at 

05/05/21 to 

C/F

£'000

PROVISIONS

AE09 Redundancy Provision (400) (400)

AE13 MMI Clawback liability (242) 3 (239)

AD30 Corporate Bad Debt provision (946) (2) 355 (593)

Council tax collection fund provision

AD34 Adult Social care Bad Debt provision (1,398) (521) (1,919)

AD35 Housing benefit Bad Debt provision (781) (1,191) (1,972)

AF53 Appeals provision for Business Rates (1,024) (360) 705 (679)

AF55 ASC Provision (393) (393)

AL16 Council Tax Deficit (477) (477)

TOTAL PROVISIONS (4,391) (2,944) 1,063 (6,272)

91



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

1 Coronavirus (COVID-19): emergency 

funding for local government. Tranche 1

Unringfenced funding for local 

authorities to use to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

Tranche 1 paid 

on or after 

27/03/20

ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

27/03/20 1,827        1,156               2,983                                 2,983          2,983 

2 Coronavirus (COVID-19): emergency 

funding for local government. Tranche 2

Unringfenced funding for local 

authorities to use to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

31/5038 ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

18/05/20 4,149               4,149                                 4,149          4,149 

3 Coronavirus (COVID-19): emergency 

funding for local government. Tranche 3

Unringfenced funding for local 

authorities to use to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

31/5131 ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

05/08/20 942                  994                                       994             994 

4 Coronavirus (COVID-19): emergency 

funding for local government. Tranche 4

Unringfenced funding for local 

authorities to use to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

31/5238 ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

30/11/20 925                                    1,027          1,027 

5 Coronavirus (COVID-19): emergency 

funding for local government. Tranche 5

Unringfenced funding for local 

authorities to use to respond to the 

COVID-19 pandemic.

ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

TBC            3,118 

6 Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation 

scheme 1 (April to July 2020) Tranche 1

Fees and charges lost income 

compensation

ALL MYCV Service Covid-

19

30/11/20 2,434               2,434                                 2,434          2,434 

7 Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation 

scheme 1 (August to November 2020) 

Tranche 2

Fees and charges lost income 

compensation

ALL Service cost 

centres as per 

claim

General Fund CLAIMED BUT 

NOT 

RECEIVED

2,486               2,486                                 2,486          2,816 

8 Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation 

scheme (1 Dec 20 to March 21) Tranche 3

ALL Service cost 

centres as per 

claim

01/04/2021 2,373               2,373                                 2,373 

TOTAL        1,827              13,540              16,344                16,446       14,403           3,118 

9 COMF Grant Funding to support local authorities 

deliver their non-pharmaceutical 

interventions and to support their Covid 

response. The funding is a non-recurring 

payment for the 2020–2021 financial 

year. 

Various AHC SPHI Public Health 30/11/2020 0 0 483                   1,212          1,212 

56 Surge Funding  / additional Contain 

Outbreak Management Fund (COMF)  No 

31/5341 & No 31/5411

The purpose of the grant is to provide 

support to the Councils towards the 

mitigation against and management of 

local outbreaks of COVID-19.

AHC SPHI Public Health Mar'21 0 0 0                   1,212          1,212 

10 Test & Trace Service Support Grant A grant provided to local authorities 

in England to develop and action their 

plans to reduce the spread of the virus in 

their area.  

Various AHC SPHI Public Health 

Test and 

Trace Service

19/06/20 0                       2 136                      436             436 

11 Covid Community Testing Fund The purpose of the grant is to provide 

support to the Local Authority towards 

expenditure in relation to Community 

Testing in response to the COVID-19 

outbreak

AHC SPHI Public Health Mar'21 0 0 0                      226             226 

TOTAL              -                         2                   619                  3,086         3,086                 -   

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

Test & Trace 

and COMF 

Funding

Page 1 of 8

92



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

12 Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

funding for additional costs associated 

with COVID-19 including hospital 

discharge

NHS/CCG funding to help local 

authorities with COVID 19-associated  

costs including those relating to hospital 

discharge and follow-on care.

N/A AHC no specific 

CC, account 

code X36 for 

income 

reimbursemen

Monthly 

Claims

               1,564 1,564                                 1,564          1,484 

13 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

(ICF)

Tranche 1

The primary purpose of this fund is to 

support adult social care providers, to 

reduce the rate of COVID-19 transmission 

in and between care homes and 

support wider workforce resilience.   

31/5061

31/5186

AHC SRCV Covid 

Expenses - 

Adult Care 

(RBWM)

28/05/20                1,040 1,040                                 1,125             900 

14 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

(ICF)

Tranche 2

The primary purpose of this fund is to 

support adult social care providers, to 

reduce the rate of COVID-19 transmission 

in and between care homes and 

support wider workforce resilience.   

as above AHC SRCV Covid 

Expenses - 

Adult Care 

(RBWM)

28/07/2020                   982 982                                       982          1,125 

15 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

(ICF)

Tranche 3

The primary purpose of this fund is to 

support adult social care providers, to 

reduce the rate of COVID-19 transmission 

in and between care homes and 

support wider workforce resilience.   

AHC SRCV Covid 

Expenses - 

Adult Care 

(RBWM)

02/10/2020                   764 764                                       849             849 

16 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

(ICF)

Tranche 4

The primary purpose of this fund is to 

support adult social care providers, to 

reduce the rate of COVID-19 transmission 

in and between care homes and 

support wider workforce resilience.   

AHC SRCV Covid 

Expenses - 

Adult Care 

(RBWM)

23/12/2020                   652 652                                       849             849 

65 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund 

(ICF) DELETE DUPLICATE LINE TO REF 23

AHC ???

17 Workforce Capacity Fund/Covid Staffing Funding to provide additional care staff 

where shortages arise, support 

administrative tasks so experienced and 

skilled staff can focus on providing care, 

and help existing staff to take on 

provisional 

allocations 

published 

19/01/21

AHC SRCS Workforce 

Capacity 

Grant

03/02/2021

16/03/2021

189                  189                                       239             239 

64 Workforce Capacity Fund - DELETE LINE 

NOT WCG  

AHC SRCS 17/03/2021

18 ASC Rapid Testing Fund (S31 Grant) Funding to support additional rapid 

testing of staff in care homes, and to 

support visiting prefessionals and enalbe 

indoors, close contact visiting where 

possible

paid on or after 

Jan 2021

AHC SRCT LFT - Care 

Homes

18/01/2021 368                  368                                       555             555 

TOTAL              -                  5,559                5,559                  6,163         6,001                 -   

Funding for 

Adult Social 

Care 

Page 2 of 8

93



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

19 Emergency Active Travel Fund The emergency grant funding supports 

local transport authorities with 

producing cycling and walking facilities. 

31/5098

31/5099

Place PT60/X02 

£67k, £268k 

capital 

AK02/653/995

6

08/07/20 42                    46                    15                                  335 

20 Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and 

Essential Supplies 

Payments to food banks for food supplies 31/5110 AHC SSGW Adults Growth 06/08/20 44                    88                    88                                    88 

21 Bus Services Support Grant Operators will propose the services 

levels they expect to run. They will run 

up to 100% of scheduled commercial 

mileage for a typical non-school week 

excluding public holidays for the period 

of the scheme. They must consult and 

agree with the relevant local transport 

authorities (LTAs) regarding the services 

that should be provided, having regard 

AHC PT50 Supported Bus 

Services

28/05/2020 99                    99                    99                                    99 

22

23 Integrated Care System (ICS) - Provider 

support payments

CCG? AHC  SRCV Covid 

Expenses - 

Adult Care 

(RBWM)

Reimbursed 1,323               1,323                                 1,323          1,323 

24 Covid - Health General BN 38701 The Fund is ring-fenced for public health 

purposes to tackle COVID-19, working to 

break the chain of transmission and 

protecting the most vulnerable

AHC SPHI Public Health 09/02/2021 0 0 0                      422             422 

25 COVID Winter Grant Scheme Funding made available in early 

December 2020 to support those most in 

need with the cost of food, energy 

(heating, cooking, lighting), water bills 

(including sewerage) and other 

31/5256 CS EB17 Dec 20 120                  168                                       236             118 

58 COVID Winter Grant Scheme 2nd payment 

- see row above

CS EB17 28/01/2021               55 

26 Home to School Transport Funding to create extra capacity and 

allow more students to use alternatives 

to public transport, while social 

distancing measures remain in place. 

31/5205 CS MYCV 

ACCRUED 

UNTIL 

RETURNED

TBC -                   -                                          -               116 

27 COVID Mental Health Support for Schools CS EC24 30/09/2020 6                     -                                           6               26                20 

Other 

Government 

Funding for 

Local 

Authorities 

Page 3 of 8

94



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

28 Self Isolation payment funding Test and Trace Support payment of £500 

will ensure that those on low incomes 

are able to self-isolate without worry 

about their finances

Fund announed 

September 2020

RES MR83 Self Isolation 30/10/20 21                    46                    46                      46             

29 Self Isolation payment funding Test and Trace Support payment of £500 

will ensure that those on low incomes 

are able to self-isolate without worry 

about their finances

RES MR84 Self Isolation 25/01/2021 1                     101                     46             

30 Expanded Retail Relief DELETED, SEE 

MR80 below

In response to the coronavirus pandemic, 

in the Budget on 11 March the 

Government announced that it would 

increase the discount to 100% and 

extend it to include the leisure and 

hospitality sectors. Following the 

announcement on 23 March 2020 of 

further measures to limit the spread of 

coronavirus, the Government confirmed 

that some of the exclusions for this 

relief have been removed, so that retail, 

leisure, and hospitality properties that 

will have had to close as a result of the 

restriction measures will now be eligible 

for the relief.

RES

31 Council Tax Hardship Relief The expectation is that the majority of 

the hardship fund will be used to provide 

council tax relief, alongside existing 

local council tax support schemes. 

RES AK20  COVID19 

CTAX 

Hardship Fund

03/04/2020 434                  434                                       564             564 

32 Business Rates Grants As part of a raft of unprecedented 

measures announced by the Chancellor 

to support those affected by the 

RES MR80 COVID19 

Business rates 

grants

01/04/2020 36,880             36,880                             36,929        36,929 

33 Additional Grant top-up A discretionary fund has been set up to 

accommodate certain small businesses 

previously outside the scope of the 

RES MR82 COVID19 

NNDR 

Discretionary 

25/06/2020 1,918               1,905                                 1,949          1,949 

34 New Burdens for Business Grants Support As above RES MA68 Assessments 

& Advice - 

Housing 

Benefits

07/07/2020 -                   170                                         -               170 

35 Local Restrictions Support Grant (Closed) 

Addendum

The Local Restrictions Support Grant 

(LRSG (Closed) Addendum supports 

businesses that have been required to 

close due to the national restrictions 

between 5 November and 2 December 

2020.

RES MR85 Local 

Restriction 

Support Grant

13/11/2020 2,935               1,409                                 2,935          2,935 

36 Additional Restrictions Support Grant The Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) 

provides local councils with grant 

funding to support closed businesses that 

do not directly pay business rates as well 

RES MR86 Additional 

Restriction 

Support Grant

13/11/2020 -                   1,950                                 4,328          4,328 

37 New Burdens for Council Tax Hardship 

Fund & Business Rates Relief

RES MA68 Assessments 

& Advice - 

Housing 

Benefits

22/12/2020 -                   92                                           -                 51 

Other 

Government 

Funding for 

Local 

Authorities 

Page 4 of 8

95



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

38 ARG Top-Up payment DELETED RES MR86 15/01/21 -                   

39 Closed Business Lockdown Payment 

DELETED

RES MR93/X02 15/01/21 -                   

40 Closed Addendum payment DELETED RES MR93/X02 15/01/21 -                   

41 Additional Restrictions Grant DELETED RES -                   -                   

42 New Burdens 2 DELETED RES

43 Open 2/12 - 19/12 DELETED RES

44 Closed 2/12 - 19/12 DELETED RES

45 Christmas Support Package DELTED RES

46 Next Steps Accommodation Programme 

(NSAP)

Funding to support local authorities and 

their partners to ensure that the current 

provision that has been set up to 

31/5210

31/5211

Place SVRS Homelessness 16/11/20 145                  145                                       145             145 

47 Reopening High Streets Safely Fund Funding from the European Regional 

Development Fund (ERDF) to local 

authorities to support the safe reopening 

of high streets and other commercial 

areas.  

Fund anouned 

May 2020

Place LWCV  Transport 

Policy & 

Planning

Claimed 

retrospective

ly to cover 

costs

54                    28                    134                                   134 

48 Compliance and Enforcement Grant Funding for local authorities to cover 

compliance and enforcement activity. 

The funding is ringfenced for C&E 

activity, including COVID-19 Secure 

Marshals. 

31/5216 Place PS60 Emergency 

Planning

20/11/20 -                   -                   32                                    55 

49 Homelessness Prevention Grant 21/22 

DELETED

The purpose of the Homelessness 

Prevention Grant is to give local 

authorities control and flexibility in 

Place

50 Provisional Rough Sleeping emergency 

funding DELETED

Rough sleepers, or those at risk of rough 

sleeping have been supported by initial 

emergency funding if they need to self-

31/5147

31/5148

Place

51 Housing Grant Claim for reimbursement Place SVRS Homelessness 01/09/2020 30 -                   30                                           30               30 

70 Clinically Extremely Vulnerable Support 

DELETE LINE To be returned as duplicate 

Payment to line REF 52 £60k

AHC SRCE 15/01/2021

52 Clinically Extremely Vulnerable Support Funding to support clinically extremely 

vulnerable

31/5282

31/5306

AHC SRCE CEV - 

Shielding

15/01/2021 

29/03/2021

                     158             158 

53 Fixed penalty Notices Tranche 1 DELETED The regulations grant powers to local 

authorities to make directions which 

respond to a serious and imminent 

threat to public health. Any direction 

Place

54 LRSG DELETED Open/Closed/ off-setting payments RES MR88 = 

£1,790k CR,

MR91 = £26k 

DR

Feb 21

66 LRSG – Sector RES MR87 15                    

Other 

Government 

Funding for 

Local 

Authorities 

Page 5 of 8

96



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

67 LRSG (Closed) RES MR88 05/02/2021 705                                    1,790          1,790 

68 LRSG (Open) RES MR89 106                  

69 CSP Wet-Led Pubs RES MR91 05/02/2021 82                    -             26 

57 LRSG (Closed) Addendum: 16/02/21 to 

31/03/21

RES MR93/X02 Feb 21 8,901                               13,249        17,860 

59 Covid Secure Elections May 21 ?????                  6 

60 PCC elections May will either be a 

Combined election (SCHEDULE 1), or 

separate (sch. 2) figure shown is for sch. 

2

?????               260 

61 Compliance & Enforcement Grant (Ring-

fenced)

31/5216 ????                55 

71 Lateral Flow Device Testing - Community 

Prog

AHC PCR1 Lateral Flow 

Device 

Testing - 

Community 

Prog

19/03/2021             135 

72 Lateral Flow Device Testing Spoke-

Windsor LC

AHC PCR3 Lateral Flow 

Device 

Testing Spoke-

Windsor LC

19/03/2021               90 

73 Assessment & Advice HB Res MA68 30/03/2021                     41               41 

74 Self Isolation payment funding Res MR83 30/03/2021                     33                        33               81 

75 Self Isolation payment funding - 

Discretionary

Res MR84 30/03/2021                     -                          55               55 

76 Surge Funding  / additional Contain 

Outbreak Management Fund (COMF)   No 

31/5456

The purpose of the grant is to provide 

support to the Councils towards the 

mitigation against and management of 

local outbreaks of COVID-19.

AHC SPHI Public Health 31/03/2021 0 0 0                      779             779 

Other 

Government 

Funding for 

Local 

Authorities 

Page 6 of 8

97



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

77 Restart Grant Res ???? 06/04/2021            9,462 

78 Welcome Back Fund Place ????               134 

Getting Building Fund - LEP LEP LEP

TOTAL             30              44,021              54,697                65,446       70,793         10,071 

GRAND TOTAL        1,857              63,122              77,219                91,141       94,283         13,189 

62 Covid19 - catch-up premium CS EA09/EA16 30/09/2020 180

62 Covid19 - catch-up premium 2nd EA16 17/03/2021 246

63 covid - schools emergency support (2nd 

payment)

CS EA16 30/10/2020 72

63 covid - schools emergency support (3rd 

payment)

CS EA16 17/03/2021 59

HMRC - JRS Grant (Job Retention 

Scheme) June

CS Individual 

schools

15/06/2020 15

HMRC - JRS Grant (Job  Retention Scheme 

August

CS Individual 

schools

07/08/2020 11

HMRC - JRS Grant (Job Retention 

Scheme) September

CS Individual 

schools

07/09/2020 12

HMRC - JRS Grant (Job Retention 

Scheme) October

CS Individual 

schools

07/10/2020 13

 Direct Payments to Schools 

 LEP 

Allocated to 

Schools Directly

Other 

Government 

Funding for 

Local 

Authorities 

Page 7 of 8

98



COVID-19 FUNDING SUMMARY AS AT

 31ST MARCH 2021

Appendix I

Ref: Category Name of Funding Description

S31. Ref No., or 

comment (per 

MHCLG)

Directorate Cost Centre 
Cost Centre 

description

Received 

Date

ACTUAL 

2019/20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

20/21 TO END 

OF DEC 20 

£'000

ACTUAL SPEND 

MAR 20 TO END 

OF Feb 21 

£'000

 Spent & 

Committed 19/20 

AND 20/21

£'000 

 Received

£'000 

 Receipt to 

be in 21/22

£'000 

COVID-19 

Unringfenced 

Tranche 

Funding

Coronavirus Schools Emergency Support 

(1st payment)

CS EA16 28/08/2020 41

TOTAL              -                     649                     -                          -                 -   

 Direct Payments to Schools Allocated to 

Schools Directly

Page 8 of 8

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report Title: Maidenhead Vision Charter 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information

No - Part I 

Lead Member: Councillor Coppinger, Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Environmental Services an
d Maidenhead. 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 27th May 2021
Responsible 
Officer(s):

Duncan Sharkey – Chief Executive 

Wards affected: St Mary’s & Oldfield

REPORT SUMMARY 

Maidenhead has been going through major change over the last few years, with the 
injection of new schemes, already in the planning pipeline, that will change the physical 
environment where we work, live, and socialise.  

To capture all stakeholder and community views, and for them to have an input into 
the shape of the town going forward, it was felt that a Vision for Maidenhead needed 
to be established. JTP Architects were appointed in early 2019, to help the Council 
establish the initial community engagement, and the Vision document.  

Since the initial community workshops in late 2019 that formed the starting point for 
this Placemaking Vision and Charter document, the global Covid-19 pandemic has had 
a significant impact on Maidenhead town centre, businesses, and community.  

As a result, the need for the placemaking Vision demonstrating inspiration, ambition, 
and confidence in the future of our town centre has taken on the new significance, that 
of helping steer a course for the town centre’s post-Covid recovery.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 

i) Approves and adopts the Maidenhead Vision & Charter document. 
ii) Delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 

Lead Member for Planning, Environmental Services and Maidenhead, 
to set up a recruitment panel to establish the membership of the 
Maidenhead Town Team.  

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

Table 1: Options arising from this report 

101

Agenda Item 7iii)



Option Comments
Approves & Adopts the Maidenhead 
Vision Charter 
This is the recommended option

This will enable key stakeholders 
and community groups the ability 
to input into and influence the 
changing shape of their town 
going forward. Where 
engagement can be better 
coordinated and therefore 
relevant at key stages. 

Do nothing 
This is not recommended 

The town will continue to evolve, 
but input from stakeholder and 
community groups will be 
uncoordinated. 

2.1 Maidenhead will be a thriving Thames-side community – a welcoming social, 
community and business hub that makes the most of everything that surrounds 
it.   It shall be a place where we celebrate local character and embrace new, 
high-quality buildings and public spaces.  Connected, physically and digitally, 
the town centre will be our proud heart, a place of leisure, living and working 
which seamlessly transitions between vibrant day and evening activities.  

2.2 The face of Maidenhead Town Centre is changing fast with several 
developments around the town as well as changes to the road network and the 
forecourt of the railway station.  To bring all this work together and communicate 
a strong and supported vision, the Council appointed JTP after a procurement 
process to engage with local stakeholders and the wider community to co-create 
a shared Placemaking Vision and Charter for Maidenhead Town Centre. As part 
of this process a Community Planning process including a Community Planning 
Day held in Nicholson Shopping Centre, engaged a wide cross section of the 
community in dialogue and co-design to shape the vision.  The details of this 
can be found at appendix A Sections I & II.  

2.3 The Vision and Charter will be underpinned by the policies set out by the 
Borough Local Plan.  This is not a planning document, but an aspiration for the 
Vision of Maidenhead Town Centre as we move forward, with continued 
investment and development in the area.  

2.4 JTP Architects were selected to undertake the work on the Vision & Charter, 
based on their existing knowledge and understanding of the town.  The evolving 
nature of the build environment, which they were already engaged with, based 
on the initial work that they had carried out for Areli Real Estate Ltd, in 
conjunction with the planning application for the Nicholson Quarter.  The council 
were able to gain efficiencies and economies of scale by employing JTP, to add 
to and improve on the research they had already done.  This coupled with 
excellent community engagement has given a much greater understanding of 
how the town can better connect with its existing surroundings, as it evolves 
over the next 15-20 years.  

102



3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 This document sets out the Vision for Maidenhead Town Centre for the next 15-
20 years. The Maidenhead Town Team will be established by the council, with 
representations from a wide selection of groups, making it as inclusive as 
possible.  The Maidenhead Town Team will coordinate with other key 
stakeholders and community groups and will seek to review and influence 
decision making where possible.  The Town Team will have eight individuals in 
its membership, which will include two local councillors, one executive director 
from the council, and five independent members.  The council will be 
responsible for appointing the members of the group.  Once the group has been 
established it will nominate a chair.  The chair will be an independent chair, and 
not be a councillor or an officer of the council. The Town Team will form strong 
links with existing key stakeholders such as Civic Society, Town Partnership, 
Regeneration Group, Town Forum, Chamber of Commerce, Business Forum, 
Access & Disability Forum, Cultural & Civic Society, and many others.  

3.2 The council will also provide support in the capacity of a Town Team 
coordinator, who will deal with agenda production, minutes of meetings, 
coordinating venues for meetings to take place, and coordinating input from 
other council officers as and when appropriate. The Town Team coordinator will 
also call on support from the Town Centre Manager. 

3.3 The Maidenhead Town Team will work in partnership with the council and its 
officer’s in order to review, monitor and assess projects that come forward to 
clarify if they meet the key charter points, that the town is aspiring to achieve. 
We do not expect projects to meet every charter point but will be assessing them 
based on their relevance to each project that is reviewed.   

3.4 The Vision & Charter has 12 Charter points that have been agreed through the 
community and stakeholder engagement process.  The Maidenhead Town 
Team will be monitoring and reviewing all activity for the Town Centre through 
these key points. The key charter points can be found at section 3. 7. 

3.5 The Town Team will work in partnership with the council and other key action 
groups, stakeholder, and community groups to ensure that all projects address 
the charter points where possible. The charter is not a planning document, but 
an aspiration of the town that our residents, and business have said they want 
to live in. The Maidenhead Town Team can look at any aspects of the social, 
economic, and environmental evolution of the town, and seek to engage and 
coordinate with all stakeholders, to ensure a thorough engagement. The 
diagram below demonstrates the relationship between The Maidenhead Town 
Team, and other action groups, whether they be stakeholder groups, or 
community groups.  

3.6 The council will ensure a communication strategy is set out, in order to both 
recruit the initial Town Team board, and also communicate the work of the Town 
Team to the wider population for both Maidenhead and the wider borough.  

3.7 The Vision Charter has initially focused on Maidenhead due to the volume of 
regeneration activity that is underway and planned.  However, it may be 
appropriate to also consider a Vision Charter for other major towns such as 
Windsor and Ascot.  

103



3.8 The Vision & Charter will ensure consistency, and communication on the 
evolving nature of the Town centre over the next 15-20 years.  

3.9 By signing this document key stakeholders & future developers will commit to 
contributing to the delivery of the overall vision and charter points, which 
describe and illustrates the local community aspirations for the future of 
Maidenhead Town Centre.   

3.10 The twelve charter points are: 
 We commit to shaping a safe town centre with a rich, balanced mix of uses 

and a strong identifiable heart, that promotes a collaborative community and 
supports a vibrant and diverse say and evening economy.  

 We commit to supporting a dynamic and resilient local economy, attractive to 
national and international employers, whilst supporting local independent 
businesses and community initiatives, nurturing start-ups training and 
creating employment and volunteering opportunities throughout the town.  

 We commit to delivering an excellent virtual and physical connectivity 
throughout the town centre with the development of high-speed digital 
infrastructures.  

 We recognise the important role of arts and culture and community led events 
in enabling variety, vibrancy and creativity and commit to supporting these 
uses and activities in the town.  

 We commit to creating a town that is fully inclusive for all ages, abilities, and 
cultural diversities.  

 We commit to make Maidenhead an exemplar town for sustainable 
development.  

 We commit to developing a balanced movement hierarchy within the town 
that support good movement across the town, which effectively 

104



accommodates the car and provides an environment where walking, cycling 
and public transport can be a natural choice.  

 We commit to strengthening the existing green and blue landscape assets 
with enhanced connections and public realm, sensitively developing mixed 
use buildings fronting onto and activating the waterways for the benefits of 
the community  

 We commit to seeking the highest design quality in new buildings and 
embracing the opportunities of a growing town centre to provide healthy and 
high-quality living, leisure and working environments with sustainable 
connections from Braywick to the heart of the town centre.  

 We will champion the delivery of inclusive, attractive, and flexible public realm 
to supports community wellbeing and provide a range of community, retail, 
and food related activities to improve the vibrancy of the town centre and 
restore local pride.  

 We commit to creating a green town including working towards achieving net 
biodiversity gain on all town centre projects.  

 The local community, businesses and Council will continue to collaborate to 
plan, review, shape and deliver the Vision to usher in an exciting new chapter 
in the Maidenhead town centre’s story.  

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 There are no direct financial implications for this report although there are 
resourcing consequences that will be managed within existing teams.  

4.2 The Town Team Coordinator will be allocated from a staff member within RBWM 
Property Co Ltd.  This position will also be supported by the Town Centre 
Manager. This will ensure that no extra financial cost is required by the council 
for staff resources.  The time commitment is likely to fluctuate but should 
average out to 3-4 days per month.  

4.3 There will also be the requirement for the commitment of time from two 
councillors, and an Executive Director from the council, as part of the 
membership of the Maidenhead Town Team.  The Maidenhead Town Team is 
likely to meet as a minimum bi-monthly but could be more frequently depending 
on subjects or projects that are being reviewed. 

4.4 PR and Communications will be forthcoming as and when required, as part of 
ongoing consultation on key projects.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 There is no legal entity being formed as part of this process.  The Maidenhead 
Town Team will be established to work in partnership with the Council. The 
agreement to the approval of the Vision & Charter document, and the setting up 
of the Maidenhead Town Team, will be the responsibility of the council, and will 
be supported by the council.  

5.2 The terms of reference for the Maidenhead Town Team can be found at 
appendix A, Section III.  

105



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 There are no key risks associated with the setting up of this groups.  

6.2 The group’s function is to engage with other action groups, influence the agenda 
for the evolving town, review projects, and where necessary set up individual 
tasks and finish groups to assist with achieving the 12 key charter points that 
were brought forward as part of the wider community engagement already 
undertaken.  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. Equality Impact Assessments are published on the council’s website. 
An initial screening form has been completed at this stage, a full EQIA is not 
relevant at this stage.  

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. All elements of the council Environmental and 
Climate Strategy will be considered when reviewing projects as they come 
forward to the Maidenhead Town Team. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No personal data is currently being held by the 
Maidenhead Town Team, however, a DPIA will be undertaken before any 
personal data is collected.  

7.4 RBWM Property Company Ltd, will be making available some time from one of 
its project managers to act in the role of Town Team coordinator. This role will 
also be supported by the Town Centre Manager. No other staffing resources will 
be required at this stage, above and beyond the normal requirement for officers 
in their capacity as part of ongoing community & stakeholder engagement, 
associated with their day to day roles. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The community engagement and consultation process already undertaken can 
be found in appendix I & II.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages 
are set out in table

Table 2: Implementation timetable Immediately if not called in.12 
Date Details
29th April 2021 Cabinet approves & Adopts the Vision & Charter 

document.
12th May 2021 The Vision & Charter document is signed by the council. 
31st May 2021 The Vision & Charter document is signed by the key 

stakeholder groups. 
30th June 2021 The membership of the Maidenhead Town Team has 

been established. 

106



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by one appendix: 

 Appendix A – Maidenhead Vision & Charter 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by one background documents: 

 Equality Impact Assessment (screening report). 

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returne
d

Cllr Coppinger Lead Member for Planning, 
Environmental Services and 
Maidenhead

22/3/21 22/3/21 

Cllr Johnson Lead Member for Business, 
Economic Development and 
Property. 

22/3/21 22/3/21 

Duncan Sharkey Chief Executive 22/3/21 22/3/21

Adele Taylor Director of Resources/S151 
Officer

22/3/21 24/3/21 

Andrew Durrant Director of Place 22/3/21
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 22/3/21
Hilary Hall Director of Adults, Health and 

Commissioning
22/3/21 23/3/21 

Andrew Vallance Head of Finance 22/3/21
Elaine Browne Head of Law 22/3/21 31/3/21
Emma Duncan Deputy Director of Law and 

Strategy / Monitoring Officer
22/3/21  

Nikki Craig Head of HR Corporate Projects 
and IT

22/3/21 25/3/21 

Louisa Dean Communications 22/3/21
Karen Shepherd Head of Governance 22/3/21 22/3/21

REPORT HISTORY  

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item?
Non-key decision No No 

Report Author: Barbara Richardson – Chief Executive RBWM Property 
Company Ltd – 01628 796791

107



108



T
DRAFT

RAFT
DRAFT

AFAFF
RRARAAAFTFTFTFTTTTTTFTFTFTFTTT
RRRRRDDDDDDRDRDDDDRDRRRAAAAAAAAAFAFAFAFF
RRARARARAAAAAAFAFAFAFF

DDDDDDD
TFTTFTFTTTTTFFFFFFFFTFTFTFTTTTTTT

109



110



Since the initial community workshops in late 2019 that formed the starting 

point for this Placemaking Vision and Charter document, the global Covid-19 

pandemic has had a significant impact on Maidenhead town centre, businesses and 

community.  As a result, the need for a placemaking Vision demonstrating inspiration, 

ambition and confidence in the future of our town centre has taken on the new 

significance, that of helping steer a course for the town centre’s post-Covid recovery.

 

The Placemaking Vision & Charter process was commissioned because the need 

to reimagine Maidenhead town centre was self-evident, with significant new 

developments underway and changed expectations of what we want our town 

centre to be - a place of multi-layered, high quality experiences for all rather than 

a place dominated by retail consumption. Although there is no crystal ball through 

which to view the post Covid-19 “new normal” that will emerge, the outputs from 

the community planning process remains a robust set of principles that combine 

to create a still relevant and exciting vision for the future that chimes with people’s 

expectations and supports the delivery of a healthy, equitable and attractive 

town centre. The key to securing this future is to build on the consensus that has 

emerged through the creation of the Vision and Charter and to continue, as 

one community, to shape the Maidenhead town centre we want to see, together.

POST COVID-19 RECOVERY

111



Unit 5, The Rum 
Warehouse
Pennington Street
London E1W 2AP
T. +44 (0)20 7017 1780
www.jtp.co.uk

Town Hall,
St Ives Road,
Maidenhead SL6 1RF
T. +44 (0)1628683800
www.rbwm.gov.uk

DISDISDISISDISCLACCLCLCLAIMEIMER:RR:R:R: R: 
ThiThiThihihihisss rs rs rss epoepoepoepoepopp rt rt rt t t hashasashashashas bebebeeeenee preprpreepreeparparpappp ededddd forforfforforf thththhhhe see se se soleolelolele ususu e oe of Rf Royaoyaaaaoyal Bl Bl BBl BBBBorooroorooorooroorough of Windsor or or or r rr andandandandanandand MaMaMaMaMaideideidenhead d (RB(RBWM)WM) and for
thethehetheetheth inininininintentententennndeddeddeddeddedd pupupupupupurporpoorporporposessessesses asasasssas stststststateateateateateddddd in the hee agragragrgra reeeemeemeeeeeeee enten bebetwetweweweweweeeenen e RRRBWRRRR M  and JTJTJTJTJTJTTTTPPPP NPPP o respesponsnssonsibiibiiibiibibiibilitlitlitlitlitty oy oy oy oy or lr lr lr liabiabiability isis 
accaccaccaccacca eptepteptptteded dd ed ed towtowwtowt ardardardardar s aaaaany ny ny nynyny othothothtothothother ererer r e perperperpersonos  in respepes ct ct ct c of of o thethee ususussuuse oe oe oe oe oe oe of tf tttf tthishh  reporortt t ot ot oott or fr for or relreliance e on thehe ininforfformatmatmatmatmatmatm ionionionionion 
conconcontaitaitaitaitaiainednednednednedne inininnin ththththis iis reprereprerere ortortoroo bybybybybyby aaanana y oy oy otheeer perssson or or foforforf anany oy oooy oy othetheththttt r pr pr pppppppurposeosesesesesesee.. . The use ofof ththis is repreportort by unautthorhoriseiseddddd
thithihithithithith rdrdrdrdrdrd r parparpararparparpartitietietietieties ws ws ws wss wwithiththithithiti outoutoutououtout wrwrwrwrwrittittittittittten en enen en en autautautautautauthorhorhorhorhorhorisaisaisaisaisaisai tiotioitiotiotititi n fn fn fn fn n  romom JTTJTP sP sP halh ll bbll e ae aaaaat tt ttttttheheheheiheiheihhh r own risk, and JTP accept pt nono dutduty oy of f 
cacacararcarcarcare tee e o aany yyy sucsuuccucch th th tth tthhirhirhirhirhi d pd pd pd pd pd partartartarta ty. y. yyy  This documememeent ntnt nt maymaymaymamaymaymay coontan inin phophotogtotot raphs of and/or quotes from participant is inn 
thethethethe CoCoCoCCommmmummumm nitnitnity PPPPlananannannanninninninninninninggg pg pg g pg rococcccessessessesseess. P. P. P.. PPublicatioii n iis is is is is is intentententententendendendenndn d ad s aaa rrecord of the event(s) rather than a
representation of ff ff tttthetheethe viviviviewsewswswss ofofofofofof ththtthhe se se ubjubjbjbjubjectectectectect(s)(s)(s(s(

PROJECT CODE 01755

CREATED BY LAC/SY

CHECKED BY ECC/RT/CC 

ISSUE TYPE DRAFT

ISSUED ON MAR 2021

112



Maidenhead will be a thriving Thames-side community - a welcoming social, 

community and business hub that makes the most of everything that surrounds 

it. It shall be a place where we celebrate local character and embrace new, 

high-quality buildings and public spaces. Connected, physically and digitally, 

the town centre will be our proud heart, a place of leisure, living and working 

which seamlessly transitions between vibrant day and evening activities.

15-YEAR VISION FOR THE TOWN CENTRE

113



114



We, the undersigned, subscribe to the Vision and Charter points set out in this document.

SIGNATURES

SIGNATURES TO BE 
PLACED HERE

115



8

CREATING 
THE VISION & 
CHARTER

The face of Maidenhead Town Centre is changing fast with several developments around the town
as well as changes to the road network and the forecourt of the railway station. In order to bring all 
this work together and communicate a strong and supported vision, the Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead (RBWM) appointed JTP to engage with local stakeholders and the wider community
to co-create a shared Placemaking Vision and Charter for Maidenhead Town Centre. As part of this 
process a Community Planning Process, including a Community Planning Day held in Nicholsons 
Shopping Centre, engaged a wide cross section of the community in dialogue and co-design to shape 
the vision. More details on The Process and the Community Engagement can be seen in Appendix I & 
II of this document.

The Vision and Charter will be underpinned by the policies set out by the Borough Local Plan 2013-33 
BLPSV-PC and the supporting Placemaking Study completed in 2019. By signing this document, key 
stakeholders and future developers will commit to contributing to the delivery of the overall vision 
and charter points, which describes and illustrates the local community’s aspirations for the future of 
Maidenhead’s Town Centre. It will also help guide a number of other future areas of work, including 
future transport and parking strategies and public realm design standards respectively.

  Maidenhead Town Centre viewed from South West

116



9

BACKGROUND

  The Clock Tower, Station Approach

  The Clock Tower, Station Approach

  New residential and retail development at Chapel Arches, Maidenhead Town Centre

  New residential and retail development at Chapel Arches, Maidenhead Town Centre

117



10

MAIDENHEAD 
TOMORROW

Existing Waterways 

Existing Green Open Space 

Maidenhead Rail Station

Existing Railway, services towards 
London Paddington and the West

Marlow Branch

Existing Roads

WHAT WILL MAIDENHEAD TOWN CENTRE BE LIKE 
IN THE FUTURE? 
Maidenhead town centre will be a mixture of new modern buildings that sit comfortably alongside the 
old. Clusters of small independent shops populated by artisan bakeries, coffee shops and clothing and 
homeware are popular throughout the day. The new public squares and green spaces provide a peaceful 
place to sit on a bench and enjoy a quick bite or a coffee. During the day the town centre is a bustling 
mix of office workers grabbing lunch and essentials and local residents coming in to shop and utilise local 
services. At night the varied mix of new restaurants and bars provide a vibrancy not seen for many years 
and are as well visited by the apartment dwellers close by as by local families travelling in by bike, foot 
and car from the leafy suburbs of the wider town. At the weekend regular events including specialist food 
markets and community festivals draw people in from the surrounding areas and give the town centre an 
animated, cosmopolitan feel. The paths alongside the waterway are busiest at weekends with walkers and 
cyclists enjoying the waterside setting before stopping off to chat and socialise within the local cafe culture 
of Maidenhead.

118



11

BACKGROUND

119



CHARTER 
POINTS

1. We commit to shaping a safe town centre with a rich, balanced mix of uses and a strong identifiable heart, 
that promotes a collaborative community and supports a vibrant and diverse day and evening economy. 

2. We commit to supporting a dynamic and resilient local economy, attractive to national and international 
employers, whilst supporting local, independent businesses and community initiatives, nurturing start-ups, 
training and creating employment and volunteering opportunities throughout the town. 

3. We commit to delivering an excellent virtual and physical connectivity throughout the town centre with the 
development of high-speed digital infrastructures. 

4. We recognise the important role of arts and culture and community led events in enabling variety, vibrancy 
and creativity and commit to supporting these uses and activities in the town. 

5. We commit to creating a town that is fully inclusive for all ages, abilities and cultural diversities. 

6. We commit to make Maidenhead an exemplar town for sustainable development. 

7. We commit to developing a balanced movement hierarchy within the town that supports good movement 
across the town, which effectively accommodates the car and provides an environment where walking, cycling 
and public transport can be a natural choice.

We, the people of Maidenhead, civic leaders and representatives of the business, voluntary and 
community sectors, are jointly committed to the new Vision Charter for Maidenhead Town Centre.

120



8. We commit to strengthening the existing ‘green and blue’ landscape assets with enhanced connections and 
public realm, sensitively developing mixed use buildings fronting onto and activating the waterways for the 
benefits of the community. 

9. We commit to seeking the highest design quality in new buildings and embracing the opportunities of a 
growing town centre to provide healthy and high-quality living, leisure and working environments with 
sustainable corrections from Bray Wick to the heart of the town centre. 

10. We will champion the delivery of inclusive, attractive and flexible public realm to support community 
wellbeing and provide a range of community, retail and food related activities to improve the vibrancy of the 
town centre and restore local pride. 

11. We commit to creating a green town including working towards achieving net biodiversity gain on all town 
centre projects. 

12.  The local community, businesses and Council will continue to collaborate to plan, review, shape and deliver 
the Vision, to usher in an exciting new chapter in Maidenhead town centre’s story.

“We will shape the Maidenhead town 
centre we want to see, together.”

121



14

ACTIONS &
NEXT STEPS 1. Economic Recovery

 The global Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on Maidenhead town centre, business, and 
community.  As a result there is a need to look at how support can be provided and economic recovery 
can be achieved over the next 12-18 months. 

2. Transport Strategy
 

Reimagine the current road network as no longer simply maintaining a highways function and 
increasing capacity for the car, but as a network that provides a comprehensive movement strategy that 
accommodates a range of functions, facilitates greening and helps to reconnect the town to its centre 
and provides easy movement across the town and through it. 

3. Greening Maidenhead
 

Develop a strategy that drives greening of Maidenhead, seeking all opportunities to green the town 
centre, including a tree planting strategy that supports north-south and east-west green links in and 
around the town centre. Wherever possible, enhance local biodiversity with green roofs, walls and great 
public realm. 

4. Maximising the Asset of Waterways
 

Enhance waterside access and engage with established local organisations to further activate the water 
with light sporting and leisure activities that benefit the community. 

5. Plan for Southern Expansion Masterplan
 

Develop a strategy to explore potential enhanced sustainable transport links to the south of the 
railway, particularly on the existing towpath along York Stream, and the potential new route south, 
underneath the railway bridge. 

122



15

VISION: NEXT STEPS

6. Healthy Streets
 

Develop and implement a comprehensive movement strategy which is underpinned by the concept 
of  healthy streets and includes a parking strategy, public transport links and enhanced walking and 
cycling routes, key in this is a pedestrian and cycle route east from Maidenhead Golf Club to Braywick 
Park. 

7. RBWM ‘Leading by Example’
 

Make use of council owned sites and projects to influence local offers and facilities, and to set a new 
benchmark in environmental standards.

8. Working with the Business Community

 Collaborate with large businesses located in Maidenhead and working closely with them to further 
enhance their role and integration within the town.

9. Digital Maidenhead 

 Work towards building excellent digital connectivity throughout the town centre and support the 
establishment of a strong community platform and (digital) connection in Maidenhead, including 
exploring the potential for a new town ‘app’ that advertises and provides information on all events.

10. Social Arena

 Build on all the community activity and spirit within the town to create a even diverse and burgeoning 
mix of community, cultural and arts events, festivals and activities that make Maidenhead a true arena 
of social activity.

123



16

MAIDENHEAD 
TOWN TEAM Throughout the Placemaking Vision community planning process participants expressed their 

appreciation of the opportunity to input their ideas into the vision and wanted to continue to be involved 
in developing proposals and delivering positive change. A key part of the vision strategy therefore, is to 
establish a Town Team to act as an advocate and champion for the vision and contribute to its delivery. 

To this end, the Town Team will be made up of representatives from public, private, not for profit and 
community sectors. The Forum will be supported by a number of Action Teams to focus on specific topic 
areas, such as Movement & Transport, Sustainability Innovation (COP 25), Open Space & Environment, 
Arts & Culture, Young People, Retail & Markets, Communications etc. The Town Team coordinator 
will be responsible for facilitating the process and organise liaison between the various partners and 
communication with the wider community.  In this way, everyone with an interest in the future of 
Maidenhead town centre will have the opportunity to continue working together, building on a spirit of 
cooperation, and delivering an attractive, vibrant and sustainable town centre for all. 

124



17

VISION: NEXT STEPS

LOCAL BUSINESSES
& INVESTORS 

THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

TOWN TEAM COORDINATOR

MAIDENHEAD 

TOWN TEAM

125



126



127



Unit 5, The Rum 
Warehouse
Pennington Street
London E1W 2AP
T. +44 (0)20 7017 1780
www.jtp.co.uk

Town Hall,
St Ives Road,
Maidenhead SL6 1RF
T. +44 (0)1628683800
www.rbwm.gov.uk

128



T
DRAFT

RAFT
DRAFTAFAFFRRARAAAFTFTFTFTTTTTTFTFTFTFTTT

RRRRRDDDDDDRDRDDDDRDRRRAAAAAAAAAFAFAFAFFRRARARARAAAAAAFAFAFAFF
DDDDDDD

TFTTFTFTTTTTFFFFFFFFTFTFTFTTTTTTT

129



130



APPENDIX

131



132



APPENDIX: 

THE PROCCESS THAT CREATED 

THE VISION AND CHARTER 

133



134



BACKGROUND

135



16

INTRODUCTION
VISION & CHARTER
The face of Maidenhead Town Centre is changing fast with several developments around the town 
as well as changes to the road network and the forecourt of the railway station. In order to bring all 
this work together and communicate a strong and supported vision, the Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead (RBWM) has appointed JTP to work with local stakeholders and the wider community to 
develop and create a shared Placemaking Vision and Charter for Maidenhead Town Centre. The Vision 
and Charter will be underpinned by the policies set out by the Borough Local Plan 2013-33 BLPSV-PC 
and the supporting Placemaking Study completed in 2019.

By signing this document, key stakeholders and future developers will commit to contributing to the 
delivery of the overall vision and charter points, which describes and illustrates the local community’s 
aspirations for the future of Maidenhead’s Town Centre. It will also help guide a number of other future 
areas of work, including the future transport and parking strategies and public realm design standards.

Maidenhead’s Grade I Listed Railway Bridge 

136



17

BACKGROUND

  Maidenhead Town Centre viewed from South West

  The Clock Tower, Station Approach   New residential and retail development at Chapel Arches, Maidenhead Town Centre

137



18

PLANNING
EMERGING BOROUGH LOCAL PLAN
Maidenhead Town Centre has been identified within the emerging Borough Local Plan (BLPSV) as a 
location to accommodate future growth and new development as part of a wider spatial strategy for the area.

The Borough Council has recognised the importance of ‘placemaking’ as part of planning for future 
growth and development, and subsequently has commissioned Hyas Associates to work alongside officers 
to prepare the placemaking study that considers particular issues, influences and opportunities relating 
to the Town Centre. The Study has been prepared against the policies in the submitted version of BLPSV 
and the evidence base in place at submission. 

In 2019, a Borough-wide Tall Buildings study was commissioned in response to a change in the approach 
to tall buildings in the Proposed Changes to BLPSV (BLPSV-PC). The 2019 work includes a methodology 
for characterising tall buildings and development context across the Borough in order to provide a 
framework for an approach to tall buildings.

TALL BUILDINGS  
STRATEGY

FINAL REPORT

OCTOBER 2019 

ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 
TALL BUILDINGS STUDY

Left: Excerpt from the BLPSV-PC Plan Policies 
Map

Right: Maidenhead Town Centre Area Action 
Plan - Tall Buildings Appraisal (October 2019) 

138



19

BACKGROUND

Maidenhead Town Centre 
Placemaking Study

September 2019

Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead Councilwww.hyas.co.uk

PLACEMAKING STUDY 
The Placemaking Concept Plan defines three distinct areas 
within which different challenges and opportunities exist: 

1.   Town Centre 
2.  Town Centre Ring 
3.  Town Centre Fringe 

This Vision & Charter is built upon, but not limited to, the analysis and 
consideration of the work already produced by the Placemaking Study. 

The red line boundary illustrated in the Placemaking Study is the town centre 
boundary as illustrated in the BPLSV-PC. 

This Vision & Charter for Maidenhead Town Centre is not limited to the 
boundary, covering an undefined town centre area and including a range of 
themes some of which cannot usefully be physically defined. 

Moreover, this document is written in respect of the BLPSV-PC and 
recognises that BLPSV-PC is still in examination and therefore may be 
subject to change, including the policies map on the left.

139



20

LOCAL 
PHOTOGRAPHS

2

4

6

7

8

9
3

5

1

  King Street, looking north   Grenfell Park

  Key Plan with emerging Borough Local Plan Town Centre Area 

  Underpass to west of Frascati Way, from High Town Road

1 2 3

140



21

BACKGROUND

  Castle Hill bridge   Crescent Footbridge street art   Kidwells Park

  St Mary’s Walk to High Street   High Street looking east   York Stream and towpath 

7

4

8

5

9

6

141



22

TOWN CENTRE 
ANALYSIS CONSTRAINTS & OPPORTUNITIES

Maidenhead Town Centre currently has a number of physical constraints that restrict movement, 
development and access. However, equally, it has major green and blue assets as well as infrastructure and 
shopping frontages that promote opportunities for enhanced town centre development. The creation of a 
successful town centre will rely on acknowledging and utilising such constraints and opportunities to make 
a thriving and unique place. 

Town Centre boundary as identified in the 
emerging Borough Local Plan (BLPSV-PC)

Existing Railway, services towards London 
Paddington (East) and Reading (West)

Marlow Branch, connecting Maidenhead 
and Furze Platt to Cookham, Bourne End 
and Marlow

A4 Road

A308 Road

Existing Waterways

Treeline

Deep cutting waterway

Ring of Parks and Green Spaces 
around the Town Centre 

Potential to create green link

Opportunities to expand development 
to the south of the Town Centre

Conservation Area 

Maidenhead Train Station  
Improvement Area 

Existing underpass (pedestrian)

Vehicular Gateways into Town 

Key shopping frontages

Maidenhead Train Station 

Castle Hill, Maidenhead Conservation Area 

Maidenhead Town Centre Conservation Area 

Weak permeability between town centre core and town centre  
fringe due to railway lines and a road acting as physical barriers 

Weak accessibility to green open spaces from town centre core 

Weak and difficult access to waterways

Potential to improve connectivity from the Town Centre 
to the Maidenhead Bridge, hence to the River Thames

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

142



23

BACKGROUND

1

2

3

4

4

5

7

6

TOWARDS BRACKNELL & WINDSOR

TO SLOUGH

TO LONDON

TO READING

TOWARDS 
MARLOW

GRENFELL PARK

KIDWELLS PARK

THE MOOR

BRAYWICK SPORTS 
AND RECREATION 

GROUND

MAIDENHEAD 
GOLF CLUB

  Constraints and Opportunities Map 

143



144



MAIDENHEAD 
TODAY

145



26

EXCELLENT REGIONAL, NATIONAL AND 
INTERNATIONAL CONNECTIVITY
Maidenhead has particularly a great east-west connectivity with 
Great Western Main line servicing to London and Reading, and 
the M4 that links the town to Bristol. The town’s proximity to 
Heathrow further signifies its international connectivity. 

GREEN AND BLUE SETTING
Located within the green belt, Maidenhead has an attractive Thames-
side setting and green rural hinterland, including the Colne Valley 
Regional Park and is surrounded by other beautiful regional and 
national landscapes including the Chiltern Hills, Surrey Hills and 
South Downs Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

THE CIVIC HEART OF THE BOROUGH
Maidenhead is home to the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Council.

LEISURE, ARTS & FOOD
Maidenhead has a wide range of excellent leisure, arts and food 
facilities including Norden Farm Community Arts, Desborough 
Theatre, the new Braywick Park Leisure Centre and Bray as a 
renowned culinary destination.

A TOWN OF SHORT DISTANCES
Maidenhead town centre is a place of short distances with 
virtually the whole town centre accessible by foot or cycle within 
10 to 15 minutes.

A TOWN WITH NEIGHBOURS
Maidenhead has well-known neighbours such as London, Reading and 
Slough as business hubs, Bracknell for its shopping and Thames-side 
towns and villages such as Windsor, Henley-on-Thames and Marlow.

AS
SE

TS

2

3

5

6

41

CH
AL

LE
NG

ES

INTEGRATING USES 
Ensuring the various uses within the town centre are physically 
integrated and successfully contributing to the overall town centre 
offer is key. With a large number of developments planned and 
proposed in Maidenhead, creating a blend of different uses and 
offers to deliver a cohesive town centre will be key to creating a 
successful place. 

PRESSURE ON COMMUNITY FACILITIES
The community currently feels that there are limited health and 
community services and amenities within the town centre. The local 
community has concerns over the added pressure on these facilities 
from the projected increase in the town’s population. 

6

CAR DOMINATED TOWN 
Despite having great national links, the local connections in and 
around Maidenhead are poor. There are limited public transport 
links and unsafe cycle routes to the surrounding towns and 
villages. This results in heavy reliance on cars, causing congestion, 
parking, and pollution issues to dominate the town centre.

1

POOR TOWN CENTRE OFFER
There is no identifiable heart in Maidenhead Town Centre. 
Combined with a poor offer of retailers, especially the evening 
economy, culture and activities for all ages, the town has suffered 
from spend leakages with its residents spending much of their 
money and time in the surrounding towns.

2

UGLY AND GREY ENVIRONMENT
Compared to its neighbours, Maidenhead lacks a distinct identity. The 
local community find the public spaces and buildings within the town 
centre to be generally of poor quality, dark and unsafe. This perception 
discourages people from going into the town.

3

5

COMMUTE IN & COMMUTE OUT 
As a top rated commuter town, many residents commute out of 
Maidenhead to work. There are a number of prestigious employers 
located in Maidenhead, but most of their well-paid workers live 
outside of Maidenhead, resulting in fluctuating levels of population 
and activity throughout the days.

MAIDENHEAD 
T O D A Y

A town which does not efficiently serve its residents and where change is needed

4

146



MAIDENHEAD TODAY

27

MAIDENHEAD TODAY

OP
PO

RT
UN

IT
IE

S

ELIZABETH LINE INVESTMENT 
In the future, Maidenhead will be serviced by Crossrail’s 
Elizabeth line. This future transport link has increased the 
profile and interest in the town.

2

VERY POPULAR PLACE TO LIVE 
Maidenhead is considered as a “top rated” commuter 
town with many people attracted to its proximity to its 
surrounding assets and its connections to the capital. 

3

DECLARATION OF CLIMATE EMERGENCY TOWN
The Council has declared an environmental and climate 
emergency and will establish a Zero Carbon Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead by 2050 Strategy in 
consultation with the local stakeholders and partners. 

5

GROWTH OF TOWN TO THE SOUTH
There is an opportunity to increase Maidenhead’s town 
centre offer by growing the town south of the railway, 
better connecting the town centre to the new leisure 
facilities at Bray Wick.

6

STRONG EMPLOYMENT
Maidenhead has attracted a number of large employers 
and 16,000 employees to the town. With the 
regeneration of the town centre, this will open up further 
opportunities for future office based employment growth 
in Maidenhead, as well as an increase in local retail, cafés, 
restaurants and entertainment employment.

4CHANGE IS HAPPENING 
There is an acknowledgment within the town that change 
is happening and is welcomed by the local residents. 
Regeneration of the town centre has already commenced 
with the Chapel Arches and The Landing development.

1

147



28

ASSETS

  Kidwells Park

Maidenhead’s greatest asset is its range of natural features. Maidenhead has access to green and 
blue features of local, regional and national significance. Such assets are crucial in characterising and 
identifying Maidenhead as an important riverside town and in giving the town a significant advantage to 
build a healthy and sustainable place to live, work and play. Particularly, Maidenhead  town centre could 
use its natural blessings to help create a distinctive offer as an environmentally friendly and popular place 
to be. 

“We have good quality, local green spaces in and  
around the town, like Grenfell Park and Kidwells Park.” 

“River Thames is our greatest asset.”

148



29

ASSETS

1. EXCELLENT REGIONAL, NATIONAL AND 
INTERNATIONAL CONNECTIVITY 

4. TOWN WITH NEIGHBOURS

2. GREEN AND BLUE SETTING

5. LEISURE, ARTS & FOOD

3. THE CIVIC HEART OF THE BOROUGH

6. A TOWN OF SHORT DISTANCES

Maidenhead has excellent east-west 
connectivity with the Great Western Main 

line and the M4 linking the town to London 
and the west. The town’s proximity to 

Heathrow further enhances its international 
connectivity. 

Located within the green belt, Maidenhead has 
an attractive Thames-side setting and green rural 
hinterland, including the Colne Valley Regional 

Park and is surrounded by other beautiful regional 
and national landscapes including the Chiltern 
Hills, Surrey Hills and South Downs Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Maidenhead is home to the Royal Borough 
of Windsor & Maidenhead Council.  

Maidenhead has well-known neighbours such as 
London, Reading and Slough as business hubs, 

Bracknell for its shopping and Thames-side towns 
and villages such as Windsor, Henley-on-Thames 

and Marlow.

Maidenhead has a wide range of excellent leisure, 
arts and food facilities including Norden Farm 
Centre for the Arts, Desborough Theatre, the 

new Braywick Park Leisure Centre and Bray as a 
renowned culinary destination.

Maidenhead town centre is a place of short 
distances, with the whole town centre 

accessible by foot or cycle within 10 to 15 
minutes.

149



30

CHALLENGES
One of the major challenges of the town centre revolves around the ring road, which acts as a physical 
barrier to the town, restricting pedestrian and cycle access to and from it. Many buildings are currently 
positioned to have backs to the ring road, further secluding the town core to the rest of the Maidenhead. 
This car-oriented structure is critical to the high levels of pollution, anti-social behaviour and spending 
leakages within the town centre. The challenge and hence the success of the town centre relies on 
transforming the current car-dominated movements in and around Maidenhead to a balance of 
sustainable and active modes of transport. 

“The Ring Road is a substantial barrier.” 

“The major problem here is access! It’s difficult and dangerous 
to cycle in and pedestrian paths are dark and unpleasant.”

  A308 (Frascati Way) and Pedestrian Underpass

150



31

CHALLENGES

Despite having great national links, the local 
connections in and around Maidenhead are poor. 

There are limited public transport links and unsafe 
cycle routes to the surrounding towns and villages. 

This results in heavy reliance on cars, causing 
significant congestion, parking, and pollution 

issues to dominate the town centre.

There is no identifiable heart in Maidenhead Town 
Centre. Combined with a poor offer of retailers, 

especially the evening economy, culture and 
activities for all ages, the town has suffered from 
spend leakages with its residents spending much 

of their money and time in the surrounding towns.

1. CAR DOMINATED TOWN

4. COMMUTE IN & COMMUTE OUT

2. POOR TOWN CENTRE OFFER

5. INTEGRATING USES

3. UGLY AND GREY ENVIRONMENT

6. PRESSURE ON COMMUNITY FACILITIES

Ensuring the various uses within the town 
centre are physically integrated and successfully 

contributing to the overall town centre offer is key. 
With a large number of developments planned 

and proposed in Maidenhead, creating a blend of 
different uses and offers to deliver a cohesive town 

centre will be key to creating a successful place.

The community currently feels that there are 
limited health and community services and 
amenities within the town centre. The local 

community has concerns over the added pressure 
on these facilities from the projected increase in 

the town’s population.

Compared to its neighbours, Maidenhead lacks 
a distinct identity. The local community find the 

public spaces and buildings within the town centre 
to be generally of poor quality, dark and unsafe. 
This perception discourages people from going 

into the town.

As a top rated commuter town, many residents 
commute out of Maidenhead to work. There 

are a number of prestigious employers located 
in Maidenhead, but most of their well-paid 

workers live outside of Maidenhead, resulting 
in fluctuating levels of population and activity 

throughout the days.

151



32

OPPORTUNITIES
The major opportunity in Maidenhead is driven by the large scale and number of developments that are 
being invested in and projected within the town centre. The generated demand for Maidenhead supports 
the creation of Vision & Charter for the town centre, to create a vibrant area, for leisure, living and 
working. Furthermore, it is important to engage in the opportunity to strengthen Maidenhead’s social and 
cultural status along with the mass restructuring of the physical form of the town centre.  

“Development within the town centre is good and positive.  
I’m excited to see some vibrancy in this town!”

Chapel Arches Scheme

HIGH TOWN ROAD

CASTLE HILL

MARLOW ROAD

FRASCATI WAY

GRENFELL PARK

GRENFELL ROAD

KIDWELLS PARK

GREAT WESTERN RAILWAY

MAIDENHEAD STATION

HIGH STREET

THE 
LANDING

BERKSHIRE 
HOUSE

YORK ROAD

3-6 BRIDGE  
AVENUE

1 BRIDGE AVENUE

BELL TOWER HOUSE

KINGS CHASE

21 BROADWAY

CHAPEL
ARCHES

KIDWELLS 
ESTATE

STAFFERTON WAYMAIDENHEAD GOLF 
COURSE

SAINT-CLOUD WAY

NICHOLSONS

WEST STREET
HIGH STREET / YORK 

STREAM

BROADWAY

STAFFERTON WAY

QU
EEN

 ST
RE

ET

KING STREET

FORLEASE ROAD

YORK STREAM

YORK STREAM

MOOR CUT

CHURCH OF CHRIST 
SCIENCE OFFICE

SAINT-CLOUD WAY

BRIDGE ROAD

STAFFERTON WAY

BAD GODESBERG WAY

Consented Developments Opportunity Areas

Consented and Opportunity Areas as per current development proposals and the MTC AAP

152



33

OPPORTUNITIES

1. CHANGE IS HAPPENING 2. ELIZABETH LINE INVESTMENT 3. VERY POPULAR PLACE TO LIVE

4. STRONG EMPLOYMENT 5. DECLARATION OF
 CLIMATE EMERGENCY TOWN

6. GROWTH OF THE TOWN TO THE SOUTH

There is an acknowledgment within the town that 
change is happening and is welcomed by the local 

residents. Regeneration of the town centre has 
already commenced with the Chapel Arches and 

The Landing development.

In the future, Maidenhead will be serviced by 
Crossrail’s Elizabeth line. This future transport link 
has increased the profile and interest in the town.

Maidenhead is considered as a “top rated” 
commuter town with many people attracted to 
its proximity to its surrounding assets and its 

connections to the capital. 

Maidenhead has attracted a number of large 
employers and 16,000 employees to the town. 

With the regeneration of the town centre, this will 
open up further opportunities for future office 

based employment growth in Maidenhead, as well 
as increase in local retail, cafés, restaurants and 

entertainment employment.

The Council has declared an environmental 
and climate emergency and will establish a 

Zero Carbon Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead by 2050 Strategy in consultation 

with the local stakeholders and partners. 

There is an opportunity to increase Maidenhead’s 
town centre offer by growing the town south of 

the railway, better connecting the town centre to 
the new leisure facilities at Bray Wick.

153



154



COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT

155



36

TIMELINE
To develop an in-depth understanding of the town’s needs and aspirations, a community planning process 
reached out to the local residential and business communities for their opinions of the area and worked 
to co-create a consensus vision for the town centre. The community engagement process centred 
on a Community Planning Day (CPD) held on November 2019, which was supported by a period of 
community animation. Community animation was carried out to encourage participation at the CPD 
and to begin to understand the local issues in and around the Maidenhead town centre. During the entire 
course of community engagement, JTP interacted directly with over 500 local people in Maidenhead and 
the surrounding neighbourhoods, of which around 300 attended the CPD. 

The CPD consisted of dialogue workshops, walkabouts and hands-on planning sessions to bring to light 
the key issues and opportunities for the town. In addition to the workshops, a background exhibition was 
on display throughout the event, giving the opportunity for anyone to come along, view the exhibition and 
to spark to and leave comments with team members.

The drawings produced during the hands-on planning session and the detailed outcomes of the CPD were 
used to inform the Vision & Charter and they are set out in the appendix to this document. 

PROCESS

ESTIMATED COMPLETION

COMMUNITY 
PLANNING DAY 

LAUNCH

ESTIMATED COMPLETION

VISION
REPORT
BACK

ESTIMATED COMPLETIONPUBLICATION 
OF CHARTER

ESTIMATED COMPLETIONCOMMUNITY 
ANIMATION

ESTIMATED COMPLETION

COMMUNITY 
PLANNING 

DAY 

4 November 2019 Early November 2019 23 November 2019 14 January 2020 July 2020

On-going 
Engagement

156



37

PROCESS

“When you say you live in 
Maidenhead, people say: 

‘Lucky You!’”

“Create a town and 
civic centre that the 

community is proud to 
be a part of.”

“Aspire to be 
Maidenhead!”

“Build a socially, 
culturally & aesthetically 

vibrant Thames-side 
town.”  Report Back on outcomes of Young People’s Workshop

  Hands-On Planning (HOP) Session   Community Reports Back on from HOP session

157



158



VISION &
CHARTER THEMES 

159



40

RECONNECT THE  
TOWN TO ITS CENTRE

CHAMPION SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT

DIVERSIFY THE TOWN 
CENTRE OFFER

EMBRACE THE OPPORTUNITIES 
OF A GROWING TOWN

CREATE BEAUTIFUL BUILDINGS & 
HIGH-QUALITY PUBLIC REALM

CELEBRATE LOCAL 
DISTINCTIVENESS

CHARTER THEMES

MAIDENHEAD 
V I S I O N

1 5 - Y E A R  V I S I O N  F O R  T H E  T O W N  C E N T R E
Maidenhead shall be a thriving Thames-side community – a welcoming social, cultural and business hub. It shall be a place where we celebrate local character and embrace all that 
surrounds us. Connected, physically and digitally, the town centre will be our proud heart, storied for its sustainable buildings, healthy streets, dynamic spaces and its rich tapestry 

of green and blue landscapes. A liveable environment that seamlessly transitions from day to evening, it will be a destination for all. 

160



VISION

41

VISION

ACTIONS & NEXT STEPS

RING ROAD STRATEGY
Reimagine the ring road corridor as no longer 
simply maintaining a highways function and 

increasing capacity for the car, but as one that 
accommodates a range of functions and facilitates 

greening and helps to reconnect the town to its 
centre.

MOVEMENT STRATEGY
Develop and implement a comprehensive 

movement strategy which is underpinned by 
healthy streets concept and includes a parking 
strategy, improved public transport links and 
enhanced walking and cycling routes, key in 
this is a pedestrian and cycle route east from 

Maidenhead Golf Club to Bray Wick.

DIGITAL MAIDENHEAD
Work towards building excellent digital 

connectivity throughout the town centre and 
establish a strong community platform and 

(digital) connection in Maidenhead with the new 
town ‘app’ that advertises and provides information 

on all events, activities, volunteering and work 
opportunities within Maidenhead.

GREENING MAIDENHEAD
Develop a strategy that drive radical greening of 

Maidenhead, seeking all opportunities to green the 
town centre, including a tree planting strategy that 
supports north-south and east-west green links in 
and around the town centre. Future, expand and 
enhance local biodiversity with green roofs, walls 

and public realm where possible.

RBWM 
‘LEADING BY EXAMPLE’

Use of council owned sites and projects to 
influence local offers and facilities, and to set a 

new benchmark in environmental standards.

MAXIMISING THE ASSET 
OF WATERWAYS

Enhance waterside access and engage with 
established local organisations to further activate 
the water with light sporting and leisure activities 

that benefit the community.

WORKING WITH THE  
BUSINESS COMMUNITY

Collaborating with large businesses located in 
Maidenhead and working closely with them to 

further enhance their role and integration within 
the town. 

PLAN FOR SOUTHERN  
EXPANSION MASTERPLAN

Develop a strategy to explore potential enhanced 
sustainable transport links to the south of the 

railway, particularly on the existing towpath along 
York Stream, and the potential new route south, 

underneath the railway bridge.

ON-GOING 
ENGAGEMENT

Establish an engagement forum that includes the 
neighbourhood planning group, support groups, 
sustainability and climate groups, youth groups, 

the council, businesses and the developers.

161



42

RECONNECT THE TOWN TO ITS CENTRE
Reconfigure Maidenhead to be a walkable town, with reduced cars and congestion in the centre and more 
active travel solutions available.

• Reimagine the ring road corridor no longer as simply maintaining a highways function but as 
one that accommodates a range of functions and facilitates the greening and reconnection of 
the town and its centre.

• Promote a walkable town centre and encourage people to park on the edges through a tiered 
parking strategy. Provide e-bikes, on demand sharing services, cargo bikes, scooters and 
mobility vehicles to enable the revolution.

• Improve the existing public transport links to provide more reliable and regular services, to 
better connect Maidenhead with its neighbouring towns and villages. Offer people a greater 
choice of travel options into the town centre that discourage car use. 

• Promote and prepare the town centre for the rise of the EV-vehicles through enhancing and 
increasing the number and efficiency of its charging infrastructure. 

• Provide more secure parking spaces for bikes including cargo bikes and other ‘adapted’ bikes.

• Enhance existing pedestrian and cycle routes into and within the town centre to create 
attractive, safe and pleasant environments to encourage sustainable movement. 

• Review the potential to remove pedestrian underpasses and create at-grade crossings in their 
place. Improve existing crossing points and the maintenance of underpasses, to create safe 
and accessible routes into and within the town centre. 

THEMES

162



43

CHARTER THEMES

Adopting a ‘three-ring’ approach to pricing and allocating car parks in 
Maidenhead Town Centre. 

This approach has been used in Winchester in order to support town 
tourism and the economy, as well as to reduce congestion, carbon 
footprints and improve air quality. Such an approach could be applied to 
Maidenhead for reduced town centre traffic movements by encouraging 
parking on the periphery and walking or catching a park-and-ride bus 
into the centre. The public transport networks and services must be 
simultaneously improved for park-and-ride to be able to succeed.

REMOVING ROUNDABOUT JUNCTIONS
AND REIMAGINING THE RING-ROAD

‘THREE-RING’ PARKING STRATEGY

REPLACING THE UNDERPASS WITH AT-GRADE CROSSINGS 
AND SLOWING DOWN VEHICLES

163



44

DIVERSIFY & EXTEND THE TOWN CENTRE OFFER
Improve the mix of uses in the town centre, including residential, independent retailers, employment, leisure 
and culture, complementing the uses which already exist within the centre and the surrounding area. Create 
a collaborative society with young people, community groups, and local businesses working together to 
Make Maidenhead. 

• Establish a green, high-quality and identifiable heart for the town centre, populated by active 
uses including community uses, employment and retail.

• Enhance the town centre offer with restaurants and bars to generate activity and bring life into 
the town centre throughout the day and evening. 

• Provide a multi-purpose community and health hub for all members of the community, 
including young people and the elderly, as well as those with mental and physical disabilities. 

• Prioritise and support local and independent businesses by providing services as well as space to 
grow, network and seek advice. 

• Establish a local chain of suppliers, retailers and buyers to provide a self-sustaining and unique 
range of local businesses and services tailored-made for Maidenhead. 

• Support community volunteering initiatives, particularly for young people by connecting the 
younger community with a list of local organisations and employees for incentivised work 
experience opportunities.

• Establish a fast and secure broadband and internet services throughout Maidenhead to ensure 
strong connectivity between the residents and the town itself.  

• Establish a strong community involvement in Maidenhead with the new town ‘app’ that 
advertises and provides information for all events and activities in Maidenhead. 

• Provide platforms for children and youth to feel their place in Maidenhead, supporting and 
advertising opportunities to engage in educational and cultural activities. 

164



45

CHARTER THEMES

‘bakedd’, a local artisan bakery at Maidenhead Town Centre

“bakedd has got it right, 
it is what Maidenhead 
wants and needs! It 
is always packed and 
bustling with people.”

Youth & Community Volunteering in Local BusinessesVibrant evening arts and culture local event by Norden Farm at Maidenhead Town Centre

165



46

CREATE BEAUTIFUL BUILDINGS AND 
HIGH-QUALITY PUBLIC REALM 
The town centre is already undergoing change with several large developments coming forward. 
New buildings and public spaces must be of the highest quality, visually attractive and built to last.

• Create a collection of new public and civic spaces, designed with high quality materials and 
soft landscape.  A flexible design will ensure these spaces are suitable for a range of different 
activities and events, accommodating the diverse and fast changing offers of today and 
tomorrow.

• New public realm will champion inclusivity and will be accessible to all.

• Ensure the public realm is maintained to the highest standard.

• Soften buildings and public realm with a tree planting strategy and vertical greening.

• New tall buildings in the town centre must be in the right location, well-designed, visually 
attractive and built from high quality materials. New tall buildings in the town centre must 
comply with the objectives set out in the RBWM Tall Buildings Study (October 2019).   

• High density residential buildings must be good for their residents and the surrounding 
environment.  This includes ensuring adequate daylight and sunlight, minimising wind tunnel 
effects and safeguarding plenty of amenity space for families living in the town centre. All age 
groups should be considered and catered for.

166



47

CHARTER THEMES

Meeting House Square, Dublin

Quai Branly Museum, Vertical Garden, Paris Bulk Architecten Cadix Pancras Square, London

Community Street Arts Fair Patterned Public Space with Seats, Alicante

167



48

CHAMPION SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Maidenhead will be an exemplar town for sustainable development, outward looking in achieving global 
emission goals and ensuring developments to incorporate environmentally friendly design. 

• All new development in Maidenhead will raise the bar, working towards achieving Net Zero 
Carbon.

• The RBWM Property Company Ltd and the Council’s development company will lead by 
example, using council property to implement sustainable design and construction in their 
projects. 

• Prioritise the development of buildings that are ‘built to last’ and are able to respond to the 
changing socio-economic and environmental conditions of the future. 

• Develop a town centre sustainable construction strategy for all new projects, to coordinate 
construction logistics, deliveries and identify opportunities to minimise and reuse waste.

• Install roof mounted renewables and green roofs wherever possible within the town centre.

• Develop a consolidated approach to the collection of commercial waste in the town centre, to 
minimise the impact on the public realm and enhance the pedestrian experience. Prioritise 
electric vehicles for these collections.

• Commit to biodiversity net gain on all key town centre projects to ensure habitats for wildlife 
and beneficial species are protected, enhanced and connected.

• Create places that give access to water corridor and greenery for all local residents and the 
wider community, ensuring the town centre is a place for both people and wildlife.

• Support community gardening projects and tree planting initiatives.

168



49

CHARTER THEMES

 Guerrilla Gardening  Tree-lined Street Youth & Community Volunteer

PV Roofs and Panels  Urban Forestry for Wildlife, New York Green Roofs 

169



50

EMBRACE THE OPPORTUNITIES 
OF A GROWING TOWN
Rebalance the town’s ‘centre of gravity’ by extending the town centre, south of the railway line. 

Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead Council

1.9  The submission version Royal Borough of Windsor 

and Maidenhead Local Plan (the BLP) 2013 – 2033 

(BLPSV) which was submitted to the Secretary of 

State on 31 January 2018, allocates a significant 

amount of new development to the south west area 

of Maidenhead, totalling some  2600 new homes 

and representing around 31% of the proposed total 

housing allocations in the Plan. Within the Study 

area, the BLP also allocates Ockwells Park and Nature 

Reserve as an area of open space (Policy IF4); Braywick 

Park for the provision of a new leisure centre and 

associated indoor and outdoor sports facilities (Policy 

IF6) and land south of the A308(M), known as the 

Triangle site as an area protected for future long term 

employment uses (Policy ED2).  

1.10  The Study Area is a large wedge of land to the 

south west of Maidenhead railway station. The land 

has a range of topographies and comprises of a 

mix of open space (including a golf course), leisure, 

residential and employment activities. A number of key 

local roads into Maidenhead town centre run through 

the area and the A404(M), A308(M) and the M4 are 

significant assets and barriers for the area. Maidenhead 

town centre lies to the north of study area. 

1.11   Much of the land allocated for development in 

the Study Area is proposed, in the BLP, to be released 

from the Green Belt. The higher ground in the north 

of the Study Area is largely free from flood zone 2 & 3 

designations. There are several heritage designations 

and areas of ancient woodland. The area is in multiple 

ownerships with both public and private interests 

represented. A significant area has been promoted 

for development and is included in the Council’s most 

recent Housing and Employment Land Availability 

Assessment (HELAA 2019). Part of the area is in Council 

ownership. 

1.12   Whilst there are a number of housing, 

employment and open space allocated sites the 

submission version BLP does not identify the overall 

extent of the Study Area either on the Proposals Map 

or as a policy area. There is therefore currently no 

coordinated or comprehensive approach to the area or 

the allocations in the submitted Plan. Given the scale 

of development, the Council recognises the need to 

plan the area comprehensively to ensure the delivery 

of a high quality and sustainable place. 

The Study Area

Figure 1 :  
Study Area

South West Maidenhead Placemaking Study 
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead CouncilSeptember 2019 4

• The South West Maidenhead Placemaking Study highlights key opportunities south of the 
railway including a mix of open spaces, leisure, residential and employment activities. The town 
centre should harness this opportunity and enhanced connections between the two should be 
provided. 

• Consider and promote the opportunity to provide a sustainable transport connection between 
the town centre and the south, under the railway. This will support and encourage the town 
centre expansion and provide sustainable movement connections to the relocated leisure 
facilities at Braywick Park.

• Improve the lighting and quality of the existing towpath along York Stream and under the 
railway to improve access, safety and activity along the waterfront. 

South West Maidenhead Placemaking Study. Cover (left) and Extract of the study boundary (right)

170



51

CHARTER THEMES

Growing the town equally on both sides of the station. The potential to expand the town 
centre to the south, and greenery to the north is highlighted. 

Establish strong green link to the south of the railway line and explore potential to provide 
a sustainable transport crossings under the railway to support the growth and connection 
towards the south.

171



52

CELEBRATE LOCAL DISTINCTIVENESS
Maidenhead is a Thames-side town with several green spaces around its centre. Maidenhead’s rich history 
with and along the River Thames will be celebrated and enhanced.

• Strengthen the connection of Maidenhead’s rich Thames-side history to its people by 
connecting the already established water based organisations in the town, including 
Maidenhead Sailing Club, with the wider community. 

• Identify opportunities for future development within the town centre, to act as a catalyst for 
the delivery of new green and blue assets. 

• Strengthen the existing ecological corridors and reconnect the existing landscape assets 
through new and better green connections, both north-south and east-west. 

• Celebrate Maidenhead’s leading gastronomy, strengthening this unique asset with quality 
spaces to exhibit and sell local produce, attracting people of local, regional and national levels. 

• Strengthen Maidenhead’s successful Leisure, Arts and Culture offer by supporting the delivery 
of its spaces, amenities and events. 

• Celebrate Maidenhead’s rich Thames side history by enhancing access to the water. Activate 
the waterways and promote light water activities such as canoeing and kayaking, for the benefit 
of the community. 

Activating the water and the waterfront through activities and greenery. Public realm along the waterways will be 
enhanced to cater for both cycle and pedestrian movement, as well as outdoor seating areas for retail uses.  

172



53

CHARTER THEMES

Green Links connecting North/South and East/West 
of Maidenhead Town Centre and iconic assets and 
communities of Maidenhead, including Bray as a renowned 
culinary destination, the Maidenhead Sailing Club and 
Norden Farm centre for the Arts as the town’s centric 
community venue for arts workshops and performances. 

Canoeing along the Trent & Mersey CanalRiver Walk Life, San AntoniaBoulevard Saint-Germain, Paris

Conservation Area 

Green links 

Maidenhead Train Station

173



174



83

COMMUNITY PLANNING

175



Unit 5, The Rum 
Warehouse
Pennington Street
London E1W 2AP
T. +44 (0)20 7017 1780
www.jtp.co.uk

Town Hall,
St Ives Road,
Maidenhead SL6 1RF
T. +44 (0)1628683800
www.rbwm.gov.uk

176



T
DRAFT

RAFT
DRAFT

AFAFF
RRARAAAFTFTFTFTTTTTTFTFTFTFTTT
RRRRRDDDDDDRDRDDDDRDRRRAAAAAAAAAFAFAFAFF
RRARARARAAAAAAFAFAFAFF

DDDDDDD
TFTTFTFTTTTTFFFFFFFFTFTFTFTTTTTTT

177



178



APPENDIX

179



180



APPENDIX: 

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT FOR 

MAIDENHEAD TOWN TEAM 

181



6

PARTNERSHIP 
AGREEMENT 1. Objectives and Purpose of the group known as the Maidenhead Town Team 

 The group will comprise the people of the community, elected members and public officials working 
together towards a common goal of improving the centre of the town for those who live there, visit the 
area, operate a business there or have aspirations to do so.  

 
 Their aim and purpose are to deliver the 12 points in the charter Vision, be a champion and advocate for 

community engagement and participation, investment, and the role of the town as a key economic driver 
for the region. 

 They will do this in partnership with the Council by guiding the process, shaping the agenda for 
consideration and debate, communicating the activity to the wider stakeholder groups, and driving the 
charter forward. 

 The town team, as a true partnership, should focus on creating a sustainable town centre that meets 
social, economic and environmental issues, whilst addressing planning policy, that also include the arts 
and the community and the connectivity of the town with individual developments and the wider area. 

 The Town Team can expect to be part of a delivery process of a wide range of activities and bring 
significant change to the town centre.  

2. Term 

 The Maidenhead Vision Community Planning process began in November 2019.  Hundreds of people 
from the community participated and shared their thoughts and aspirations for the future of their town 
centre. The resulting Placemaking Vision & Charter for the town, worked up by the community, is 
designed to anticipate the requirements of the next 20 years.

 The winding up of this group before the year 2039 would need to be agreed by representatives of both 
the community, local authority and any stakeholders involved in the process.  Similarly, if it continues 
to operate after this time the group will need to agree the role and purpose of the group moving forward 
and the new term. Once agreed in principle, it would need to be approved by the Council, by way of a 
Cabinet approval. 

182



7

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

3. Membership 

 The Town Team is accessible to all.  A partnership with the Council, it reports and is accountable to the Council.  
The Town Team would include those of the community who have a constructive interest, local public authorities, 
stakeholders. The group should be fully representative of the demographics of the community of Maidenhead 
and be apolitical Special interest groups might be formed to represent specialist areas of interest and / or 
opportunity as and when appropriate. 

 The group commit to working together, encouraging new people to attend either for general support or 
knowledge and background.

 
 The group will consist of 8 individuals, who will be appointed by the Council.  Five will be drawn from the 

community, two will be the Lead Member for Maidenhead and their corresponding Shadow Lead Member or 
equivalent, and one will be Executive Director of Place Services.   

 The 5 community members of the group should demonstrate a wide cross section of the community 
representative of Maidenhead.  

 The membership of the group, excluding the Councillors and the Executive Director of Place Services will serve 
for a minimum term of 2 years, and a maximum term of 6 years.  Members of the group will seek re-election on 
an annual basis. 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 

 The group or ‘Town Team’ will not handle cash or hold funds

 The group will commit to directing the future of the town toward all objectives as agreed in the Charter. There 
is effectively no area where the group cannot investigate and bring about influence and change, providing the 
Council sanction such activity and that the efforts are in harmony with the town’s Vision Charter

 
 Any new proposals or areas of work can be commenced on agreement with the Council.  

 Any such new activity would need to be communicated to the Council as with all other existing groups.
 
 The group must demonstrate that in all matters and considerations they are working for the benefit of 

Maidenhead, and if any conflicts of interest arise, these should be declared, and that member of the group, 
would be excluded from that particular event or project consideration.  It is therefore important that 
members being selected for the group do not have a business interest in the town, that could gain financial 
benefit from any decision, or promotions or project coming forward. 

183



8

5. Meetings
 

The Council will establish the process for how meetings will operate.  Consideration will be made on 
how meetings might fit in with the local council meetings if it were felt advantageous.  

• The forum will normally meet bi-monthly.  The number of meetings may increase, or decrease 
depending on the volume or significance of the forum’s project progress and need for collaboration. 

• Other external organisations, or key stakeholders may attend all or part of the meetings at the 
invitation of the chair of the forum.

• Minutes of the meetings will be made available to all forum members. 
• Meetings should be held in a mutually convenient location, that is accessible to all members of the 

group.
• Meetings will be co-ordinated, minutes will be taken and distributed, by the Town Team Co-

Ordinator, who will be appointed by the Council. 

 The key agenda items and projects that are being considered at any time, will be communicated 
through the Make Maidenhead, Enjoy Maidenhead branding, and through the Council regeneration 
weblinks. 

 The participation of these meetings, and their wider engagement will also be communicated through 
the Council website, and with wider stakeholder groups. 

6. Quorum
 

The quorum for meetings is three members present, at least one must be a representative from Royal 
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead.

PARTNERSHIP 
AGREEMENT

184



9

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

7. Appointment of a chair   
Once the membership of the group has been confirmed by the Council, a chair will be elected, based 
on a nomination process.  This nomination process will be undertaken by the group, who would then 
recommend to the Council their elected Chair for final approval. 

 The Chair would sit for a period of 2 years, before a new Chair is elected. 

8. Town Team Coordinator

 A Town Team Coordinator will be allocated to the group, to keep this process alive and thriving.  
Creating agendas, documenting minutes, building a data base of those wishing to be involved, 
promoting the activity through social media are all aspects of the role.  

 The effective promotion of the campaign and continued direction of the organisation is the 
responsibility of the co-ordinator and chair along with the wider Council and town team. 

 
 A key part of this role is the leadership of the volunteers and coordination with local groups and 

officers of the Council.

185



10

9. Town Team Organisation

 See diagram across showing the structure of a Town Team. 

 Wider stakeholder groups would be able to input into the Town Team, with ideas, and items they felt 
required consideration, as part of the objectives of the Vision Charter.  They would also be able to 
bring to the group’s attention, any ideas, or one-off projects that would benefit the town. 

 Officer of the Council would also be invited to join in debate and make presentations on key items for 
consideration by the wider community, as and when required. These would be agreed and set on the 
agenda by the Town Team Coordinator and the Chair.

 This would give the Town Team group the ability to engage with both Officers of the Council and 
local ward Councillors on important policy reviews, that may have an impact on the delivery of the 12 
Charter points. 

PARTNERSHIP 
AGREEMENT

186



11

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

LOCAL BUSINESSES
& INVESTORS 

THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF 
WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

ACTION GROUP

TOWN TEAM COORDINATOR

MAIDENHEAD 

TOWN TEAM

187



188



83

COMMUNITY PLANNING

189



Unit 5, The Rum 
Warehouse
Pennington Street
London E1W 2AP
T. +44 (0)20 7017 1780
www.jtp.co.uk

Town Hall,
St Ives Road,
Maidenhead SL6 1RF
T. +44 (0)1628683800
www.rbwm.gov.uk

190



Strategic Communications Plan:  
Maidenheed Vision  

PROJECT DETAILS 
Project Name Maidenhead Vision 
Communication aim  To ensure residents are aware of the proposals for 

Maidenhead and the future plans 
Director/HOS Andrew Durrant
Officer Louisa Dean 

Date May 2021

PROJECT BACKGROUND
Maidenhead has been going through major change over the last few years, with new 
schemes being built as well as schemes in the planning pipeline.  This will change the 
physical environment where we work, live, and socialise.  

To capture all stakeholder and community views, and for them to have an input into the 
shape of the town going forward, it was felt that a ‘Vision for Maidenhead’ needed to be 
established. JTP Architects were appointed in early 2019, to help the council established 
the initial community engagement, and the vision document.  

Since the initial community workshops in late 2019 that formed the starting point for this 
Placemaking Vision and Charter document, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant 
impact on Maidenhead town centre, businesses, and community.  

As a result, the need for the placemaking vision demonstrating inspiration, ambition, and 
confidence in the future of our town centre has taken on the new significance, that of 
helping steer a course for the town centre’s post-COVID-19 recovery.  

The document sets out the Vision for Maidenhead Town centre for the next 15-20 years.  

Part of the work creating the vision will see the creation of the Town Team with a 
representative from a wide selection of groups, making it as inclusive as possible.  

The team will coordinate with other key stakeholders and community groups, will seek to  
review and influence decision making were possible. It will have eight individuals in it 
membership which will include two local councillors, one executive director from the 
council, and five independent members.   

The council will be responsible for appointing the members of the group.  Once the group 
has been established it will nominate a chair.   

The council will also provide support in the capacity of a Town Team coordinator, who will 
deal with agenda’s minutes of meetings, coordinating venue’s for meetings to take place, 
and coordinating input from other council officers as and when appropriate.  

191



2 

The twelve charter points can be seen below. 
 We commit to shaping a safe town centre with a rich, balanced mix of uses and a 

strong identifiable heart, that promotes a collaborative community and supports a 
vibrant and diverse say and evening economy.  

 We commit to supporting a dynamic and resilient local economy, attractive to 
national and international employers, whilst supporting local independent 
businesses and community initiatives, nurturing start-ups training and creating 
employment and volunteering opportunities throughout the town.  

 We commit to delivering an excellent virtual and physical connectivity throughout 
the town centre with the development of high-speed digital infrastructures.  

 We recognise the important role of arts and culture and community led events in 
the enabling variety, vibrancy and creativity and commit to supporting these uses 
and activities in the town.  

 We commit to creating a town that is fully inclusive for all ages, abilities, and 
cultural diversities.  

 We commit to Make Maidenhead an exemplar town for sustainable development. 
 We commit to developing a balanced movement hierarchy within the town that 

support good movement across the town, which effectively accommodates the car 
and provides an environment where walking, cycling and public transport can be 
a natural choice.  

 We commit to strengthening the existing green and blue landscape assets with 
enhanced connections and public realm, sensitively developing mixed use 
buildings fronting onto and activating the waterways for the benefits of the 
community  

 We commit to seeking the highest design quality in new buildings and embracing 
the opportunities of a growing town centre to provide healthy and high-quality 
living, leisure and working environments with sustainable connections from 
Braywick to the heart of the town centre.  

 We will champion the delivery of inclusive, attractive, and flexible public realm to 
support community wellbeing and provide a range of community, retail, and food 
related activities to improve the vibrancy of the town centre and restore local pride. 

 We commit to creating a green town including working towards achieving net 
biodiversity gain on all town centre projects.  

 The local community, businesses and Council will continue to collaborate to plan, 
review, shape and deliver the Vision to usher in an exciting new chapter in the 
Maidenhead town centre’s story.  

CAMPAIGN/PROJECT OBJECTIVES

Overall campaign objective:
 Inform residents/stakeholders/community partners of the vision and the creation of 

the Town Team.  
 Direct interested parties on how to get involved in the town team creation.  

Communication objectives:  
 Produce material to ensure that all parties are aware of the vision and how it 

impacts the future growth of the town as well as the creation of the town team.  

AUDIENCES AND COMMUNICATIONS TAKEAWAYS

192



3 

Staff  “We have worked to develop a vision for Maidenhead which shapes the future of 
the town going forward.” 

Residents “A vision for Maidenhead has been created and this highlights how the town 
will grow and develop over the next 15-20 years.  

Members “We have worked with our community to understand how they want their town 
to be developed.  

KEY MESSAGES

The main key message is:  

 The community has been engaged and views taken on board to help shape the 

future of Maidenhead.  

 The council is setting up a town team to help shape and promote the work of the 

town centre as it moves through the regeneration programme. 

COMMUNICATIONS APPROACH 

Key products  

 Borough Bulletin 

 Members Update 

 Residents’ Newsletter  

 Press release 

 Social media  

 Website content update 

 Messages via Make Maidenhead.  

KEY METHODS AND TOOLS
Audience Channel/tools
Residents Press release 

Council website 
Residents’ Newsletter

Staff Borough Bulletin 

Members Members update  

Partners  Comms shared with Make Maidenhead 

193



4 

Activity planner 

Date Activity / milestone Communications Leads Completed

w/c 
31stMay 

Cabinet approve 
Maidenhead Vision 
Charter 

Press release  
Residents’ newsletter  
Social media  

Max  

w/c 7th 
June

As above  Borough Bulletin 
Members update

N/A 

w/c 14th 
June 

Appointment of the 
Maidenhead Town 
Team  

Press release  
Residents’ newsletter  
Borough Bulletin  
Members update  
Social media  

N/A 

EVALUATION

 Engagement levels on social media 

 Number of people interested in becoming a member of the Town Team  

 Continued awareness of the town team and its work in Maidenhead.  

194



Document is Restricted

195

Agenda Item 9i)
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

207

Agenda Item 9ii)
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	Insert from: "$$PDocPackPublic.version0001.pdf"
	Plan


	6 Youth Council Working Group Update
	7i) Borough Local Plan - Next Steps
	7ii) 2020/21 Draft Outturn Report - Revenue and Capital
	7iii) Maidenhead Vision Charter
	9i) Council Funding For Local Organisations 2021/22
	9ii) Provision of Legal Services

